NEURAL UNDERPINNINGS OF ANXIETY IN RELATION TO EATING BEHAVIORS IN ADOLESCENCE

by:

Meghan E. Byrne, M.S.

Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Medical and Clinical Psychology Graduate Program Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2021

Distribution Statement

Distribution A: Public Release.

The views presented here are those of the author and are not to be construed as official or reflecting the views of the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, the Department of Defense or the U.S. Government.





April 13, 2021

MEMORANDUM FOR ASSOCIATE DEAN OF GRADUATE EDUCATION

SUBJECT: Doctor of Philosophy Defense

1. Meghan Byrne, a Medical and Clinical Psychology student, has submitted the Dissertation to the Committee Members and is ready to defend. Therefore, I would like to schedule the Doctoral Defense.

2. Committee members:

Tracy Sbrocco, PhD, Department of Medical and Clinical Psychology (Committee Chair)

Marian Tanofsky-Kraff, PhD, Department of Medical and Clinical Psychology (Dissertation Advisor)

Andrew Waters, PhD, Department of Medical and Clinical Psychology

Jack Yanovski, MD, PhD, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (outside member - where, i.e., NIH, FDA. If not at USU, provide email address)

3. Date and time of Private Defense:

1, April, 2021 at 1300 via Zoom

4. Date and time of Public Defense:

29, April, 2021 at 1500 via Zoom

5. Title of Dissertation: "Neural Underpinnings of Anxiety in Relation to Eating Behaviors in Adolescence"

Marian Digitally signed by Marian Tanofsky Kraff Tanofsky Kraff Date: 2021.04.13 16:12:08 -04'00'

Printed Name and Signature Advisor



UNIFORMED SERVICES UNIVERSITY OF THE HEALTH SCIENCES

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE GRADUATE PROGRAMS Graduate Education Office (A 1045), 4301 Jones Bridge Road, Bethesda, MD 20814



April 14, 2021

MEMORANDUM FOR: DR. TRACY SBROCCO DR. MARIAN TANOFSKY-KRAFF DR. ANDREW WATERS DR. JACK YANOVSKI

SUBJECT: Appointment to the Final Doctoral Examination Committee for Meghan Byrne

In accordance with the School of Medicine Graduate Program Guidelines, you are formally appointed to the Final Examination Committee of Meghan Byrne, doctoral student in the Department of Medical and Clinical Psychology.

This Committee will evaluate the scope and quality of the student's Dissertation and certify the document's acceptability.

In addition, the Committee will conduct an Oral Examination of the student's scientific knowledge, as well as the knowledge and understanding of the research project and Dissertation. This examination constitutes the Private Defense.

The Private Defense for Meghan Byrne will take place on Thursday, April 1, 2021 at 1:00 PM via Zoom meeting.

Dr. Tracy Sbrocco is appointed Chair of the Examination Committee. Dr. Sbrocco will oversee the examination. Passage of the Private Defense will be by majority vote. If corrections to the Dissertation are needed, the Chair may oversee this process and sign-off after the corrections are made.

The Committee Chair should return the signed and dated Final Examination/Private Defense Form and the Dissertation Approval Form to the Graduate Education Office.

GEO thanks you in advance for your participation in the SOM Graduate Program process.



Saibal Dey, Ph.D. Associate Dean for Graduate Education



UNIFORMED SERVICES UNIVERSITY OF THE HEALTH SCIENCES

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE GRADUATE PROGRAMS Graduate Education Office (A 1045), 4301 Jones Bridge Road, Bethesda, MD 20814



FINAL EXAMINATION/PRIVATE DEFENSE FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN THE DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

Name of Student: Meghan Byrne

Date of Examination: April 1, 2021 Time: 1:00 PM

DECISION OF EXAMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

PASS FAIL



Dr. Tracy Sbrocco DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL & CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Committee Chairperson

Marian Tanofsky Kraff

Digitally signed by Marian Tanofsky Kraff Date: 2021.04.16 08:10:50 -04'00'

Dr. Marian Tanofsky-Kraff DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL & CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Dissertation Advisor

Andrew J. Waters Digitally signed by Andrew J. Waters Date: 2021.04.15 17:03:34 -04'00'

X

x

Х

Dr. Andrew Waters DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL & CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Committee Member

Jack A. Yanovski -S Yanovski -S Digitally signed by Jack A. Yanovski -S Date: 2021.04.15 13:05:59 -04'00'

Dr. Jack Yanovski NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD HEALTH AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT Committee Member



UNIFORMED SERVICES UNIVERSITY OF THE HEALTH SCIENCES

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE GRADUATE PROGRAMS Graduate Education Office (A 1045), 4301 Jones Bridge Road, Bethesda, MD 20814



APPROVAL OF THE DOCTORAL DISSERTATION IN THE DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY

- "Neural Underpinnings of Anxiety in Relation to Eating Behaviors in Title of Dissertation: Adolescence"
- Name of Candidate: Meghan Byrne Doctor of Philosophy Degree April 1, 2021

DISSERTATION AND ABSTRACT APPROVED:

DATE:



15 April 2021

Dr. Tracy Sbrocco DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL & CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Committee Chairperson

Digitally signed by Marian Marian Tanofsky Kraff Tanofsky Kraff Date: 2021.07.02 16:25:57 -04'00'

Dr. Marian Tanofsky-Kraff DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL & CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Dissertation Advisor

Digitally signed by Andrew J. Andrew J. Waters Date: 2021.04.15 17:02:59 -04'00'

Dr. Andrew Waters DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL & CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY Committee Member

Jack A. Yanovski - S Date: 2021.04.15

Digitally signed by Jack A. Yanovski -S 13:05:18 -04'00'

4|15|2021

Dr. Jack Yanovski NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF CHILD HEALTH AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT **Committee Member**

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to wholeheartedly thank my advisor, Dr. Marian Tanofsky-Kraff. Her warm guidance, brilliance, and tenacity over the past five years have pushed me farther in my accomplishments than I ever imagined possible. Not only has her mentorship afforded me opportunities I could have never dreamed of, but she has also proven to be a lifelong role model from whom I will continually learn and grow. I will always be incredibly grateful for knowing her, being taken under her wing, and being guided by her. I look forward to many years of traversing alongside Marian and basking in her glow. I would also like to thank Dr. Jack Yanovski for generously affording me such unparalleled and thrilling research opportunities at the National Institutes of Health. I am exceedingly thankful to have simply been in proximity to his wisdom and to have absorbed so much knowledge from his exceptional direction. I will forever be a more capable scientist because of working with him. Additionally, my graduate school experience would not have been quite the same without the tremendous support of my wonderful fellow lab mates at USU. I would like to thank them for their generosity of time, collaborative and inviting nature, and for sharing their brilliant insights. Outside the walls of my academic experience, I of course want to thank my family for their loyalty and unwavering love throughout my long academic journey. They have watched me grow from someone full of self-doubt into a woman who seeks out challenges and pursues her passions fearlessly. I never take for granted the ideals they have instilled in me. In thinking of my family, I especially want to acknowledge all the strong and resilient generations of women who have come before me, whose sacrifices made it possible for me to tread this exciting path. Lastly and especially, to my fiancé, Kareem, thank you for always being my rock. Whether or not you anticipated the many long nights of studying, writing, presentation preparations, vacillating emotions, and cross-country moves when you first encouraged me to consider graduate school, you have graciously and effortlessly shouldered me through this entire journey. From day one, you have emboldened me when I had doubts, cheered my successes, and have unshakingly believed in my abilities even when I didn't believe in myself. It has not always been an easy path, but your radiating positivity, strength, and unmatched perspective has energized me to consistently look forward. You make me better every day.

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The author hereby certifies that the use of any copyrighted material in the dissertation entitled:

"Neural Underpinnings of Anxiety in Relation to Eating Behaviors in Adolescence"

is appropriately acknowledged and, beyond brief excerpts, is with the permission of the copyright owner.



Meghan E. Byrne MEDICAL AND CLINICAL PSYCHOLOGY DEPARTMENT Uniformed Services University 6/30/21

Publication Clearance Process: Dissertations

All publications, including theses and dissertations, must be cleared by the Office of External Affairs before submission or release. Standard USU disclaimers below must be included with every dissertation, and are now automatically included in the GEO dissertation template. If any of the additional disclaimers apply to you, please include those in manuscripts/talks and on the "Disclaimers" page of the dissertation template.

Disclaimers required for EVERY publication/presentation/thesis clearance:

"The opinions and assertions expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not reflect the official policy or position of the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences or the Department of Defense."

"References to non-Federal entities or products do not constitute or imply a Department of Defense or Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences endorsement."

NOTE: Contractors must follow their employer's guidance on adding additional disclaimers, but under no circumstance should a contractor disclaimer be melded into a USU disclaimer. If you are a HJF contractor, please include the following text on the "Disclaimers" page, separated by 2 line breaks from the USU disclaimers:

"The opinions and assertions expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not reflect the official policy or position of the Henry M. Jackson Foundation for the Advancement of Military Medicine, Inc."

Additional disclaimers required if applicable to any publication/presentation by a military or civilian Federal employee, and may be warranted by a contractor:

For Conflicts of Interest - use the disclaimer below OR list relevant COIs here.

"Neither I nor my family members have a financial interest in any commercial product, service, or organization providing financial support for this research."

If you performed research involving animals or human subjects (requiring IACUC or IRB approval:

"This research protocol was reviewed and approved by the **[insert entity name] [insert either institutional review board (IRB) or institutional animal care and use committee (IACUC)]** in accordance with all applicable Federal regulations governing the protection of animals in research."

Note: if any of your research involved foreign collaborators or sites, please check with your PI to ensure Form 1325B (Proposal for USU International Research Collaboration or Education Program) was completed.

Meghan Byrne;

Printed Name and Signature

ABSTRACT

Title of Dissertation: Neural Underpinnings of Anxiety in Relation to Eating Behaviors in Adolescence

Meghan E. Byrne, M.S.

Thesis directed by: Marian Tanofsky-Kraff, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Medical and Clinical Psychology

Loss of control (LOC) eating, a hallmark feature of binge eating disorder, involves the subjective experience of being unable to control what or how much is being consumed. LOC eating in youth is highly comorbid with anxiety, suggesting shared neural underpinnings and/or etiologies. Data suggest youth with LOC eating may have an attention bias to socially threatening stimuli. Heightened sensitivity to incoming social cues and abnormalities in anxiety processing socio-emotional neural circuits may partially account for this relationship. The interpersonal model of disordered eating may help to explain this pattern of attention bias; however, the interpersonal model has not been directly tested making use of a task to assess attention bias to social threat cues among youth with LOC eating. Utilizing magnetoencephalography (MEG) can help to elucidate the neural bases of attention bias toward threat that may contribute to LOC eating. The current study examined the relationship between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activation implicated in social anxiety and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal in youth with overweight, with and without LOC eating. All participants (N = 55; $M_{age} = 15.2 \pm 1.7$ y; BMI- $z = 1.8 \pm 0.4$; 29% with LOC eating) were female, between the ages of 12-17 years, and had overweight or obesity (BMI $\geq 85^{\text{th}}$ percentile). Results were largely null, with a few notable findings that should be interpreted with

v

caution. There was a significant relationship for % energy consumed from protein, such that greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment was associated with lower % energy consumed from protein (p = .01). Further, there was a marginally significant relationship for % energy consumed from carbohydrates, such that greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment was associated with greater % energy consumed from carbohydrates (p = .03). These findings suggest that a potential mechanism for maladaptive eating patterns may be heightened activation in anxiety processing regions due to sustained attentional deployment toward social threat. A better understanding of the neural underpinnings involved in the links between LOC eating and anxiety may aid in the development of novel targets for reducing excess intake that leads to exacerbated disordered eating and adult obesity.

List of Figuresxi
List of Tables xii
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Overweight and Obesity
Adult Overweight/Obesity3
Pediatric Overweight/Obesity4
Obesity Intervention and Treatment5
Binge Eating Disorder
Pediatric Loss of Control Eating7
Overview of LOC Eating7
Physiological Bases of Appetite and LOC Eating12
Correlates and Outcomes of LOC Eating16
Interpersonal Theory of Loss of Control Eating
Psychosocial Stress and LOC Eating
Psychosocial Stress in Adolescence
Anxiety and LOC Eating
Current Research Gaps
Study Model
The Present Study
Study Objective

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Aims and Hypotheses	31
Aim 1	31
Aim 2	32
Aim 3	32
Chapter 2: Methods	35
Research Design	
Participants and Recruitment	35
Participant Eligibility	35
Recruitment	
Participant Compensation	
Study Procedures	
Screening Visit	
Laboratory Visit: MEG Scan Social Threat Task and Test Meal	
Measures and Materials	43
Measures	43
Materials	44
Human Subjects Protections	45
Data Analytic Approach	46
Data Management	46
Aim 1	48
Aim 2	49
Aim 3	

Power Analysis
Chapter 3: Results
Participant Characteristics
Missing Data
Results of Aim 159
Results of Aim 261
Results of Aim 364
Exploratory Aim 468
Exploratory Aim 5
Chapter 4: Discussion70
Aim 1: Attention Bias To Social Threat And Neural Activity Among Youth With And
Without LOC Eating
Dot-Probe Reliability74
Aim 2: Attention Bias To Social Threat, Neural Activity, And Energy Intake77
Aim 3: LOC Eating Moderation Of Attention Bias To Social Threat, Neural Activity, And
Energy Intake
Exploratory Aim 4: State Anxiety Mediation Of Neural Activity And Energy Intake87
Study Strengths
Study Limitations90
Clinical Implications91
Future Directions

Conclusion	
Appendix 1: Eating Disorder Examination (EDE)	133
Appendix 2: Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophren	ia for School-Aged
Children (KSADS)	134
Appendix 3: Hunger and Fullness Rating Scales	135
References	142

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Interpersonal Model of LOC Eating.	99
Figure 2: Model of Neural Underpinnings of Social Anxiety and LOC Eating1	00
Figure 3. Social Threat Visual Dot Probe Task1	01
Figure 4. Laboratory Buffet Lunch Test Meal1	02
Figure 5: Timeline of Study Procedures1	03
Figure 6. Aim 1a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and Neural	
Activation1	04
Figure 7. Aim 1b Analysis of Covariance for Loss-of-Control Eating Presence and Attentional	
Bias1	06
Figure 8. Aim 2a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and Test Mea	ıl
Intake1	07
Figure 9. Aim 2b Linear Regression Analyses for Neural Activity and Test Meal Intake1	08

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Binge-Eating Disorder DSM-5 Criteria 116
Table 2: Eligibility Criteria 117
Table 3. Contents Included in Laboratory Buffet Lunch Test Meal
Table 4. Participant Characteristics 119
Table 5. Participant Characteristics with Usable MEG Data 120
Table 6. Summary of Aim 1a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and
Neural Activation
Table 7. Summary of Aim 1b Analysis of Covariance for Loss-of-Control Eating Presence and
Attentional Bias
Table 8. Summary of Aim 2a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and
Test Meal Intake
Table 9. Summary of Aim 2b Linear Regression Analyses for Neural Activity and Test Meal
Intake
Table 10. Summary of Aim 3a General Linear Model Analysis for Interaction between Loss-of-
Control Eating and Attention Bias to Social Threat on Energy Intake128
Table 11. Summary of Aim 3b General Linear Model Analysis for Interaction between Loss-of-
Control Eating and Neural Activity on Energy Intake130
Table 12. Summary of Exploratory Aim 4 Mediation Analyses for the Mediating Role of State
Anxiety between Neural Activity and Total Energy Intake

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Loss of control (LOC) eating, a key feature of binge eating disorder (BED), is commonly reported by youth with higher weight (261) and adolescent girls of all weight strata (2). Data indicate that LOC eating in childhood may be a prospective marker for adverse outcomes. Of concern, LOC eating is a precursor to partial- or full-syndrome BED as well as increases in depressive and anxiety symptoms, higher risk for excess weight and fat gain, and worsening of metabolic syndrome components (118; 254). LOC eating in youth is highly comorbid with anxiety (104; 173; 223; 254), and is predictive of increases in anxiety symptoms over time (118; 254), potentially suggesting shared neural underpinnings and/or etiologies. Indeed, neuroimaging data shows that girls with overweight or obesity who reported LOC eating demonstrated a neural response to social distress similar to the response of youth with anxiety (125). These data suggest youth with LOC eating may have an attention bias (preferential allocation of attention to highly salient stimuli) to socially threatening stimuli. This attention bias may be explained by the interpersonal model of disordered eating. According to interpersonal theory (Figure 1), LOC eating may develop as a result of maladaptive coping with negative affective states, such as anxiety, that arise from socially distressing situations (30; 164; 244; 290). Food consumption is triggered as an attempt to cope with the uncomfortable affective state. This maladaptive strategy may be due, in part, to heightened sensitivity to incoming social cues and abnormalities in anxiety processing socio-emotional neural circuits (125; 190). Notably, there are data to suggest that anxiety, specifically, plays a role in the relationship between social cues and consumption of overeating highly palatable foods in youth with reported LOC eating (125; 218; 256). This further bolsters the notion that the interpersonal model may help to elucidate a mechanism for LOC eating in some youth. However, the interpersonal model has not been directly tested making use of a task to assess attention bias to social threat cues among youth with LOC eating.

Further, there are no data to indicate whether LOC eating impacts the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural aspects of anxiety processing and subsequent eating behaviors. The temporal nature of attention bias to social threat and activity in neural circuits involved in anxiety processing is ideally suited for measurement by magnetoencephalography (MEG), which has both excellent temporal and acceptable spatial resolution (66; 67; 111). Thus, utilizing MEG may elucidate the neural bases of attention bias toward threat that may contribute to LOC eating. The current study examined the relationships between attention bias to social threat cues, neural activation implicated in social anxiety, and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal in youth with overweight, with and without LOC eating. A better understanding of the neural underpinnings involved in the links between LOC eating and anxiety may aid in the development of targets for reducing excess intake that leads to exacerbated disordered eating and adult obesity.

At the outset of this dissertation, a broad overview of the literature on primarily pediatric obesity and BED will lay the foundation for the importance of research in this area. Given youth are less likely to experience full-syndrome BED, LOC eating will be defined and delineated in relation to its physiological and psychosocial contributors and consequences. Included within the discussion of physiological factors related to LOC eating will be a description of the physiological bases of appetite. Chronic stress in youth and the physiological influence of psychosocial stress on appetite and eating will be described, in addition to the underlying neurobiology of these relationships. Subsequently, a review of the research on anxiety, and its close links to LOC eating, as a driver of excess consumption will follow. Interpersonal theory will be outlined to describe the relationships among these variables. The review of the literature and the theoretical basis of the interpersonal model will lay the framework for the current study,

which aims to integrate prior research in the field and fill the gaps in the literature on underlying neurobiology of LOC eating and anxiety in youth. Lastly, aims and hypotheses will be delineated, methods to test specified aims will be outlined, and results will be discussed.

OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY

Adult Overweight/Obesity

The prevalence of overweight (body mass index, BMI, \geq 85th percentile for age and sex) in the United States has more than tripled in the past four decades (89; 179). Further, when considering rates of overweight (BMI $\ge 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$) in adults, well over half of the population meets classification, with recent prevalence of adult overweight estimated at 68% (89; 179). Current estimates indicate that 35% of men and 40% of women in the U.S. have obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²). Class 3 obesity, defined as BMI \ge 40 kg/m², is estimated to be present in almost 6% of men and 10% of women in the U.S. Overweight and obesity are associated with a range of adverse medical comorbidities (97). Among adults, obesity is associated with a number of medical comorbidities including type 2 diabetes mellitus, coronary heart disease, gall bladder disease, an increased incidence of certain forms of cancer, respiratory complications such as obstructive sleep apnea, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, depression, and osteoarthritis (145; 183), as well as all-cause mortality (21; 88). Common psychological comorbidities of overweight and obesity include internalizing disorders such as depression and anxiety (33; 38; 207). The economic consequences of obesity are concerning as well; conservative estimates of weightrelated disease costs and health care expenditures in the United States are roughly \$78.5 billion each year (87; 271).

Pediatric Overweight/Obesity

Prevalence of Pediatric Obesity

The current prevalence of pediatric obesity is at a peak level in U.S. history.

Approximately one-third of U.S. children between the ages of 2-19 years old are overweight, and 17% are classified as having obesity, while rates of extreme obesity are roughly 6% in youth (95; 149; 177; 179). For children and adolescents, overweight is defined as at or above the 85th percentile and obesity is defined as at or above the 95th percentile, adjusted for age and sex (149; 177; 178). Given the shift of those on the highest end of the obesity spectrum, most recently, an additional "extreme" or "severe" obesity category has been described as BMI \geq 120% of the 95th percentile for age and sex (72; 92-94). Pediatric overweight is highly problematic given children and adolescents with higher weight are more likely to develop into adults with obesity (227).

Course of Pediatric Obesity

Pediatric obesity is highly persistent and tends to track into adulthood (15; 226; 227; 288). Weight trajectories have been studied in pediatric samples from infancy to adulthood. Increased risk for obesity can start as early as infancy, with the most rapid period of incremental weight gain occurring roughly between the ages of 2 and 6 years old (99). Although the majority of infants with obesity revert to overweight or non-overweight in childhood, a large proportion of infants with excess weight tend to remain so into childhood (293), which in turn, tends to continue to obesity in adolescence (99; 157). Once in childhood, only one-third of young children with obesity will experience persistent remission when followed from kindergarten through eighth grade (157). Generally, about 55% of children with obesity and 80% of adolescents with obesity maintain their weight status into adulthood (226), underscoring adolescence as a particularly vulnerable time for intervention and prevention of excess weight

gain. Additionally, while there is considerable genetic and familial impact on pediatric obesity (76; 167; 215; 281), the natural course of adiposity gain suggests psychological and behavioral influences during development may play equally as important of a role in the progression of obesity.

Correlates and Outcomes of Pediatric Obesity

Pediatric overweight is related to serious medical risks such as elevated blood pressure and dyslipidemia (74), as well as certain types of cancer later in life, including breast, colon, kidney, and esophageal cancer (123). Obesity is considered a primary contributor to metabolic syndrome (MetS), defined as a cluster of adverse physiological health abnormalities including abdominal obesity as well as abnormal cholesterol, blood sugar, and triglyceride concentrations that increase one's risk for heart disease and type 2 diabetes (296). Given the serious medical consequences associated with obesity, development of obesity during childhood and adolescence is considered a major public health concern. Additionally, pediatric obesity generates considerable financial burden in both direct healthcare and indirect productivity costs across the lifetime (110), making it a significant economic concern as well. As such, a focus on intervention and prevention efforts for pediatric obesity are critical in order to minimize adverse medical and economic consequences.

Obesity Intervention and Treatment

Results of several recent meta-analyses suggest that interventions designed to reduce or prevent obesity are generally statistically efficacious as compared to outcomes from control groups, but usually do not induce clinically-relevant reductions in body weight expected to impact on comorbid conditions or long-term outcomes (144; 272). Currently, the recommended approach to pediatric obesity is behavioral weight loss or maintenance treatment. Response rate

for treatment of childhood obesity is variable, and there may be individual differences in youths' responsiveness to behavioral modification therapy. Some studies have shown that younger children tend to respond better than adolescents to behavioral treatments (143), identifying adolescents as a group in need of further and more specified intervention research. Further, efficacy of behavioral weight loss or maintenance treatments are seen regardless of treatment dose, intensity, or duration of treatment (117; 272), meaning there is insufficient research to provide specific recommendations for development of future interventions. Individual differences may explain the mixed findings regarding efficacy of behavioral weight loss treatment effects in both adulthood and childhood are often transient and are eventually followed by weight regain (294), obesity prevention among youth has become a vital target of researchers (193).

BINGE EATING DISORDER

A well-researched, modifiable contributor to obesity is binge eating, defined as the consumption of a large amount of food accompanied by a perceived inability to stop eating that causes distress. According the current Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5), binge eating disorder (BED) is characterized by the consumption of a large amount of food and the experience of loss of control (LOC) over eating (7). Full-syndrome BED is characterized by recurrent, objectively large binge episodes, the absence of regular compensatory behaviors, and significant distress surrounding binge episodes (7). DSM-5 criteria for BED are listed in Table 1. Personal and familial history of obesity is a prominent risk factor for binge-type eating disorders (137), and twin studies reveal that additive genetic factors account for approximately 40% to 60% of liability for BED (270). The transition from late

adolescence to early young adulthood may be a time of particularly increased risk for disordered eating, given binge eating and BED symptoms tend to persist or worsen during this time (107).

PEDIATRIC LOSS OF CONTROL EATING

Overview of LOC Eating

Background and Definition of LOC Eating

Full-syndrome diagnosis of BED (see Table 1) is uncommon in childhood (251; 261). Several criteria of DSM-5 BED likely contribute to the decreased likelihood of diagnosis in childhood. First, while binge eating involves consuming an objectively large amount of food, it can be difficult to determine what constitutes a large amount among growing boys and girls at different developmental stages (159; 224). Additionally, younger children tend to have less autonomy over food decisions compared to older adolescents or adults, and as such may not have access to objectively large amounts of food. Although children are less likely to meet criteria for a diagnosis of BED, many youths report they experience a subjective sense of loss of control over eating without necessarily consuming an objectively large amount of food. As a result, this has prompted most researchers studying children and adolescents to examine LOC eating as opposed to, or in addition to, binge eating episodes. Thus, LOC eating, regardless of the amount of food consumed, is typically a key target when studying pediatric samples. Defined empirically, LOC over eating involves the subjective experience of being unable to control what or how much is being eaten (263; 292), and is a key feature of BED (7).

Prevalence of LOC Eating

LOC eating is highly prevalent in children and adolescents (116; 251), particularly in those with overweight or obesity. A meta-analysis estimated that across studies, approximately 31% of youth with overweight or obesity report LOC eating (116). Roughly 23% of youth of

across weight strata report LOC eating in the past month, with almost 10% reporting recurrent episodes (211). Adolescence, in particular, is a critical stage of development (54; 284) during which LOC eating patterns and related psychological and medical problems are exacerbated. Prevalence of disordered eating increases substantially in adolescence (63; 141), and the likelihood of engaging in LOC eating increases with stage of pubertal development and age for girls (73). Greater severity and prevalence of LOC eating is observed among girls, with prevalence rates of LOC eating typically twice as high in adolescent girls compared to their male peers (2; 263). Girls with LOC eating exhibit differences in impairment of psychological (269) and social functioning (199) compared to boys with LOC or girls without LOC eating.

The criteria used to estimate prevalence of LOC eating are inconsistent across studies. For example, some studies classify LOC eating in youth as "at least one episode of LOC eating in the past month," (211; 254) while others use "one episode in the past three months," (100; 106) "one episode in the past year," (229; 230) or "ever reported LOC eating" (249). As a result, the reported estimates of LOC eating, particularly among youth, may not be precise. However, data indicate that youth who report ever experiencing LOC eating appear to be distinguishable from those who have never experienced LOC, with these youth displaying higher levels of anxiety and eating disorder cognitions (100). Thus, it is likely that *any* reported LOC eating may represent a meaningful marker in distinguishing vulnerable youth, despite the categorical criteria.

Course of LOC Eating

LOC eating can manifest early in life (44), typically emerging during adolescence (247), but can be reported as early as middle childhood (249; 261). By contrast, full-syndrome BED does not typically manifest until later adolescence or adulthood, with a peak age of onset occurring between 18-20 years old (235). LOC eating can exhibit a variable course; while some

research has shown persistence prospectively (185), other studies suggest that LOC eating generally tends to remit in about 50% of youth over time, even in the absence of intervention (107; 118; 254). Regardless, it appears that at least half of youth who report LOC eating will persist, identifying LOC as a key risk factor for development of partial or full-syndrome BED (118; 254). The early onset and persistent course of LOC eating in some youth suggest it may be a particularly salient target for early intervention in vulnerable youth (44).

Assessment of LOC Eating

Several methods are commonly used to assess LOC eating. Most studies have utilized singleitem surveys, self-report questionnaires, parent reports of their child's eating behaviors, or clinical interview methodology. While questionnaire methods have the advantage of convenience and ease of administration, responses typically vary based on the method used and the respondent. For example, parent reports of LOC eating behaviors have poor concordance with information gathered from child interviews in identifying presence of LOC episodes or objective overeating (262). Similarly, child self-reports of LOC eating are inconsistent with parent reports (234) and even child interview methods (70; 85; 253). These inconsistencies in assessment methods likely contribute to the discrepancies in prevalence rates, correlates, and outcomes of LOC eating among youth.

Clinical interview methods are typically considered a more optimal method of assessment of LOC eating, as opposed to child self-report or parent-report. The interactive nature of interviewbased assessment methods allows for questions to be explained so they are understood by each individual. Age-related developmental differences can be addressed on an individual level as well. In the case that a concept such as LOC eating is not well understood by a child, specific examples can be provided until understanding is achieved (261). Of the available interviews, the

Eating Disorder Examination (EDE) (81), has been used most frequently and has been adapted specifically for youth prone to obesity and who may report LOC (249; 250). The EDE captures the frequency of LOC eating episodes in the past 28 days. A drawback of the EDE and other interview methods is that they require time-intensive training and ongoing supervision.

As LOC eating episodes are typically characterized by the consumption of snacks and desserts high in sugar and fat (252; 267), an alternate method used to assess pediatric LOC eating is through direct examination of energy intake at a laboratory test meal. This method typically consists of a calorically standardized buffet-style meal, which includes a broad variety of foods that range in macronutrient composition and are commonly consumed by youth. Participants are given instructions prior to the meal such as "Let yourself go and eat and much as you want." (252). Several studies have used this assessment method effectively. Laboratory studies using a test meal have effectively demonstrated differences between youth with LOC eating and those without in terms of amount (120; 168), macronutrient composition (120; 252), and type of energy consumed (252). In these studies, LOC eating was typically either categorically predetermined by self-report questionnaires (168), semi-structured interview (252), or self-rated immediately after the experimental test meal (120). This method of assessing pediatric LOC eating allows for more specific behavioral observations and is not reliant on errors in memory recall, difficulty describing, or lack of awareness of eating patterns.

In addition to the laboratory test meal paradigm, there are several other commonly utilized methodologies to capture LOC eating among youth. Most studies have utilized single-item surveys, self-report questionnaires, parent reports of their child's eating behaviors, or clinical interview methodology. While questionnaire methods have the advantage of convenience and ease of administration, responses typically vary based on the method used and the respondent.

For example, parent reports of LOC eating behaviors, which are typically identical to child version except the questions are referenced to the child, have poor concordance with information gathered from child interviews in identifying presence of LOC episodes or objective overeating (262). While parent and self-report questionnaires may be useful as screening tools, a clinical interview is likely necessary to identify LOC and eating disorders in children (70). The interactive nature of interview-based assessment methods allows for questions to be explained so they are understood by each individual. The Eating Disorder Examination (EDE) (81) has been used most frequently and has been adapted specifically for youth prone to obesity and who may report LOC eating (249; 250). However, the convenience of the EDE is limited in that it requires training and is more time consuming to administer than self-report questionnaires. Finally, to assess LOC eating in the natural environment and on a momentary level, ecological momentary assessment (EMA) is an ideal methodology. In EMA protocols, participants are given an electronic device, such as a smartphone, on which they complete recordings or brief selfassessments, reporting on level of control over eating, throughout the day for a given time period (e.g. a two-week protocol). The EMA device may include randomly distributed signals to prompt recording or assessment completion or allow for self-initiated assessments to ensure a comprehensive sampling of the LOC eating behavior. Limited studies have made use of EMA methodology to assess pediatric LOC eating. Therefore, more data are required to determine the suitability of EMA for effective capturing LOC eating behaviors, correlates, and outcomes. Studies that have used this method with youth have had compliance rates around 70% (105; 119; 200), which is approximately 20% lower than EMA studies of adults with binge eating (233) and may reflect a limitation of this method with youth given their lack of control over schedules. For example, school hours and restrictions may prohibit youth from having the EMA device with

them during the day. Indeed, youth showed better compliance with event-contingent recordings during the summer, holidays, and weekends (200). Although EMA is an ideal method for momentary assessment of eating in the natural environment, the various limitations to compliance among youth may pose barriers to effective use of this method with adolescents. Given the various strengths and limitations of methods, when possible, multiple assessment methods and respondents, including child and parent report, interview, test meals, and EMA should be used to evaluate the presence or absence of LOC eating in youth (44).

Physiological Bases of Appetite and LOC Eating

Relationships between LOC eating and markers of obesity-related health issues indicate youth with LOC eating may be at particular risk for adverse physiological outcomes. Given the link between LOC eating and excess body weight, data on the physiological correlates of LOC have typically focused on appetitive hormones and metabolic functioning.

Role of the Endocrine System

Endocrine System and Appetite

The endocrine system, working in conjunction with the central nervous system, helps to regulate vital activities such as metabolism, homeostasis, growth, development, and tissue function. The endocrine system consists of clusters of cells that secrete hormones into the bloodstream to target tissues throughout the body based on the distribution of each hormone's receptors. Appetite is influenced by several biological systems within the body, primarily as a result of communication between the endocrine and central nervous systems. Appetitive hormones responsible for hunger and feeding include, among the many implicated in meal regulation (266), ghrelin, which is released by the stomach and intestines and may have a role in initiating eating; leptin, a peptide hormone released from fat cells that signals overall adipocyte

triglyceride accumulation as well as acute challenges to adipose tissue accumulation (such as fasting) to the brain; and cholecystokinin, which reduces feeding following intake of fat into the duodenum (3; 53). Low levels of amino and fatty acids and blood glucose can stimulate hunger due to the body's desire to regulate concentrations of blood metabolites (53; 266).

Endocrine System and LOC Eating

Several appetitive hormones have been studied directly in relation to LOC eating in youth. Pediatric LOC eating is associated with higher fasting serum leptin (45; 166), an adiposetissue derived hormone that promotes hunger, food intake, and body weight regulation (3), above and beyond the contribution of adiposity. Insulin, an appetitive hormone that serves as an "adiposity signal" and links feeding behavior with the size of adipose stores (191), has been associated with LOC eating cross-sectionally in youth across the weight strata (46). Though the direction of the causal arrow is unclear, these relationships may signify that LOC eating is linked to worsened leptin or insulin resistance, which can promote further hunger, food intake, weight gain, and worsened metabolic characteristics (130; 142). Given youth reporting LOC eating experience dysregulation in appetitive hormones, targeting LOC eating may serve as an important potential point of early intervention in youth.

Hormones may also influence the development of LOC eating in children and adolescents prospectively. Estradiol, a hormone involved in the expression of genes linked to negative valence system functioning, has been shown to mediate the relationship between genetic risk and binge eating behaviors (140; 274). Androgens may also be potential moderators for the development of binge eating behaviors. Females with an opposite-sex twin have decreased risk for disordered eating in late puberty compared to females with a same-sex twin (62), which

suggests prenatal exposure to testosterone may minimize risk for development of binge eating during puberty.

Role of the Central Nervous System

Central Nervous System and Appetite

In conjunction with the endocrine system, appetite is primarily controlled by the central nervous system. Underlying neural factors may put youth at higher risk for dysregulation in appetite and, subsequently, development of pediatric obesity. The hypothalamus, in particular, regulates hunger and satiety. Within the hypothalamus, damage to, or suppression of the ventromedial nucleus, which provide a sense of satiety, triggers insatiable eating and can contribute to obesity (3; 52). Additionally, the lateral hypothalamus, the paraventricular, dorsomedial, and arcuate nuclei of the hypothalamus, the amygdala, hindbrain, and prefrontal cortex are all implicated in appetitive and feeding behaviors. When food is ingested, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) is released from gastrointestinal (GI) cells as well as hindbrain neurons, namely the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS), which contributes to the control of food intake (122). Neural impulses facilitate communication between the brain and the gastrointestinal tract in order to signal to the brain whether there is enough food in the stomach, and whether the blood has sufficient amounts of circulating glucose, amino acids, fatty acids, and appetite hormones (3; 52; 266).

Upon exposure to palatable food cues, dopaminergic reward systems in the brain show high levels of activation, which can trigger sudden, strong food cravings (19; 91). Following palatable food cue exposure, hyperactivation in the dorsal striatum may be uniquely associated with increases in food craving (186). Associative learning processes are partially responsible for the relationship between palatable food-related cues and increased craving (86; 91). When food

cues have a heightened incentive value, such as when they are highly palatable or particularly rewarding foods, attention is captured more readily due to a sensitized dopaminergic reward system (50; 155; 175; 286). Various brain regions central to food cue processing and reward value encoding overlap with areas that are implicated in attention circuitry, including the insula, medial prefrontal cortex, orbitofrontal cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex (98; 208; 237; 238; 240). These overlapping regions may account for the relationship between heightened food cue incentive salience and automatic attentional biases to palatable food cues.

Central Nervous System and LOC Eating

Among individuals with overweight and obesity, and particularly among those with LOC eating, there may be unique underlying neural differences influencing appetite and overeating. Neural projections from the nucleus accumbens to the hypothalamus and ventral pallidum, brain areas central to food reward and regulation of food intake, are likely involved in the increases in the reinforcing value of palatable foods and aberrant eating seen among individuals with overweight (19). Regions implicated in hedonically motivated behavior and dopaminergic functioning are more responsive to palatable, high-sugar foods in adolescents of parents with greater weight status compared to adolescents at lower risk for development of obesity (221). These findings further support evidence for underlying heritable obesity risk factors that contribute to overeating in adolescents.

LOC eating has been proposed in addiction theoretical models to occur as a result of anticipated food reward in an attempt to alleviate cravings (91). Compared to those without LOC eating, children with LOC eating exhibit increased neural activation in the cerebellum, which is involved in satiety signaling, in response to highly palatable food cues (79). A recent pilot study found group differences in neural activity among youth with overweight and LOC eating

compared to controls, showing increased neural activation in areas implicated in attentional processes, inhibitory control, emotion regulation, and response inhibition (102). These preliminary findings suggest youth with LOC eating and overweight may need to expend greater cognitive effort relative to their peers in order to regulate energy consumption (102), potentially identifying a high-risk phenotype for aberrant eating behaviors. Taken together, the central nervous system plays a substantial role in the manifestation of LOC eating behaviors.

Correlates and Outcomes of LOC Eating

Physiological Correlates and Outcomes of LOC Eating

Overweight/ Obesity

Physiologically, LOC eating is strongly associated with overweight and obesity, as well as greater adiposity (41; 207; 261) in youth. Youth who engage in LOC eating behaviors are uniquely at risk for subsequent excess weight gain and obesity across studies (230), particularly in conjunction with emotional eating behaviors (242). Prospectively, LOC eating has been associated with excessive weight gain (83; 230; 260) and greater risk for gains in adiposity (248), as well as a higher medical risk including worsening metabolic dysfunction (255). As such, LOC eating is a well-documented risk factor for excess weight and adiposity gain and development of overweight or obesity.

Metabolic Syndrome

In addition to risk for overweight and obesity, LOC eating is associated with obesityrelated markers of health, such as components of the metabolic syndrome (MetS) (198), and is predictive of adverse metabolic outcomes (255). More specifically, youth reporting LOC eating episodes show greater dysfunction in components of metabolic syndrome, such as higher systolic blood pressure, high low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) (198), higher fasting insulin,

and greater insulin resistance (46), even after adjusting for adiposity. Thus, pediatric LOC eating not only puts youth at higher risk for development of obesity, but increases risk for comorbid obesity-related health problems as well. Data suggest dietary intake and macronutrient consumption may be partially responsible for the association between LOC eating and metabolic dysfunction. Youth with LOC eating typically consume a greater amount of carbohydrates, including snack and dessert-type foods (252; 267), which could potentially contribute to worsened MetS-related measures (198; 255).

Psychological and Behavioral Correlates and Outcomes of LOC Eating

LOC eating has been thoroughly studied in relation to psychological and behavioral correlates and outcomes, including eating-disordered cognitions (254), and symptoms of depression and anxiety (118; 254). Prospectively, LOC eating may predict the onset of anxiety disorders, depression, and more severe eating psychopathology later in life. LOC eating is a known predictor of partial- or full-syndrome BED as well as worsening of eating disorder psychopathology (118; 254). Several notable areas of research studied in relation to risk for worsening psychopathology among those with LOC eating are negative affect, cognitive dysfunction, and social concerns.

Affective Factors

Emotion dysregulation has been found to be independently associated with eating pathology (39; 150). According to a recent meta-analysis, emotion regulation plays a key role across the eating pathology spectrum (194). In particular, however, emotion dysregulation may be especially important in the consideration of eating disorders involving binge eating behaviors. Compared to restrictive-type eating disorders, binge-type eating disorders are associated with greater difficulties in emotion regulation dimensions, including impulsivity and goal-directed

behavior in adolescence (283). Youth with LOC eating tend to have maladaptive emotion regulation strategies compared to their counterparts without LOC eating (133). Data support emotion dysregulation as a moderator between LOC eating and weight-related variables (133), such that only among youth who reported LOC eating, fat mass and BMIz are positively associated with emotion dysregulation.

In line with affect dysregulation, negative affect may play a critical role in the risk for LOC eating among youth. One laboratory study among youth at high risk for obesity and with reported LOC eating found that premeal state negative affect was related to increased intake of energy-dense foods, including greater consumption of carbohydrates, dessert, and snack-type foods (201). Further, various negative mood states were examined among girls in relation to eating patterns utilizing a laboratory test meal paradigm. Results found that only state anxiety, but no other mood state including depression, anger, fatigue, or confusion, mediated the relationship between recent social stress and energy intake during a laboratory test meal (218). Additionally, a study utilizing ecological momentary assessment found that interpersonal stressors predicted increases in negative affect and even more importantly the occurrence of momentary LOC eating episodes (200). Similarly, in response to negative affect associated specifically with social distress, another study showed that girls with LOC eating and overweight or obesity failed to engage prefrontal cortex regions implicated in emotion regulation, and subsequently engaged in increased food intake (125). Two other small neuroimaging studies found that state negative affect was associated with increased orbitofrontal cortex and reward system activation upon exposure to palatable, energy-dense food cues (27; 138), particularly among those reporting disinhibited eating (27). Taken together, these findings further support the notion that LOC eating may be a response to negative affective states.
Cognitive Factors

Cognitive factors may also play a role in development of LOC eating in youth. One such cognitive factor is attentional bias to food cues, or a biased cognitive processing of food-related stimuli. Facets of attention and reward intersect, in that individuals tend to allocate more attention to stimuli that are more rewarding and salient. An underlying theoretical mechanism for attentional bias to food cues is described by incentive-sensitization theory, which posits that repeated exposure to a rewarding stimulus produces an exacerbated reward response in vulnerable individuals, resulting in increased salience and strong motivational properties for the stimulus (206). Attentional bias to palatable food cues has been proposed to promote or maintain obesity through increased exposure to food cues in the current obesogenic environment, and thus, increased vulnerability to rewarding cues that motivate eating (50; 175; 176). Over time, reward value from *consuming* palatable food (i.e. consummatory reward) decreases, while reward value derived from *cues* associated with consumption (i.e. anticipatory reward) increases, potentially exacerbating overeating episodes in vulnerable individuals (24; 239). Prior research has supported this seeming paradox, finding that individuals who engage in binge eating show decreased activation in areas implicated in reward-based learning and taste processing when given food (26; 34). This reduced activation of reward in response to consumption of food may underlie a need for overconsumption in order to experience the desired rewarding effect of food.

The literature has shown mixed results on the relationships between attentional bias to food and obesity in youth, which may reflect the heterogenous etiology of obesity and highlights the importance of identifying specific phenotypes of those prone to obesity (84). It is possible that youth who already meet threshold criteria for a diagnosis of BED differ substantially in degree of emotional and cognitive factors compared to their counterparts who do not meet that

threshold. Further, there are various facets of attentional bias that capture somewhat opposing constructs, which may contribute to mixed findings in the literature. Assessment techniques commonly used to capture attention bias include visual dot-probe tasks and eye tracking measurements (172; 286). Reaction-time based measures, such as visual probe tasks, are generally conceptualized as a measure of initial, unconscious processing of stimuli (219), while eye-tracking measures, such as fixation or duration, assess overt, conscious experiences of attention (210).

One study found that, only among youth with LOC eating, attentional bias toward highly palatable foods measured via reaction time was positively associated with BMIz (219). Another smaller study observed a positive association between attentional detection bias for food targets and greater reward sensitivity (212), but a negative association between gaze duration bias for food and BMI among youth with BED (212). Shorter gaze duration potentially suggests an avoidant visual attention pattern in individuals with higher BMI, as a maladaptive attempt to reduce motivation for eating by avoiding visual awareness of food cues. This approachavoidance pattern of initial detection and avoidant sustained attention may reflect competing influences of enhanced salience to food cues and attempts to control behavioral responses (176), potentially accounting for a portion of the mixed results seen in the literature on attention bias and obesity or binge eating. However, this avoidant gaze pattern approach may be dysfunctional in that visual avoidance interferes with habituation to food cues and may predispose individuals to binge eating behaviors over time (80; 212). Overall, preliminary research suggests that the combination of attentional bias to eating disorder-specific cues, such as food and weight/shape cues, as well as attentional bias toward social threat cues may contribute to LOC eating in youth, underscoring the importance of the role of negative affect on LOC eating behaviors (241).

Executive function impairments, such as poorer global processing and set shifting (6) as well as inhibitory control (42; 47), may be another cognitive component contributing to development of LOC eating among youth with overweight and obesity. Poorer executive functioning has been shown to predict weight gain in adolescents, and LOC eating behaviors may mediate this relationship (103). Children who report LOC eating may be more susceptible to the impact of increased portion sizes on intake, also known as the portion size effect (79), as evidenced in a trial examining children's intake of energy-dense foods across laboratory test meals. This suggests that individuals with LOC eating may be more impulsive, resulting in an impaired ability to regulate their intake of energy-dense foods when presented with larger portions.

Further, problems with self-regulation, a facet of executive function, are more often reported by adolescents with LOC eating compared to those without LOC eating (273). Greater activation in the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, an area implicated in emotion regulation and reward responsivity, has been associated with binge eating in adolescents, suggesting that subjective appraisal of reward may influence overeating behaviors in youth (24). A randomized controlled trial examined the effects of a three-week pilot program designed to enhance self-regulation, and more specifically, inhibitory control, in preschool-aged children, with the aim of reducing intake of energy-dense foods (203). A group by weight interaction was observed, such that children with overweight or obesity in the treatment group exhibited similar energy intake to children with healthy weight, while in the control group, those with overweight/obesity consumed more energy than children with healthy weight (203). Given the relationship between LOC eating and aspects of cognitive regulation, training of emotion- and self-regulation skills from an early age may prove promising to limit excessive energy intake.

Social Factors

Socioenvironmental factors, such as weight-based teasing and dieting, are consistently related to LOC eating in youth, independent of weight. Dieting (174), maladaptive family environments (151), and weight-based teasing (132), have been shown to be cross-sectionally and prospectively associated with LOC eating. Factors within the family environment, such as insecure attachment style, have been associated with child reports of LOC eating and may impact the development of eating disorder symptoms in youth (265). Thin-ideal internalization promoted by the media predicts self-objectification, which in turn further predicts negative emotional experiences related to one's body and appearance. Indeed, these negative emotional experiences impact subsequent dietary restraint and binge eating, and each of these core features of eating disorders may influence each other (65). Taken together, social pressures from peers and family, including unrealistic standards of beauty, unhealthy weight control behaviors, and weight-based teasing, impact youth's risk for developing LOC eating.

Interpersonal Theory of Loss of Control Eating

According to interpersonal theory, LOC eating is conceptualized as a response to negative affect specifically associated with psychosocial stress, which can occur as a result of poor communication in relationships or social isolation (164; 244; 258). LOC eating may develop as a result of maladaptive coping with negative affective states that arise from socially distressing situations, and food consumption is thought to be triggered as an attempt to cope with uncomfortable affective states (258). The interpersonal model of binge eating has been supported over the course of treatment for reductions in binge eating and eating disorder symptomatology among adults (128).

Adolescents (96), and girls in particular (209; 243), exhibit heightened vulnerability to social stressors, identifying adolescent girls as a particularly vulnerable population. Regardless of disordered eating status, individuals with obesity across the lifespan report greater interpersonal stress, poorer quality of social life, and more frequent experiences of teasing and bullying compared to individuals of healthy weight (4). Taken together, interpersonal theory implicates social stress, particularly as a consequence of maladaptive psychosocial functioning, as a potentially key driver of LOC eating among adolescent girls with overweight and obesity. A more in depth exploration of facets of psychosocial stress is warranted in order to gain a better understanding of the mechanisms for LOC eating among this high-risk group.

PSYCHOSOCIAL STRESS AND LOC EATING

Psychosocial stress may play an important role in the onset and maintenance LOC eating episodes and risk for excess weight gain (154; 295). In general, stress can have both direct and indirect effects on the endocrine system as well as the autonomic nervous system, cardiovascular system, and other bodily systems (53). Theoretical models propose LOC eating occurs as a means of coping with acute or chronic stress in addition to negative emotion (3). Additionally, aspects of LOC eating episodes such as increases in appetite, energy intake, and the occurrence of "stress-induced food intake" can be triggered by stress (3). Individuals with binge eating symptoms are more likely to interpret difficult situations as more stressful and to have greater difficulty with emotion regulation in response to stress (189). As such, individuals who struggle with binge eating behaviors may be a particularly vulnerable population to the effects of psychosocial stress and subsequent increases in appetite and body fat.

Psychosocial Stress in Adolescence

There may be critical developmental windows for exposure to psychosocial stress.

Psychosocial stress can be operationalized in many ways, but has typically been considered as stress related to life events such as relationship stress, work stress, financial hardship, or family problems (22; 23; 268). Early life exposure to stress is related to later increases in stress reactivity and cognitive deficits in adulthood, suggesting the effects of psychosocial stress may have a detrimental impact on various brain structures at different stages of life (158). Given the frontal cortex is not yet fully developed during adolescence, this neural region may be particularly vulnerable to psychosocial stress during this stage of development (158). These data suggest psychosocial stress may have lasting impacts on various brain structures throughout development, with adolescence being a potentially critical stage. The increased prevalence of psychopathology, such as anxiety disorders, during adolescence suggests youth may be particularly sensitive to the effects of elevated stress levels during this developmental period (188). As such, adolescence may be a sensitive period of development for the effects of psychosocial stress of seven be a social vulnerabilities.

Anxiety and LOC Eating

One facet of psychosocial stress that has been prominently linked to disordered eating is anxiety. Anxiety disorders are highly relevant to the study of eating disorders given they are commonly observed prior to the onset of disordered eating behaviors and clinical eating disorders (18; 131). Heritable factors such as emotion regulation difficulties may maintain the underlying relationship between anxiety and disordered eating (228). Anxiety sensitivity, a trait construct involving anxiety-congruent cognitions and components of physical and social anxietyrelated concerns, is a risk factor for eating disorders (11) and shares genetic underpinnings with disordered eating behaviors (82). Together, genetic and non-shared environmental factors

originating from anxiety sensitivity contribute to approximately one-quarter of the explained variance in disordered eating behaviors in an adolescent twin cohort (82).

In adults, the comorbidity between anxiety and BED is well-defined in the literature (14; 101; 124; 182; 246). Moreover, adolescents with overweight at high risk for the development of eating disorders display elevated levels of anxiety and negative affect (73). More specifically, LOC eating in youth has been closely linked to pediatric anxiety symptoms (100; 165; 218), and LOC eating during childhood has been shown to predict increases in anxiety symptoms prospectively (254). Notably, links between anxiety and LOC eating have been found above and beyond the contribution of excess body weight or fat (223).

Anxiety symptoms may play a role in elevated BMI as well. While anxiety alone is not a predictor of excessive weight gain in youth, a meta-analysis supports a significant positive relationship between weight status and anxiety in youth (38). Further, youth with high anxiety who have overweight or obesity endorse greater psychosocial distress compared to their counterparts with low anxiety (153). Adolescent obesity has also been shown to predict later onset of anxiety disorder diagnosis in girls (10).

Intervention data in youth reinforces the importance of anxiety in relation to LOC eating and weight outcomes. In a randomized control trial of an intervention for prevention of excess weight gain, girls with higher trait anxiety at baseline showed the greatest improvements in weight and adiposity three years following an intervention, compared to girls with low baseline trait anxiety in the intervention condition and those in the standard of care treatment (256). Conversely, there were no relationships between baseline depressive symptoms and BMIz outcomes in either of the intervention groups (256), further bolstering the importance of anxiety over and above other facets of negative affect. The high overlap between LOC eating and anxiety

in youth, particularly among those with overweight, suggests a shared etiology and requires more in-depth exploration.

Social Anxiety and LOC Eating

While any form of anxiety might induce LOC eating, the combination of pediatric LOC eating and social anxiety, in particular, may even further exacerbate overeating and adverse outcomes. According to interpersonal theory, LOC eating may develop as a result of maladaptive coping with negative affective states, such as anxiety, that arise from socially distressing situations, and food consumption is triggered as an attempt to cope with the uncomfortable affective state (258). Youth with LOC eating report greater social stress and social problems compared to those without LOC eating (64; 77; 108; 114; 199). Self-reported perceived social threats have been shown to predict LOC eating behaviors in children and adolescents (114), potentially implicating social anxiety in the promotion of excess energy intake and weight gain. Indeed, social anxiety has been shown to be positively associated with binge eating behaviors, and adults meeting criteria for BED reported higher social anxiety than adults without BED (180). Further, adults who report first becoming overweight in childhood or adolescence display higher levels of social anxiety compared to individuals who first exhibited overweight in adulthood (180). Taken together, higher levels of social anxiety may be a particularly important early risk factor for binge eating behaviors and subsequent excess weight gain.

Neurocognitive Factors Implicated in Social Anxiety and LOC Eating

Individuals with LOC eating show hyperactivation in brain regions central to social threat processing and initial attention capture, including the amygdala, anterior cingulate cortex, and orbitofrontal cortex (78; 90; 217), when exposed to social threat cues. One neuroimaging study of 22 adolescent girls with overweight and obesity found that girls with overweight or obesity

and reported LOC eating demonstrated a similar neural response to social distress as youth with anxiety (125). Specifically, those with LOC showed reduced engagement of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, an area of executive function implicated in interpreting social intentions and affect regulation, relative to their counterparts without LOC, who experienced increased activation (125). Additionally, adolescent girls with overweight and LOC eating experienced greater activity in the fusiform face area, which is implicated in the processing of emotions, during the negative peer feedback task, and immediately following this task consumed more energy at a laboratory test meal (125). As such, the literature suggests social anxiety may be a potentially important facet to consider in better understanding mechanisms driving LOC eating, particularly among adolescents. Perceived social threat may trigger LOC eating, above and beyond resulting increases in anxiety, due to alterations in the direct connections between circuitry implicated in social threat and the hypothalamus (68; 264). Together, these findings lend support to social-anxiety models of LOC eating. Youth with manifestations of LOC eating and social anxiety may be identified as a particular phenotype for those who are prone to weightrelated health issues.

Attention Bias to Social Threat

One potential mechanism for the interpersonal model of LOC eating, and more specifically, the relationship between social anxiety and overeating, may be attention bias to social threat, or an automatic allocation of attention to highly salient stimuli. Attention bias is a propensity to focus on particular environmental stimuli, and has been thought to contribute to risk or maintenance of psychopathological issues, such as anxiety (222). Within the attentional bias framework, there are two key processes: automatic or "bottom-up" attention, and voluntary or "top-down" attention. Initial unconscious attention capture occurs first and evokes the

"bottom-up" processes in response to salient stimuli. Subsequently, voluntary continued attention deployment towards or away from the stimuli characterizes "top-down" processes (13; 57; 58; 192).

During automatic "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture, ventral prefrontal neural networks involved in attention orienting and emotional processing are implicated, including the insula, ventral anterior cingulate cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and the inferior frontal gyrus (57; 58; 192). Involuntary activation of these neural areas occurs shortly after exposure to the salient stimulus, typically within 150 milliseconds (ms). Implicit attention biases result from hyperactivation in these stimulus-driven, "bottom-up" neural regions upon exposure to salient cues (170; 190). This early and rapid orientation of "bottom-up" automatic attention is often shortly followed by an attentional shift away from the salient stimuli, referred to as inhibition of return, which typically occurs within 500 ms (139). During voluntary "top-down" continued attention deployment, activation of dorsal prefrontal neural regions, such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, dorsal anterior cingulate, and superior parietal cortex, are implicated in conscious allocation of attention toward or away from salient cues (57; 58; 192). Hypo-activation in these "top-down" attentional control neural regions may result in persistent attention deployment and impact attentional bias and anxiety.

In the eating disorders field, individuals with attention biases to disliked body parts or palatable foods are at greater risk for disordered eating attitudes (13), and overeating behaviors (19; 20). In relation to anxiety, it has been proposed that those with anxiety disorders may have a vigilance-avoidance pattern of attention, such that anxiety symptoms are associated with stimulus-driven automatic orientation of attention to threatening stimuli (55; 222), alternately followed by a slower, goal-directed voluntary shift of attention in line with goal-oriented

behavior such as avoidance of threatening stimuli. Some evidence suggests the avoidance phase during voluntary attention deployment is a goal-directed, but maladaptive process in an attempt to minimize distress in individuals with anxiety (71; 156), which may ultimately impair habituation to distressing cues and result in a perpetuation of anxiety over time.

Attention bias models of anxiety and disordered eating propose that socially stressful situations trigger an increased attendance to potential socially threatening cues (13) in those with LOC eating. Adult studies have supported the link between attention bias to socially threatening stimuli and increased risk for disordered eating attitudes and behaviors (112; 113). Compared to happy or neutral facial expressions, individuals with high anxiety show enhanced vigilance and attention bias toward threatening faces (31). More specifically, attentional bias to social threat cues is positively related to pediatric anxiety symptoms (1). Given the well-established relationship between pediatric anxiety and LOC eating (100; 165), it is possible youth with LOC eating have an attention bias to social threat cues may be a potential mechanism for the relationship between social anxiety and overeating behaviors in youth with LOC eating, and given the dearth of literature exploring the impact of attention bias to social threat on LOC eating, this mechanism warrants further investigation.

CURRENT RESEARCH GAPS

There are currently several important research gaps in the literature: 1) The role of attention bias to social threat cues and neurobiological mechanisms of anxiety have not been previously considered in relation to LOC eating, which may elucidate mechanisms for LOC eating and provide a clearer understanding of drivers of the construct to elucidate early treatment targets; 2) No model has tested the impact of attention bias to social threat and neural activation of anxiety

processing regions on LOC eating in vivo in the laboratory. This study helps to characterize distinctive subtypes of LOC eating and mechanisms that contribute to disordered eating and subsequent weight gain in youth, providing a pathway for novel prevention and intervention efforts.

STUDY MODEL

Given LOC eating in youth is highly comorbid with anxiety (14; 100; 101; 124; 165; 182; 246), and is predictive of increases in anxiety symptoms over time (254), there may be shared neural underpinnings and/or etiologies between LOC eating and anxiety in youth. According to interpersonal theory, LOC eating may develop as a result of maladaptive coping with negative affective states, such as anxiety, that arise from socially distressing situations. Food consumption is triggered as an attempt to escape from the uncomfortable affective state. This maladaptive coping strategy may be due, in part, to heightened sensitivity to incoming social cues and abnormalities in anxiety processing socio-emotional neural circuits. The physiological mechanisms of psychosocial stress may elucidate the impact of anxiety on appetite, satiety, and weight gain in those with disordered eating. The current study theorizes that attention bias to social threat elicits hyperactivation in "bottom-up" brain regions implicated in unconscious attention capture and social anxiety, and blunted activation in "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions, and individuals will seek to reduce negative affect through LOC eating behaviors. See Figure 2 for the current study's theoretical model of neural underpinnings of social anxiety and LOC eating. A better understanding of the neural underpinnings involved in the links between LOC eating and anxiety may aid in the development of novel targets for reducing excess intake that leads to obesity and obesity-related health comorbidities.

THE PRESENT STUDY

Study Objective

The objective of the current study was to determine the relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activation implicated in social anxiety and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal in girls with overweight or obesity, with and without LOC eating. Further, this investigation examined if LOC eating moderated the relationships between attention bias to social threat and neural activation of anxiety-processing and emotion regulation regions and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal.

AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

No model has been previously tested for the impact of attention bias to social threat and neural activation of anxiety-processing and emotion regulation regions on LOC eating in vivo in the laboratory. The current study aimed to determine the relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activation implicated in social anxiety and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal in girls with overweight or obesity, with and without LOC eating. It was hypothesized that attention bias to social threat cues would elicit hyperactivation in "bottom-up" brain regions implicated in unconscious attention capture and social anxiety, and blunted activation in "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions, which would interact with LOC eating in order to reduce the negative affective feelings of anxiety through overeating behaviors.

Aim 1

To examine relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activity in anxiety-processing and emotion regulation regions among youth, and differences between youth with and without LOC eating.

<u>Hypothesis 1a</u>: Greater attention bias to social threat (i.e. shorter reaction times to angry faces than happy or neutral faces) will be associated with increased activation in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues.

<u>Hypothesis 1b</u>: Youth with LOC eating will exhibit greater attention bias to social threat cues, but not to non-threatening cues, compared to youth without LOC eating.

Aim 2

To examine if differences in attention bias to social threat and neural activation in response to social threat cues are related to energy intake at a laboratory test meal.

<u>Hypothesis 2a</u>: Greater attention bias to social threat cues, but not non-threating cues, will be associated with greater energy intake.

<u>Hypothesis 2b</u>: Increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues will be associated with greater energy intake.

Aim 3

To examine if LOC eating moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural activation and differences in intake at a laboratory test meal.

<u>Hypothesis 3a</u>: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly related with energy intake.

Hypothesis 3b: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted engagement of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions will be more robustly associated with energy intake.

Exploratory Aim 4

To examine whether state anxiety mediates the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake.

Hypothesis 4: State anxiety will partially mediate the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions and energy intake, such that increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues will partially explain increases in state anxiety, which will partially explain increases energy intake.

Exploratory Aim 5

To examine whether anxiety sensitivity moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions.

Hypothesis 5: Anxiety sensitivity will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat and increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, such that among those with greater anxiety sensitivity, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly associated with activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions.

CHAPTER 2: METHODS

RESEARCH DESIGN

This study was one component of the Mobile Attention Retraining in Overweight Female Adolescents protocol (ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT02977403). Only the procedures and measures relevant to this dissertation are presented in the Methods section. Adolescent girls with overweight or obesity participated in a screening visit and a laboratory visit. Girls underwent a physical examination and participated in two semi-structured psycho-diagnostic interviews during the screening visit in order to determine eligibility. Girls then returned for the laboratory visit, during which they completed an anatomical MRI scan, a social threat attention bias paradigm while undergoing a magnetoencephalography neuroimaging scan, and then finally a laboratory test meal. The study used a cross-sectional design to examine differences in attentional bias to a laboratory social threat paradigm among adolescent girls with and without LOC eating.

PARTICIPANTS AND RECRUITMENT

Participant Eligibility

Inclusion criteria was female sex, 12-17 years old at the start of the study, overweight or obesity (BMI at or above the 85th percentile for age and sex according to the Centers for Disease Control US standards) (148), English-speaking, and right handedness. Inclusion in the LOC group was defined by the presence of one or more episodes of LOC eating during the past month prior to assessment, as assessed using a clinical diagnostic interview for eating disorders. Inclusion in the No LOC group was defined by no episodes of LOC eating during the past month.

Girls were excluded if they met any of the following criteria: an obesity-related health comorbidity requiring medical treatment, such as hypertension or fasting hyperglycemia

consistent with diabetes; presence of other major medical illnesses including renal, hepatic, gastrointestinal, endocrinologic, hematological problems or pulmonary disorders; regular use of any medication known to affect body weight or eating behavior (e.g., stimulants prescribed for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder); current pregnancy or a history of pregnancy; a significant reduction in weight during the past three months, for any reason, exceeding 5% of body weight; presence of a significant, full-threshold psychiatric disorder based on DSM criteria that may impede competence or compliance or possibly hinder completion of the study; a history of significant or recent brain injury that may considerably influence performance; current involvement in a weight loss program, participating in psychotherapy aimed at weight loss or treatment of eating behavior; or a condition under which MEG participation would be contradicted (e.g., metal in the body, pregnancy, claustrophobia, history of significant neurological insult or injury). Girls who reported allergies to gluten, nuts, dairy, fruit, or any other item in the test meal array were excluded from the test meal portion of the study. See Table 2 for full eligibility criteria.

Recruitment

Participant recruitment methods included mailings to families in the greater Washington, D.C. metropolitan area. This recruitment method has been used successfully for prior community-based studies of youth with and without LOC eating (252; 254; 260). Participants called the phone number associated with the study and were pre-screened on the phone before attending an in-person assessment visit.

Participant Compensation

All participants received \$70 for the screening visit and \$75 for the MEG scan and test meal visit, for a total compensation of \$145.

STUDY PROCEDURES

Participants completed a screening visit that involved consent/assent, physical examination, dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scan, and two semi-structured interviews. Youth then completed a laboratory visit during which they underwent an anatomical MRI scan, MEG recording, social threat task, completed psychological questionnaires, and a laboratory test meal. All participant visits took place at the NIH Hatfield Clinical Research Center.

Screening Visit

Potentially eligible families were seen at the NIH Clinical Center. The screening visit involved:

Consent/assent

The study's purposes, testing procedures, and possible study risks were reviewed in detail with families. Interested parents and daughters signed IRB-approved consent and assent forms.

History and Physical Examination

Height and fasting weight, medical history, physical examination, and assessment of current medical and psychiatric illness were assessed by trained NIH staff.

Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) Scan

Total mass (kg), lean mass/fat-free mass (kg), fat mass (kg), and fat mass percentage (%) were assessed by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (GE Lunar iDXA, GE Healthcare, Madison WI; software GE encore 15), a validated measure of body composition in youth (231).

Semi-Structured Interviews

Youth participated in several semi-structured clinical interviews during the screening visit, conducted by trained and supervised staff:

Eating Disorder Examination (EDE)

The overeating section of the EDE was administered to determine LOC eating presence (see Appendix 1). Girls who reported at least one episode of LOC eating in the past 28 days on the EDE were categorized to the LOC eating group.

Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children (KSADS)

Sections of the KSADS were used to assess psychiatric functioning and exclude participants with significant psychiatric co-morbidities that may have impeded competence or compliance, or possibly hindered completion of the study (see Appendix 2). The KSADS was only administered to participants who positively endorsed depression, suicidal ideation, mania, psychosis, or substance use disorder on a screening measure. Participants were administered only relevant portions of the KSADS in order to identify any current psychiatric issues that warranted study exclusion or would have impeded study adherence.

Self-Report Questionnaires

Participants completed a series of self-report questionnaires at the screening visit, primarily assessing specific facets of negative affect including anxiety and depression. Further details on self-report questionnaires are described in the Measures section.

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children–State subscale (STAIC)

The STAIC-State subscale (232) is a 20-item self-report measure of state anxiety with very good psychometric properties. Further details are described in the Measures section. *Anxiety Sensitivity Index – Revised (ASI-R)*

Anxiety sensitivity is a trait defined by fear of anxiety-related physical sensations (60; 202). Prior research suggests that anxiety sensitivity is a distinct construct from state or trait anxiety and may contribute to the development or maintenance of a variety of psychological

disorders, including social anxiety (5; 163). Specifically, the ASI-R was initially planned to be administered in conjunction with the social threat visual probe task to explore the potential relationship between ASI-R and attentional biases toward threatening social stimuli. Barriers to this administration are discussed elsewhere.

Children's Depression Inventory (CDI)

The CDI (146; 147) is a widely used measure that assesses the presence and degree of childhood depressive symptoms over the past two weeks, such as worthlessness, negative mood, and fatigue.

Laboratory Visit: MEG Scan Social Threat Task and Test Meal

After determining eligibility at the screening visit, adolescents returned for a second visit to participate in the MEG scan social threat task and test meal. Participants began fasting at 10:00 pm the night before this visit.

Anatomical MRI Scan

An MRI scan was conducted on a Siemens MAGNETOM Verio 3T scanner equipped with a 16-channel head/neck coil for co-registration with MEG. Standard imaging parameters were used including acquisition of T1 weighted structural images for co-registration.

Magnetoencephalography

Facets of attentional bias, such as "bottom-up" initial attention capture and "top-down" maintained attention deployment, involve neural processes that occur over short periods of time, and thus must be measured by temporally sensitive methods (57). The temporal nature of attention bias to social threat and activity in neural circuits involved in anxiety processing is ideally suited for measurement by magnetoencephalography (MEG), which has both excellent temporal and acceptable spatial resolution (66; 67; 111). Utility of MEG has been supported for

differentiating between neural components of attention bias to social threat (32). Previous research on attention bias has utilized functional MRI to provide high spatial resolution for key brain regions of interest, however this method is limited in its capacity to elucidate temporal sequences of neural activity. As such, utilizing MEG can help to elucidate the neural bases of attention bias toward threat that may contribute to LOC eating behaviors.

Neural magnetic fields were recorded via MEG with the 275-channel OMEGA system. Head position was also measured during the recording. Participants sat in the magnetically shielded recording room while wearing a helmet covered with 275 SQUID sensors. Head position within the magnetometer was determined before and after each MEG session by digitizing the position of three indicator coils that are attached to the preauricular and the nasion fiducial points. The positions defined the coordinate system for the signals and allowed for post-hoc correction of head movement artifacts. MEG data was sampled at 600 Hz (bandwidth 0-150 Hz) and 7mm voxels. "Bottom-up" initial attention capture was analyzed between 0-150 ms after each stimulus onset, and "top-down" maintained attention deployment was analyzed between 150-500 ms after stimulus onset. The MEG session lasted for approximately 60 minutes.

Social Threat Task

The social threat attention bias task examined participants' reaction times and neural response during a dot-probe paradigm (See Figure 3). The paradigm involved two picture pairs of angry, happy, or neutral faces, presented side-by-side on a computer screen, followed by a probe appearing behind one of the images, prompting a response. The task consisted of three face pair types: neutral-neutral, happy-neutral, and angry-neutral. Each pair type consisted of 15 face pairs, presented four times each. The order of pair types was randomized across all participants, but the specific pairs remained consistent. The location of each stimuli and probe

was counterbalanced across participants. Importantly, the probe replaced the neutral images (i.e. neutral faces) and the salient images (i.e. happy or angry faces) with equal frequency. Trials were excluded from analyses if the participant did not respond with the time window or responded incorrectly.

Following a practice sessions, the dot-probe task consisted of 180 trials, divided into four segments with 45 trials each. Each pair of images appeared on the computer screen for 500ms. After 500ms, the image pair disappeared and a probe (horizontal or vertical dots) appeared in one of the previously occupied photo locations for 200ms. Participants responded with a right or left sided button-press to indicate the orientation of the dots. A central fixation cross appeared for 500ms before each face pair presentation, and the blank inter-trial interval lasted for 1300ms. Trials consisted of a mixture of incongruent trials, in which the probe replaced the neutral face image, and congruent trials, in which the probe replaced the angry or happy face image. Sixty pairs of each combination (neutral-neutral, angry-neutral, happy-neutral) were presented in randomized order. The spatial location of images and probes were counter-balanced.

Attentional bias was calculated by subtracting the mean reaction times in responding to probes replacing a salient stimulus (i.e. angry or happy faces) from mean reaction times to probes replacing a neutral stimulus (i.e. neutral faces). Bias scores were calculated separately for both "angry bias" and "happy bias." Angry bias was calculated by subtracting mean reaction times to angry faces from mean reaction times to neutral faces. Happy bias was calculated by subtracting mean reaction times to happy faces from mean reaction times to neutral faces. Theoretically, reaction times are expected to be faster (i.e. shorter) when the probe replaces a stimulus the participant was currently orienting toward at the time of the probe presentation onset. A score of 0 indicates no attentional bias to either cue, while a negative score (<0)

indicates a bias away from the more salient cue (i.e. angry or happy faces), and a positive score (>0) indicates a bias toward the more salient cue.

This social threat task has been used extensively in pediatric samples with anxiety symptoms and has been repeatedly shown to stimulate neural responsivity linked to regions associated with anxiety (57; 171; 172; 190). It has also been shown to stimulate similar neurocircuitry to that of other social anxiety laboratory paradigms (32; 125; 172), and, in particular, circuits linked to our preliminary data using fMRI (125). Split-half reliability of mean reaction time and attentional bias on similar platforms has shown to be good in prior research (161; 282).

Laboratory Test Meal

Immediately prior to and following the MEG session, girls completed rating scales for hunger, fullness, social anxiety, and food craving (see Appendix 3). Participants then were introduced to the multi-array test meal (~11,000 kcal) (See Figure 4) with tape-recorded instructions to "Let yourself go and eat as much as you want." Consumption was calculated by weighing each item before and after the meal. Rating scales for hunger, fullness, social anxiety, and food craving were repeated post-meal. The primary outcome variable of interest was total energy intake (kcal). The nature of the laboratory buffet test meal also allows for exploratory analyses of more specific macronutrient variables (i.e. percentage of energy consumed from protein, fats, and carbohydrates). Energy content and macronutrient composition for each food item was determined according to standards from the U.S.D.A. Nutrient Database for Standard Reference and information supplied by food manufacturers (See Table 3 for meal contents). This LOC eating paradigm is well-validated and has been successfully used in pediatric (252) and

adult studies (279). Figure 5 outlines all study procedures for both the screening and laboratory visits.

MEASURES AND MATERIALS

Measures

Eating Disorder Examination (EDE)

The EDE (81) is a semi-structured psycho-diagnostic interview of eating disorder psychopathology. The EDE contains 21 items that assess disordered attitudes and behaviors related to eating, body-shape and weight, and 13 items designed and adapted to diagnose specific DSM-5 eating disorders. The EDE has demonstrated sound psychometric properties in adolescents, and is reliable and valid in adolescent samples (51; 261).

Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia for School-Age Children (KSADS)

The KSADS (129) is a reliable and valid semi-structured diagnostic interview to assesses DSM psychiatric diagnoses.

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children–State subscale (STAIC)

The STAIC-State subscale (232) is a 20-item self-report measure of state anxiety with good psychometric properties, including good reliability and construct validity (184). The STAIC-State total score is calculated by a sum of all items rated on a 3-point Likert scale. Higher scores indicate greater state anxiety, with total scores ranging from 20-60.

Anxiety Sensitivity Index – Revised (ASI-R)

The ASI-R is a 36-item self-report measure assessing anxiety sensitivity and is a revised and expanded version of the original 16-item Anxiety Sensitivity Index (12). Individuals are presented with statements describing reactions to physical symptoms of anxiety (e.g. "It scares me when I feel faint") and are asked to rate how strongly each item applies to them on a Likert scale ranging from 0 ("very little) to 4 ("very much"). Higher scores indicate greater anxiety sensitivity, with total scores ranging from 0 to 144. The ASI-R has demonstrated high internal consistency, good content validity, and adequate criterion validity in prior studies of nonclinical populations (69).

Children's Depression Inventory (CDI)

The CDI (146; 147) is a 27-item self-report measure that assesses the presence and degree of childhood depressive symptoms over the past two weeks. Items are scored on a Likert scale ranging from 0 to 2, with total scores ranging from 0 to 54. Greater scores indicate greater depressive symptoms. The CDI has shown high internal consistency in pediatric samples (109; 146).

Materials

All computers, psychological questionnaires, and psychological interviews required for the current study were already purchased for prior research or were publicly available. Data analysis software and the materials required for the laboratory session were also previously purchased.

Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA) Scan

Total mass (kg), lean mass/fat-free mass (kg), fat mass (kg), and fat mass percentage (%) were assessed by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (GE Lunar iDXA, GE Healthcare, Madison WI; software GE encore 15), a validated measure of body composition in youth (231).

Stadiometer and digital scales

The NIH Clinical Research Center pediatric clinics were equipped with stadiometers and calibrated digital scales available for use.

Magnetoencephalography (MEG) Instruments

The NIMH MEG Core Facility's main instrument is a CTF MEG[™] brain imaging system, a whole-head SQUID magnetometer with 275 channels, capable of recording the magnetic field of the brain at very high spatial and excellent temporal resolution. The system is housed in a magnetically shielded room for enhanced passive noise reduction. In addition, the CTF MEG system is equipped with synthetic 3rd gradient balancing, an active noise cancellation technique that uses a set of reference channels to subtract background interference. There is currently no standard reliability index for MEG. The MEG Core Facility is located at the NIH Clinical Center.

HUMAN SUBJECTS PROTECTIONS

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) and USU IRBs approved all study procedures. All information provided by the participant has been kept confidential and is protected to the fullest extent provided by law. Parents and participants provided written consent and assent, respectively, for study participation. Hard copies of consent, assent, and data are stored in the Section on Growth and Obesity laboratory in filing cabinets in a locked office. Electronic copies of data are stored using the NIH-Sponsored Clinical Trials Data Base or on NIH-secured and password-protected computers in the Section on Growth and Obesity's locked office space, accessible only by authorized study personnel. All identifiable data for the project was processed and stored by the study team. Confidentiality of discussions during the participant visits were honored, and only study staff has access to identifiable information.

Individuals are at risk for injury from the MRI magnet if they have implanted electrical devices, brain stimulators, some types of dental implants, metallic prostheses (including metal pins and rods, heart valves, and cochlear implants), aneurysm clips, permanent eyeliner,

implanted delivery pumps, or shrapnel fragments. For this reason, participants were screened for these contraindications before having any scan. If they had any risk for injury, they did not receive an MRI scan. In addition, all magnetic objects (for example, watches, coins, jewelry, and credit cards) were removed before entering the MRI scan room. Since it is unclear whether MRI is completely safe during pregnancy, all participants, as females, had a pregnancy test performed no more than 24 hours before the structural MRI scan, and the scan was not conducted if the pregnancy test was positive. Individuals with fear of confined spaces may become anxious during an MRI. The noise from the scanner is loud enough to damage hearing; therefore, participants having an MRI scan were fitted with hearing protection. There are no known longterm risks of MRI scans.

The current study involved minimal risk and no direct benefit to the participants. However, data from the study will help to examine the relationship between attention bias to social threat cues, neural activation implicated in anxiety, and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal in youth with overweight or obesity, with and without LOC eating. Information gained from this study may be beneficial to adolescents who experience disinhibited eating. Data from this project may also be used to inform the development of prevention programs that can prevent adverse health outcomes in youth at high risk for overweight and obesity.

DATA ANALYTIC APPROACH

Data Management

Anatomical MRI data preprocessing was conducted using AFNI software, which included removing the skull and normalizing to standard Talairach space. Raw MEG data was filtered using third gradient reference coils with fixed weights. Primary analyses used a broad

frequency band (1-30 Hz), in line with procedures from prior MEG studies in new populations (32; 59; 204). Fixed frequency smoothing and transformation were applied to obtain oscillatory power estimates. Oscillatory power activity was calculated through subtraction of the baseline activity (500ms immediately prior to stimulus onset) (32) from the activity evoked during the unconscious attention capture (0-150ms after stimulus onset) and continued attention deployment periods (150-500ms after stimulus onset), respectively. A relative power activity was calculated using a $\log(a/b)$ ratio, with a = activity evoked during the unconscious attention capture period, and b = activity evoked during the continued attention deployment period. This was designed in line with the hypotheses of relative *hyperactivity* during attention capture and relative hypoactivity during attention deployment, and was designed with reduction of excessive number of tests in mind. I was trained in the synthetic aperture magnetometry (SAM) beamformer technique (276) to produce a 3D representation of brain activity by calculating the oscillatory power activity for individual voxels (7 mm). Using the anatomical MRI, normalized SAM data was co-registered and transformed into Talairach space with use of AFNI software. A priori brain regions were selected for examination based on the hypotheses.

Statistical Analyses

All non-MEG analyses were performed with IBM SPSS Statistics (version 25). All MEG-related data analyses were performed with Analysis of Functional NeuroImages (AFNI) software (61) and co-registered to the high-resolution structural MRI scan. Arcsine square-root transformations were conducted for percentage intake from carbohydrates, fats, and protein. As appropriate, covariates included commonly included demographics, such as age and race (48); anthropomorphic variables, such as adiposity (248), height, fat mass percentage, lean mass, and pubertal status in order to account for body size, metabolic activity, and hormonal influences on outcomes (73; 140); and psychological variables, such as pre-task anxiety (173), in order to account for baseline level of anxiety that may have impacted outcomes related to any anxiety fluctuations in response to exposure to social threat cues during the MEG task. False discovery rate control was applied to MEG analyses in order to adjust for multiple comparisons within large 3D volumes and determine statistical significance of brain activity. A whole-brain-derived false discovery rate threshold of approximately p < .01 was applied. Given the predetermined voxel size (7 mm) in the MEG analyses, only regions-of-interest that survived a p < .01 uncorrected threshold in a priori brain regions-of-interest were interpreted.

Aim 1

To examine relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activity in anxiety-processing and emotion regulation regions among youth, and differences between youth with and without LOC eating.

Hypothesis 1a: Greater attention bias to social threat (i.e. shorter reaction times to angry faces than happy or neutral faces) will be associated with increased activation in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues. A multiple linear regression model was used with attention bias (i.e. angry bias or happy bias) as the IV, engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. greater activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. less activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the DV, and age, race, adiposity, height, and pre-task anxiety as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Hypothesis 1b: Youth with LOC eating will exhibit greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. greater angry bias), but not to non-threatening cues (i.e. happy bias), compared to youth without LOC eating. A one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used with LOC eating (presence/absence) as the independent variable (IV), attentional bias scores (i.e. angry bias, happy bias) as the continuous dependent variable (DV), and age, race, adiposity, height, and pre-task anxiety as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Aim 2

To examine if differences in attention bias to social threat and neural activation are related to energy intake at a laboratory meal.

Hypothesis 2a: Greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. angry bias), but not nonthreating cues (i.e. happy bias), will be associated with greater energy intake. A multiple linear regression model was used with attentional bias scores (i.e. angry bias, happy bias) as the IV, energy intake as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Hypothesis 2b: Increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. insula, striatum, amygdala), and blunted activation of "topdown" attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) in response to social threat cues will be associated with greater energy intake. Multiple linear regression models were used, with engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex,

dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the IV, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Aim 3

To examine if LOC eating moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural activation and differences in intake at a laboratory test meal.

Hypothesis 3a: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat (i.e. angry bias) and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly related with energy intake. General linear models (GLMs) were used with attentional bias scores as the IV, LOC eating (presence/absence) as the moderator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Hypothesis 3b: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted engagement of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, increased activation of "bottom-up" regions and blunted activation of "top-down" regions will be more robustly associated with energy intake. GLMs were conducted with engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal

cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the IV, LOC eating (presence/absence) as the moderator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Exploratory Aim 4

To examine whether state anxiety mediates the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake.

Hypothesis 4: State anxiety will partially mediate the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" regions and blunted activation of "top-down" regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that increased activation of "bottom-up" regions and decreased activation of "top-down" regions in response to social threat cues will partially explain increases in state anxiety, which will partially explain increases energy intake. A cross-sectional mediation model was conducted with "bottom-up" and "top-down" neural activation as the IV, state anxiety as the mediator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis. The significance of the mediation effect was tested using SPSS PROCESS macro (115).

Exploratory Aim 5

To examine whether anxiety sensitivity moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety-processing regions.

Hypothesis 5: Anxiety sensitivity will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat and increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, such that among those with greater anxiety sensitivity, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly associated with activation of "bottom-up" regions. A GLM was conducted with attentional bias scores as the IV, anxiety sensitivity as the moderator, activation of "bottom-up" regions as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, and fat mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

Power Analysis

A sample size of 80 adolescent girls was proposed based on a power analysis to detect small to medium effects sizes across all hypotheses involving MEG analyses. This calculation was based on recommended equations for estimating sample size when using general linear models (56; 121), and assuming 35% attrition rate in unusable MEG data based on prior MEG studies in youth (32; 205). Recruitment of 80 youth would have provided at least 80% power to detect small to medium effect sizes (Cohen's d = 0.2-0.5) with 52-53 youth included in MEG analyses after expected attrition. Given attrition rate due to unusable data was expected to be lower for the cognitive attentional bias task, power was expected to be greater than 80% for those analyses.

Updated Power Analysis due to COVID-19-related Dissertation Recruitment Barriers

Due to the COVID-19 global pandemic, project recruitment was stalled as of March 13, 2020. Recruitment was originally planned to be ongoing through 2020, however due to the pandemic, it was truncated halfway through the original timeline, and additional participants were not able to be accumulated due to the stay-at-home and social distancing orders and to closure of the MEG Core Facility at NIH.

Prior to the pandemic-related recruitment barriers, a total of 55 participants completed the two required visits, with approximately 38 participants having usable MEG imaging data. For at least 80% power to detect small-to-medium effect sizes, the original proposal planned for recruitment of 80 participants, and assumed 35% attrition in unusable MEG data, for a final sample of 52 participants to be included in analyses. Over two-thirds of the expected sample size (n = 80) was enrolled in the reduced recruitment window, and the expected data attrition rate of 35% was aligned with the currently enrolled reduced sample. As such, I have included an updated power analysis for each of the three primary aims below:

Updated Power Analyses for Aim 1

To examine relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activity in anxiety-processing and emotion regulation regions among youth, and differences between youth with and without LOC eating.

Hypothesis 1a: Greater attention bias to social threat (i.e. shorter reaction times to angry faces than happy or neutral faces) will be associated with increased activation in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues. A multiple linear regression model was used with attention bias (i.e. angry bias or happy bias) as the IV, engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. greater activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the DV, and age, race, adiposity, height, and pre-task anxiety as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

The new power analysis for Aim 1a assumes an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; total sample size = 38; and an effect size f = 0.46 (large).

The post-hoc power analysis for Aim 1a assumes two-tailed; an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; an effect size $\phi = 0.3$ (medium); with the required sample size = 82.

Hypothesis 1b: Youth with LOC eating will exhibit greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. angry bias), but not to non-threatening cues (i.e. happy bias), compared to youth without LOC eating. A one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used with LOC eating (presence/absence) as the independent variable (IV), attentional bias scores (i.e. angry bias, happy bias) as the continuous dependent variable (DV), and age, race, adiposity, height, and pre-task anxiety as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

The new power analysis for Aim 1b assumes an alpha = 0.05; groups = 2; power = 0.8; total sample size = 55; and an effect size f = 0.39 (medium-to-large).

The post-hoc power analysis for Aim 1b assumes two-tailed; an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; an effect size d = 0.01 (small); with the required sample size = 394.

Updated Power Analyses for Aim 2

To examine if differences in attention bias to social threat and neural activation are related to energy intake at a laboratory meal.

Hypothesis 2a: Greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. angry bias), but not nonthreating cues (i.e. happy bias), will be associated with greater energy intake. A multiple linear regression model was used with attentional bias scores (i.e. angry bias, happy bias) as the IV, energy intake as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.
The new power analysis for Aim 2a assumes an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; total sample size = 55; and an effect size f = 0.28 (medium-to-large).

The post-hoc power analysis for Aim 2a assumes two-tailed; an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; an effect size ϕ = 0.3 (medium); with the required sample size = 82.

Hypothesis 2b: Increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. insula, striatum, amygdala), and blunted activation of "topdown" attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) in response to social threat cues will be associated with greater energy intake. General linear models (GLM) were used, with engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the IV, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

The new power analysis for Aim 2b assumes an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; total sample size = 38; and an effect size f = 0.46 (large).

The post-hoc power analysis for Aim 2b assumes two-tailed; an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; an effect size $\phi = 0.3$ (medium); with the required sample size = 82.

Updated Power Analyses for Aim 3

To examine if LOC eating moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural activation and differences in intake at a laboratory test meal. *Hypothesis 3a*: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat (i.e. angry bias) and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly related with energy intake. GLMs were used with attentional bias scores as the IV, LOC eating (presence/absence) as the moderator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

The new power analysis for Aim 3a assumes an alpha = 0.05; groups = 2; power = 0.8; total sample size = 55; and an effect size f = 0.38 (medium-to-large).

The post-hoc power analysis for Aim 3a assumes two-tailed; an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; an effect size f = 0.25 (medium); with the required sample size = 229.

Hypothesis 3b: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted engagement of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, increased activation of "bottom-up" regions and blunted activation of "top-down" regions will be more robustly associated with energy intake. GLMs were conducted with engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the IV, LOC eating (presence/absence) as the moderator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms were considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

The new power analysis for Aim 3b assumes an alpha = 0.05; groups = 2; power = 0.8; total sample size = 38; and an effect size f = 0.48 (large).

The post-hoc power analysis for Aim 3b assumes two-tailed; an alpha = 0.05; power = 0.8; an effect size f = 0.25 (medium); with the required sample size = 229.

Despite the smaller than expected sample, all members of the present dissertation committee provided written approval to move forward with data analysis and interpretation. The signed memo outlining this explicit approval by all committee members and the dissertation committee chair is included in the Supplement.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Participant Characteristics

Fifty-five adolescent girls were recruited. All participants (N = 55) were female and had overweight or obesity (BMI $\ge 85^{th}$ percentile). The average age of the participants was 15.2 ± 1.7 years. Twenty-six participants were non-Hispanic Black (47.3%), fifteen were non-Hispanic White (27.3%), and five participants were of multiple races (9.1%). Five participants identified as Hispanic or Latino (9.1%), and four participants did not report their ethnicity (7.3%). The average BMI-*z* of participants was 1.8 ± 0.4 . The majority of participants had obesity (60%), while 40% of participants did not meet criteria for obesity but met criteria for overweight. Sixteen participants (29.1%) reported the presence of at least one episode of LOC eating within the past month. The average trait anxiety score was 34.6 ± 6.2 . Regarding state anxiety prior to the MEG scan, the range of scores was 20-41, with a mean of 30.3 ± 4.5 . Chi-square and *t*-tests revealed there were no significant differences between groups of girls with and without LOC eating on age, race, ethnicity, BMI-*z*, or state and trait anxiety (*p*s > .05). Participant characteristics are outlined in Table 4.

Missing Data

As stated in the previous power analysis section, due to the limitations of social distancing and stay-at-home orders during the COVID-19 pandemic, recruitment was truncated, resulting in less data collected than expected. There were participants with missing data, particularly for the Anxiety Sensitivity Index (ASI) referenced in Exploratory Aim 5, for which data collection began after the initiation of the original protocol. Forty-five of the 55 participants were missing ASI data, and of the ten participants with valid data, listwise there were only five

participants with both ASI data and other outcome variables of interest, which precluded analyses for this exploratory aim.

Regarding missing data for other primary outcome variables of interest, there were n = 16 participants with missing attention bias task data, due to reasons including excessive errors >80 (n = 10), technical button box issues (n = 3), or failure to administer the task due to visit timing issues (n = 3). There were n = 17 participants with missing MEG data during the attention bias task, due to reasons including excessive task errors >80 (n = 10), technical computer software issues (n = 4), or failure to administer the task due to visit timing issues (n = 3). Finally, there were n = 3 participants with missing test meal data, due to reasons including allergies (n = 1), not liking enough of the test meal foods on a Food Preferences Questionnaire (n = 1), and feeling nauseated during the visit (n = 1).

Overall there were N = 38 participants with complete and usable data. Participant characteristics for those with usable data are outlined in Table 5. Of these participants, there were n = 14 (36.8%) with LOC eating, 52.6% with obesity, and 47.4% with overweight. Chisquare and *t*-tests were conducted to determine whether the missingness of primary outcome variables differed by race, ethnicity, LOC status, age, BMI, or trait anxiety level. There were no differences between missing and non-missing data on race, ethnicity, LOC status, age, BMI, or trait anxiety level (ps > .06). Of the participants included in the final sample with usable data, the average number of errors on the dot-probe task was 33.5 (range 6-74). For participants who were not included in the final sample due to non-usable MEG data, excessive dot-probe errors, or missing test meals, the average number of errors on the dot-probe task was 133.9 (range 33-278). **Results of Aim 1**

Aim 1

To examine relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activity in anxiety-processing and emotion regulation regions among youth, and differences between youth with and without LOC eating.

Hypothesis 1a: Greater attention bias to social threat (i.e. shorter reaction times to angry faces than happy or neutral faces) will be associated with increased activation in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues.

Results of Hypothesis 1a: When adjusting for age, race, height, fat mass (kg), and pretask anxiety, attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to increased engagement in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing, including the amygdala [$(F(1, 29) = .34, \beta = .11, p = .56)$], insula [$(F(1, 29) = .09, \beta = .06, p = .77)$], or striatum [$(F(1, 29) = .12, \beta = .07, p = .73)$]. Attention bias to angry faces was not significantly related to lower activation of attention deployment and affect regulation regions, including the anterior cingulate cortex [$(F(1, 29) = .25, \beta = .09, p = .62)$], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 29) = .11, \beta = .06, p = .74)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 29) = .19, \beta = .08, p = .67)$], or ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 29) = .03, \beta = .03, p = .87)$]. See Table 6 for summarized results.

Further, except for a marginally significant relationship with amygdala activation that did not survive the correction threshold $[(F(1, 29) = 1.82, \beta = .36, p = .05)]$, attention bias to happy faces (i.e. shorter reaction time to happy faces compared to neutral faces) was not significantly related to activation in any of the regions of interest (*ps*>.07). Finally, when considered as an additional covariate, depressive symptoms were not a significant predictor in any of the models with attention bias to angry faces (ps>.36) or attention bias to happy faces (ps>.16), nor did it significantly change any of the model results for either attention bias to angry or happy faces.

Hypothesis 1b: Youth with LOC eating will exhibit greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. angry bias), but not to non-threatening cues (i.e. happy bias), compared to youth without LOC eating.

Results of Hypothesis 1b: A total of thirty-seven youth had completed listwise data of attention bias scores that did not exceed the error cut-off. Compared to youth without LOC eating (n=23), youth with LOC eating (n=14) did not display significantly greater attention bias to angry social threat cues [F(1, 30) = .05, p = .82] when adjusting for age, race, height, fat mass (kg), and pre-task anxiety. Similarly, youth with LOC eating did not differ in attention bias to non-threatening happy cues compared to youth without LOC eating [F(1, 30) = .02, p = .90] when covarying for age, race, height, fat mass (kg), and pre-task anxiety. When considered as an additional covariate, depressive symptoms were not significant in either the model with angry bias (p=.96) or happy bias (p=.80). See Table 7 for fully summarized results.

Results of Aim 2

Aim 2

To examine if differences in attention bias to social threat and neural activation are related to energy intake at a laboratory meal.

Hypothesis 2a: Greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. angry bias), but not nonthreating cues (i.e. happy bias), will be associated with greater energy intake.

Results of Hypothesis 2a: The overall model for total energy intake, with attentional threat bias scores (i.e. angry bias) as the IV, total energy (kcal) intake as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates, was not significant

 $[F(7, 28) = 2.08, p=.08, R^2_{adj} = .18]$, and attention bias to angry threat-cues was not significantly related to greater total energy intake (β =-0.18, p=.27). Attention bias for angry threat-cues was also not significantly related to any percentage macronutrient variables, including percentage of energy consumed from protein (β =-0.23, p=.21), fats (β =-0.23, p=.21), or carbohydrates (β =0.27, p=.14). Similarly, attention bias for happy face cues was not significantly related to total energy intake (β =-0.06, p=.73), or to any percentage macronutrient variables, including percentage of energy consumed from protein (β =0.12, p=.51), fats (β =-0.15, p=.40), or carbohydrates (β =0.09, p=.65). When considered as an additional covariate, depressive symptoms were not a significant predictor in any Aim 2a models (ps>.21). See Table 8 for fully summarized results.

Hypothesis 2b: Increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. insula, striatum, amygdala), and blunted activation of "topdown" attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) in response to social threat cues will be associated with greater energy intake.

Results of Hypothesis 2b: When controlling for age, race, height, percentage fat mass, lean mass (kg), and pubertal status, engagement in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing was not significantly related to total energy intake (kcal), which included the amygdala [$(F(1, 27) = .02, \beta = .03, p = .88)$], insula [$(F(1, 27) = 1.00, \beta = .18, p = .33)$], or striatum [$(F(1, 27) = 1.14, \beta = .19, p = .30)$]. Similarly, activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions was not significantly related to total energy intake, which included the anterior cingulate cortex [$(F(1, 27) = 1.53, \beta = .21, p = .23)$], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$], medial prefrontal cortex [$(F(1, 27) = .65, \beta = .14, p = .43)$] = 2.61, β =.27, p=.12)], or ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [($F(1, 27) = .25, \beta$ =.09, p=.62)]. See Table 9 for fully summarized results.

With regard to percentage of energy consumed from protein, there was a negative significant relationship with amygdala activation during attention-deployment [(F(1, 27) = 7.79, β =.51, p=.01)], which did survive the correction threshold of p = .01. There were no other significant relationships between engagement in areas involved in anxiety processing and percentage of energy consumed from protein, including the insula [(F(1, 27) = .24, β =-.10, p=.63)] or striatum [(F(1, 27) = .38, β =-.13, p=.54)]. Similarly, activation of affect regulation regions was not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from protein, which included the anterior cingulate cortex [(F(1, 27) = .15, β =-.28, p=.15)], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [(F(1, 27) = .78, β =-.18, p=.39)], medial prefrontal cortex [(F(1, 27) = .11, β =-.31, p=.11)], or ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [(F(1, 27) = .01, β =-.02, p=.91)].

Engagement in areas and areas involved in anxiety processing was not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from fats, which included the amygdala [($F(1, 27) = 2.88, \beta = .33, p = .10$)], insula [($F(1, 27) = .14, \beta = .08, p = .71$)], or striatum [($F(1, 27) = .58, \beta = .-15, p = .45$)]. Similarly, activation of affect regulation regions was not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from fats, which included the anterior cingulate cortex [($F(1, 27) = 1.04, \beta = ..19, p = .32$)], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [($F(1, 27) = ..91, \beta = ..19, p = ..35$)], medial prefrontal cortex [($F(1, 27) = 1.57, \beta = ..24, p = .22$)], or ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [($F(1, 27) = ..91, \beta = ..19, p = ..35$)], medial prefrontal cortex [($F(1, 27) = 1.57, \beta = ..24, p = .22$)], or ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [($F(1, 27) = ..91, \beta = ..19, p = ..35$)].

In the examination of percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates, there was a positive marginally significant relationship with amygdala activation during attentiondeployment [(F(1, 27) = 5.33, β =-.44, p=.03)], although it did not survive the correction threshold of p = .01. There were no other significant relationships between areas involved in anxiety processing and percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates, including insula $[(F(1, 27) = .02, \beta=-.03, p=.90)]$, or striatum $[(F(1, 27) = .66, \beta=.17, p=.43)]$. Similarly, affect regulation regions were not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates, including the anterior cingulate cortex $[(F(1, 27) = 1.71, \beta=.25, p=.20)]$, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex $[(F(1, 27) = 1.08, \beta=.21, p=.31)]$, medial prefrontal cortex $[(F(1, 27) = 2.44, \beta=.30, p=.13)]$, or ventrolateral prefrontal cortex $[(F(1, 27) = .002, \beta=.01, p=.96)]$.

When considered as an additional covariate, depressive symptoms were not significant in any of the Aim 2b models (ps>.35).

Results of Aim 3

Aim 3

To examine if LOC eating moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural activation of anxiety regions and differences in intake at a laboratory test meal.

Hypothesis 3a: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat (i.e. angry bias) and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly related with energy intake.

Results of Hypothesis 3a: In a generalized linear model adjusting for age, race, height, pubertal status, percentage fat mass, and lean mass, attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to total energy intake (kcal) $[F(1, 26) = 1.76, p = .20, \eta_p^2 = .06]$. The main effect of LOC eating was marginally significantly related to total energy intake $[F(1, 26) = 4.19, p = .05, \eta_p^2 = .14]$. The interaction of LOC eating and attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to total energy intake $[F(1, 26) = .62, p = .44, \eta_p^2 = .02]$. See Table 10 for fully summarized results.

For percentage of energy consumed from protein, the was no significant relationship with attention bias to social threat $[F(1, 26) = 1.61, p = .22, \eta_p^2 = .06]$, or LOC eating $[F(1, 26) = .81, p = .38, \eta_p^2 = .03]$. The interaction of LOC eating and attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from protein $[F(1, 26) = .06, p = .82, \eta_p^2 < .01]$.

For percentage of energy consumed from fats, the was no significant relationship with attention bias to social threat $[F(1, 26) = .98, p = .33, \eta_p^2 = .04]$, or LOC eating $[F(1, 26) = .43, p = .52, \eta_p^2 = .02]$. The interaction of LOC eating and attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from protein $[F(1, 26) = 2.43, p = .13, \eta_p^2 = .09]$.

For percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates, the was no significant relationship with attention bias to social threat $[F(1, 26) = 1.59, p = .22, \eta_p^2 = .06]$, or LOC eating $[F(1, 26) = .68, p = .42, \eta_p^2 = .03]$. The interaction of LOC eating and attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to percentage of energy consumed from protein $[F(1, 26) = 1.34, p = .26, \eta_p^2 = .05]$.

Similarly, the interaction between LOC eating and attention bias to happy faces was not significant for total energy intake $[F(1, 26) = 1.07, p = .31, \eta_p^2 = .04]$, or for any of the macronutrient variables, including percentage of energy consumed from protein $[F(1, 26) = .57, p = .46, \eta_p^2 = .02]$, fats $[F(1, 26) = 1.54, p = .23, \eta_p^2 = .06]$, or carbohydrates $[F(1, 26) = 1.49, p = .23, \eta_p^2 = .05]$. When considered as an additional covariate in secondary analyses, depressive symptoms did not significantly contribute in any of the models (ps > .26).

Hypothesis 3b: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between increased activation of anxiety processing regions, and blunted engagement of affect regulation

regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, increased activation of anxiety processing regions and blunted activation of affect regulation regions will be more robustly associated with energy intake.

Results of Hypothesis 3b: In the generalized linear models for total energy intake (kcal) adjusting for age, race, height, pubertal status, percentage fat mass, and lean mass, the interaction of LOC eating and activation of anxiety processing regions was not significant, which included the interaction of LOC eating with the amygdala [$F(1, 25) = .09, p = .77, \eta_p^2 < .01$], insula [$F(1, 25) = .57, p = .46, \eta_p^2 = .02$], and striatum [$F(1, 25) = 1.05, p = .32, \eta_p^2 = .04$]. The interaction of LOC eating and engagement of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues was not significant for total energy intake, which included the interaction of LOC eating and the anterior cingulate cortex [$F(1, 25) = .48, p = .49, \eta_p^2 = .02$], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [$F(1, 25) = .43, p = .52, \eta_p^2 = .02$], medial prefrontal cortex [$F(1, 25) = 1.16, p = .29, \eta_p^2 = .04$], and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [$F(1, 25) = 1.00, p = .33, \eta_p^2 = .04$]. See Table 11 for fully summarized results.

For percentage of energy consumed from protein, there was no significant interaction of LOC eating and activation of anxiety processing regions, which included the interaction of LOC eating with the amygdala [F(1, 25) = 2.42, p = .13, $\eta_p^2 = .09$], insula [F(1, 25) = .24, p = .63, $\eta_p^2 = .01$], and striatum [F(1, 25) = .13, p = .72, $\eta_p^2 = .01$]. The interaction of LOC eating and engagement of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues was not significant for percentage of energy consumed from protein, which included the interaction of LOC eating and the anterior cingulate cortex [F(1, 25) = .66, p = .42, $\eta_p^2 = .03$], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [F(1, 25) = .15, p = .29, $\eta_p^2 = .04$], medial prefrontal cortex [F(1, 25) < .01, p = .99, $\eta_p^2 < .001$], and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [F(1, 25) = .01, p = .94, $\eta_p^2 < .001$].

For percentage of energy consumed from fats, there was no significant interaction of LOC eating and activation of anxiety processing regions, which included the interaction of LOC eating with the amygdala [F(1, 25) = 1.47, p = .24, $\eta_p^2 = .06$], insula [F(1, 25) < .01, p = .98, $\eta_p^2 < .001$], and striatum [F(1, 25) = .12, p = .74, $\eta_p^2 = .01$]. The interaction of LOC eating and engagement of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues was not significant for percentage of energy consumed from fats, which included the interaction of LOC eating and the anterior cingulate cortex [F(1, 25) = 1.41, p = .25, $\eta_p^2 = .05$], dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [F(1, 25) = 1.21, p = .28, $\eta_p^2 = .05$], medial prefrontal cortex [F(1, 25) = .01, p = .94, $\eta_p^2 < .001$], and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex [F(1, 25) = .51, p = .48, $\eta_p^2 = .02$].

For percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates, there was no significant interaction of LOC eating and activation of anxiety processing regions, which included the interaction of LOC eating with the amygdala $[F(1, 25) = 2.12, p = .16, \eta_p^2 = .08]$, insula $[F(1, 25) = .03, p = .86, \eta_p^2 < .01]$, and striatum $[F(1, 25) = .15, p = .70, \eta_p^2 = .01]$. The interaction of LOC eating and engagement of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues was not significant for percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates, which included the interaction of LOC eating and the anterior cingulate cortex $[F(1, 25) = 1.60, p = .22, \eta_p^2 = .06]$, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex $[F(1, 25) = 1.52, p = .23, \eta_p^2 = .06]$, medial prefrontal cortex $[F(1, 25) = .01, p = .92, \eta_p^2 < .001]$, and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex $[F(1, 25) = .38, p = .54, \eta_p^2 = .02]$.

When considered as an additional covariate in secondary analyses, depressive symptoms did not significantly contribute in any of the models (ps > .29).

Exploratory Aim 4

To examine whether state anxiety mediates the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake.

Hypothesis 4: State anxiety will partially mediate the relationship between increased activation of anxiety processing regions and blunted activation of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that increased activation of anxiety processing regions and decreased activation of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues will partially explain increases in state anxiety, which will partially explain increases energy intake.

Results of Exploratory Aim 4: Mediation findings are summarized in Table 12. Neural activity was not significantly associated with state anxiety for any of the regions of interest, including the following: amygdala (a = -1.30, SE = 2.91, p = .66); insula (a = -2.55, SE = 3.00, p = .40); striatum (a = -1.00, SE = 4.08, p = .81); anterior cingulate cortex (a = 2.23, SE = 2.50, p = .38); dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (a = 0.89, SE = 3.88, p = .82); medial prefrontal cortex (a = 1.48, SE = 3.15, p = .64); ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (a = 0.39, SE = 4.73, p = .94). State anxiety was not significantly associated with total energy intake in any of the mediation models (b path ps > .78).

State anxiety did not significantly mediate the relationship between neural activity and total energy intake for any of the regions of interest, including the following: amygdala (ab = 1.44, SE = 48.45, 95% bias-corrected confidence interval (CI) = [-70.32, 133.85]); insula (ab = -2.75, SE = 61.20, 95% CI = [-166.00, 98.50]); striatum (ab = 0.55, SE = 81.92, 95% CI = [-

122.29, 222.86]); anterior cingulate cortex (ab = -7.62, SE = 44.17, 95% CI = [-114.92, 67.91]); dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (ab = -1.74, SE = 73.29, 95% CI = [-156.93, 145.53]); medial prefrontal cortex (ab = -4.41, SE = 48.27, 95% CI = [-117.42, 83.40]); ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (ab = -0.49, SE = 63.42, 95% CI = [-88.19, 167.04]).

Exploratory Aim 5

To examine whether anxiety sensitivity moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions.

Hypothesis 5: Anxiety sensitivity will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat and increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, such that among those with greater anxiety sensitivity, attention bias to social threat will be more robustly associated with activation of "bottom-up" anxiety processing regions.

Results of Exploratory Aim 5: As stated in the previous power analysis section, due to the limitations of social distancing and stay-at-home orders during the COVID-19 pandemic, recruitment was truncated, resulting in less data collected than expected, particularly for the Anxiety Sensitivity Index (ASI), for which data collection began after the initiation of the original protocol. Forty-five of the 55 participants were missing ASI data, and of the ten participants with valid data, listwise there were only five participants with both ASI data and other outcome variables of interest. As a result, the general linear model was not able to yield results as expected due to the small *n*. No results can be reported or interpreted related to Exploratory Aim 5.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

The objective of the current study was to determine the relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activation implicated in social anxiety and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal in youth with overweight or obesity, with and without loss-of-control (LOC) eating. Further, this investigation examined whether LOC eating moderated the relationships between attention bias to social threat and neural activation of anxiety regions and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal. Given that loss-of-control (LOC) eating in youth is highly comorbid with anxiety (14; 100; 101; 124; 165; 182; 246), a better understanding of the neural underpinnings involved in the links between LOC eating and anxiety could aid in the development of novel targets for reducing excess intake that leads to obesity and obesity-related health comorbidities. The following sections will highlight the results and interpretation of findings for each of the primary study aims.

SAMPLE CHARACTERISTICS

The study sample (N = 55) consisted entirely of adolescent females, all of whom had overweight or obesity. The subsample of participants with usable data (N = 38) did not significantly differ on any sample characteristics. Individuals who identified as non-Hispanic Black were overrepresented in this study, comprising almost half of the study sample versus approximately 13% of the U.S. population, while individuals who were non-Hispanic White were markedly underrepresented, comprising 27.3% of the study sample versus approximately 60% of the U.S. population. However, among U.S. youth between the ages of 2 and 19 years old, the odds of obesity are higher among non-Hispanic Black children and adolescents compared to non-Hispanic White children and adolescents (177), which may account for the demographic breakdown of the current study sample that was recruited for the BMI range constituting

overweight or obesity. Taken together, the study sample represents a racially and ethnically diverse subset of adolescent girls with overweight or obesity.

Almost one-third (29.1%) of the current sample of youth reported the presence of at least one episode of LOC eating within the past month, which is consistent with population estimates finding that, across studies, approximately 31% of youth with overweight or obesity report LOC eating (116). There were no significant differences between groups of girls with and without LOC eating on racial or ethnic demographic characteristics. This finding is consistent with past research (48; 100; 220), which has demonstrated a similar prevalence of LOC eating or binge eating between African-American and Caucasian youth. Although some measures to assess LOC eating have been validated among minority groups (17) (most notably, the EDE, which was utilized in the current study), some pediatric studies have utilized assessments for disordered or binge eating that have been validated in primarily Caucasian samples (126). It is important for future research to continue to rigorously validate assessment methodology for LOC eating among minority samples of youth.

There were no significant differences between those with and without LOC eating on reported anxiety, which contradicts past literature finding that youth with LOC eating have significantly elevated trait anxiety symptoms above and beyond the contribution of excess body weight or fat (223). However, this discrepancy may be a result of the smaller than anticipated sample size in the current study, compared to larger sample sizes used in past research for similar analyses (223). Anxiety disorders are commonly observed prior to the onset of disordered eating behaviors and clinical eating disorders (18; 131). It is possible that, given study criteria excluded any youth with presence of a significant, full-threshold psychiatric disorder that may have impeded completion of the study, the current sample was not clinically severe enough for these

relationships to emerge. Given the small sample size, these comparisons between groups with and without LOC eating should be interpreted with caution and should be replicated among larger samples in future studies.

AIM 1: ATTENTION BIAS TO SOCIAL THREAT AND NEURAL ACTIVITY AMONG YOUTH WITH AND WITHOUT LOC EATING

Aim 1 examined the relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activity in anxiety processing regions among youth, as well as differences in these constructs between youth with and without LOC eating. Results from Aim 1 revealed that dot-probe attention bias score to social threat was not significantly related to engagement in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture in areas involved in anxiety processing, or activation of "topdown" attention deployment in affect regulation regions. Similarly, attention bias to happy faces was not significantly related to neural activation in any of the regions of interest. These results did not support the hypothesis that greater attention bias to social threat would be associated with increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture in areas involved in anxiety processing, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment in affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues. Further, results of Aim 1 revealed that youth with LOC eating did not exhibit significantly greater attention bias to angry social threat cues compared to youth without LOC eating. Youth with LOC eating also did not display differences in attention bias to non-threatening happy cues compared to youth without LOC eating. These findings did not support the hypothesis that youth with LOC eating would exhibit greater attention bias to social threat cues, but not to non-threatening cues, compared to youth without LOC eating.

Within the attentional bias framework, implicit attention biases are thought to be a result of hyperactivation in stimulus-driven "bottom-up" neural regions upon exposure to salient cues

(170; 190), while hypoactivation in implicated neural regions during voluntary "top-down" attentional deployment may result in persistent attention deployment and impact attentional bias (57; 58; 192). In line with this framework, the current study proposed that attention bias to social threat cues would relate to hyperactivation in "bottom-up" regions implicated in unconscious attention capture and social anxiety processing, and blunted activation in "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions, which would in turn influence LOC eating in order to reduce the neural underpinnings of anxiety through overeating behaviors. This theoretical framework was not supported by the results of Aim 1, which may be due in part to several study limitations. Not only was the sample size reduced due to the pandemic-related social-distancing and stay-at-home orders, but there were also missing attention bias task data for a number of participants due to excessive task errors. These excessive errors may indicate that some participants might not have understood the dot-probe task instructions or perhaps found the task boring and had difficulty focusing for sustained periods. Individual differences in task engagement and motivation have been shown to moderate the efficacy of dot-probe tasks (162; 225). The further diminished sample size for analyses involving the dot-probe task due to issues involving excessive errors may have impacted the results. Future research should examine the relationships between dot-probe task attention bias to threat and neural activation related to anxiety among a larger sample of adolescents or using potentially more engaging and motivating approaches, such as incorporation of game-like elements (25; 187).

Attention bias to social threat cues has been shown to be positively related to pediatric anxiety symptoms (1), and given the well-established relationship between pediatric anxiety and LOC eating (100; 165), it was hypothesized that youth with LOC eating would have an increased attention bias to socially threatening stimuli (112), similar to that of youth with anxiety.

However, this hypothesis was also not supported by the results of Aim 1. These findings may have differed from the prior literature due to methodological discrepancies in the approach to capture attention bias to threat. Prior studies examining attention bias to threat among adult women with eating disorders have primarily utilized an emotional Stroop attention bias task (112; 113), rather than a dot-probe task as in the current study. The emotional Stroop task, although widely used, has been criticized for its lack of specificity in determining which processes are attributable to the increased reaction times for salient stimuli, and the task does not allow for investigation into specific mechanisms of hypervigilance versus avoidance patterns to threat-based stimuli (13). Further, the emotional Stroop task has lacked consistency in its use of control stimuli across studies, and similar effects have been found across both clinical and nonclinical samples (152), suggesting a lack of discriminant validity. These task limitations may partially account for the discrepancies observed between prior literature and the current findings on attention bias to socially threatening cues among youth with and without LOC eating. It is also possible that a different pattern of findings may have emerged with recruitment of a larger sample of adolescents with and without LOC eating. However, the current data suggest that attention bias to social threat is not more pronounced among youth with LOC eating compared to those without.

Dot-Probe Reliability

In addition to sample size limitations, the current findings regarding attention bias scores on the dot-probe task and neural activation in implicated brain regions may have differed if other approaches to capture attention bias had been utilized. Although widely used and supported by the literature for its discriminant validity in distinguishing between clinical and non-clinical groups (e.g. anxious and non-anxious youth) (16), the test-retest reliability of the dot-probe task

has been called into question (195; 213; 278). The design of the dot-probe attentional bias task assumes a stable, trait-like bias underlies attention towards salient stimuli, and that this bias can be accurately summarized with a single calculated score. However, some research has found that contextual factors, such as mood state (16), have been shown to influence performance on the dot-probe task, suggesting it may be dynamic rather than trait-like. Attention may also diminish over the course of the task, due to factors such as habituation or boredom, which could contribute to variations in attentional bias score within and between trials (9; 195). Attention bias scores that are captured using button-press reaction times, as in dot-probe tasks, have several inherent technical limitations that could contribute to errors that diminish reliability. Speed of buttonpressing can be influenced by a variety of factors that do not pertain to the underlying attentional bias cognitive construct, such as response selection latency or technical equipment failures (195).

Given the reliability concerns raised in relation to the dot-probe task, a post-hoc exploratory reliability analysis was conducted with data collected from the current sample. First, the internal consistency, or Cronbach's α , was analyzed for the total raw reaction times across all face-cue trial types, as well as the correlation between the averaged raw reaction times for each face-cue category. Subsequently, the split-half reliability of the derived dot-probe bias scores was analyzed by splitting the raw trial reaction times into even and odd trials and re-calculating separate bias scores. The correlation between the newly derived even and odd trial bias scores were correlated; with the expectation that a highly reliable bias score would yield high correlations.

The results of the reliability analysis showed that the internal consistency of the raw reaction times was high (Cronbach's $\alpha > .95$), and the correlation of averaged reaction times was also high (pearson's r > .85). The high internal consistency results for the raw trial data suggests

that those who responded quickly on the task consistently responded quickly, and those who had slow button-presses were consistently slow. This indicator that the *task* itself is highly reliable is positive for interpretation of the MEG-related aims and results that utilized trial-level derived measurements of neural activity. The results of the split-half reliability analysis of the even and odd trial-derived bias scores, however, was poor to moderate (Pearson's *rs* range = -.03 - .31). This result is an indicator that the formula used to calculate the bias score is unreliable, and that the project aims and results involving the attention bias score should be interpreted with caution.

The underlying problem related to the formula for calculating bias scores is a mathematical consequence of the logic of derived difference scores. When using a linear composite score that relies on the difference of two highly correlated components, the composite score's resulting reliability is a function of the reliability of each component score and the magnitude of the correlation between these components. The magnitude of the correlation between the components either increases or decreases the reliability of the composite, depending on whether you add or subtract the components. When one adds highly correlated components together, the resulting composite score is even higher in reliability. When one subtracts highly correlated components, however, as is the case for dot-probe bias scores, the reliability of the resulting composite score decreases, resulting in much weaker reliability than either component alone. Given these mathematical reliability concerns of the dot-probe bias score, alternate methodologies to capture attention bias should be considered in future research.

Dot-probe tasks were originally designed within the cognitive psychology domain to make inferences about cognition (i.e. attention bias) based on overt behaviors (i.e. reaction times); however, more recently developed methodologies may better capture the underlying cognitive construct. One such methodology is eye-tracking. While eye-tracking methodology has

shown convergent validity with dot-probe attention bias tasks (169), it has been shown to outperform dot-probe tasks in reliability indices (195; 278). Intuitively, eye-tracking can better encapsulate the visual component involved in cognitive processing of attentional allocation to threat cues. Unlike motor-response button presses, eye-tracking techniques can provide a more direct measurement of participant's gaze patterns as an indicator of overt visual attention bias to threat, which makes it a more appealing option for future studies. Although the larger protocol for the current study did include eye-tracking methods, unfortunately this data was subject to excessive technical equipment failures; and in combination with pandemic-related barriers, eyetracking data was even further severely underpowered than data collected for the current aims. Future research should re-examine the relationships between attention bias to threat and bottomup and top-down neural activation patterns using alternate, optimally reliable methodologies, such as eye-tracking techniques, in order to determine the underlying neurocognitive mechanism of attentional bias and how it may contribute to psychopathology.

Given the dearth of literature exploring the relationship between attention bias to social threat and LOC eating, future research should replicate this study using a larger sample and optimally reliable methodologies to determine whether attention bias to social threat may be a potential mechanism for the relationship between social anxiety and overeating behaviors in youth with LOC eating.

AIM 2: ATTENTION BIAS TO SOCIAL THREAT, NEURAL ACTIVITY, AND ENERGY INTAKE

Results from Aim 2 revealed that dot-probe attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to greater total energy intake, nor was it significantly related to any percentage of macronutrient variables, including percentage of energy consumed from protein, fats, or carbohydrates. Similarly, dot-probe attention bias for non-threatening happy face cues

was not significantly related to total energy intake, nor to any percentage of macronutrient variables. These results did not support the hypothesis that greater scores of attention bias to social threat cues, but not non-threating cues, would be associated with greater energy intake. It is possible that a significant relationship between dot-probe attention bias and total energy intake may have emerged with recruitment of a larger sample of adolescents, as the current sample was underpowered to detect small-to-medium effects. As discussed for Aim 1, the dot-probe task reliability limitations (195; 213; 278) may have impacted the findings between attention bias to socially threatening cues and energy intake, and it is possible that different results may have emerged with use of a more optimally reliable measurement of attention bias, such as eye tracking methodologies (195; 278).

Regarding neural activation patterns in Aim 2, neural activation during "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture in areas involved in anxiety processing was not significantly related to total energy intake. Similarly, activation during "top-down" attention deployment in affect regulation regions did not show a significant relationship with total energy intake. Overall, the results of Aim 2 did not support the primary hypothesis that increased activation during "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture in anxiety processing regions, and blunted activation during "top-down" attention deployment in affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues would relate to greater total energy intake. It is possible that using the visual dot-probe task design as a marker of exposure to social threat may have accounted for the lack of significant findings related to total energy intake. One small fMRI study examining the role of anxiety in the interpersonal model of LOC eating utilized an alternate social threat design, referred to as a 'chatroom social threat paradigm' (125). This study had several similarities to the current project, in that its' sample consisted of adolescent girls with overweight or obesity, and the girls

participated in an objective laboratory buffet lunch test meal immediately following the neuroimaging session, however the social threat chatroom paradigm differed in design. Prior to the fMRI scan, participants were told prior to the task that they would be "chatting online with peers," and they were asked to select peers with whom they were and were not interested in chatting based on online "profiles." Then, while participants were in the scanner, it was revealed who was and was not interested in chatting with them. This reveal of rejection from their peers was intended to simulate the stress involved in peer interactions (125). It may be that actual simulated rejection from peers of a similar age to the participants, as opposed to simple exposure to angry adult face cues, could have elicited a more salient response in the current study as it relates to total energy intake. These task design considerations will be important to take into account for future studies exploring the role of social threat in relation to anxiety and overeating.

The nature of the laboratory buffet test meal allowed for exploratory analyses of more specific macronutrient variables in relation to neural activation patterns (i.e. percentage of energy consumed from protein, fats, and carbohydrates). There was a significant relationship showing that greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment related to a lower percentage of energy consumed from protein. There was also a marginally significant relationship showing that greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment related to greater percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates. There were no other notable relationships between bottom-up or top-down neural activation in regions of interest and macronutrient content. These analyses examining macronutrient variables in relation to neural activation patterns were exploratory, thus no specific hypotheses were formulated a priori regarding the directionality of relationships between neural activation and percentage of energy consumed from protein, carbohydrates, or fats. As such, these findings should be interpreted with

caution. Further, the sample size was limited given the pandemic-related recruitment barriers, which lends additional reason to interpret the following findings with caution.

Greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment related to a lower percentage of energy consumed from protein and a marginally significant greater percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates. This pattern of eating is consistent with prior LOC eating literature examining laboratory eating behaviors among those at high risk for overeating and excess weight gain. Youth with LOC eating tend to display eating patterns involving lower protein consumption and greater consumption of highly palatable foods, such as carbohydrates (252), during laboratory meal studies. Further, lower protein consumption and greater consumption of carbohydrates has been shown to relate to facets of negative affect, such as anxiety, among youth with LOC eating (43; 201) such that greater negative affect predicts lower percentage of intake from protein and greater percentage of intake from carbohydrates in the laboratory. This prior literature is consistent with the current neural activation pattern findings in the amygdala, which is a prominent anxiety processing region and may provide insights into an underlying neural mechanism for the relationship between negative affect and a maladaptive eating pattern that could contribute to excess weight gain. Lower protein consumption has been shown to be associated with lower satiety following a meal, which may conceivably contribute to subsequent overeating behaviors and increased overall energy intake as youth fail to become fully satiated (181; 214; 287). Alternately, highly palatable dessert-type foods, which are typically high in carbohydrates and/or fats, are often referred to as "comfort foods"; and according to affect theory of binge eating (136), individuals seek "comfort" and reduction of negative affect through overeating behaviors and consumption of these highly palatable foods. Prospectively, this pattern of consumption of lower protein and greater amounts of highly

palatable foods may serve as a mechanism for excess weight gain or development of fullsyndrome binge-eating disorder (252). Notably, percentage of energy consumed from fats was not significantly related to greater amygdala activation during attention deployment, nor any other neural activation patterns. Some prior studies in the pediatric disinhibited eating literature have also seen this similar pattern, finding that consumption of less protein and greater carbohydrates, but not fats, relates to LOC eating (252; 267). It is possible the lack of findings related to fat intake may be due in part to the composition of the laboratory buffet test meal used in the current study. The test meal array included some dessert-type foods that were high in carbohydrate but low in fat, such as jelly beans, as opposed to highly palatable dessert-type foods that are high in both carbohydrates and fats, such as ice cream (252). Although the laboratory buffet test meal used in the current study included foods typically considered palatable by youth (252), it is possible that the nature of a single laboratory test meal may not reflect youths' patterns of eating in the natural environment, thus potentially limiting the ecological validity of this paradigm. In isolation, however, results suggested that greater amygdala activation during attention deployment related to lower percentage of energy consumed from protein, and higher percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates. Although findings should be interpreted with caution for the reasons discussed, these cross-sectional data are a first step in supporting this potential mechanism.

While findings regarding the macronutrient intake pattern of lower protein and higher carbohydrate consumption were theoretically consistent with prior literature, the timing of the attention capture versus attention deployment neural activation pattern was somewhat unexpected. In line with Aim 1, it was hypothesized that neural activity-related results would reflect a "vigilance-avoidance pattern" of attentional bias, such that youth would display a

stimulus-driven automatic orientation of attention ("bottom-up") toward threatening stimuli (55), which would align with immediate hyperactivation in anxiety processing regions, and alternately would be followed by hypoactivation in affect regulation regions and a deployed attentional shift ("top-down") away from threatening stimuli as an avoidance behavior. This theoretical vigilance-avoidance framework has been observed among youth with anxiety disorders, such that anxiety symptoms are associated with stimulus-driven automatic orientation of attention to threatening stimuli (55) alternately followed by a shift of attention in line with goal-oriented behavior such as avoidance of threatening stimuli. The "avoidance phase" during attention deployment has been theorized to serve as an attempt to minimize distress (71; 156), but could ultimately prove maladaptive in that avoidance can impair habituation to distressing cues and result in a perpetuation of anxiety over time. In Aim 2, this particular neural activation pattern was hypothesized to relate to greater overall energy intake, which could potentially be extended to maladaptive eating patterns of greater carbohydrate and lesser protein intake that would reflect risk for excess weight gain. More specifically, it was expected that anxiety processing regions, such as the amygdala, would exhibit hyperactivation during the attention capture period, not the attention deployment period, and that this activation would relate to maladaptive eating patterns. However, this pattern was not supported by data from the current study, and instead, amygdala hyperactivation during the attention *deployment* period related to the observed maladaptive intake patterns. Further, none of the affect regulation regions of interest (i.e. anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex), which were expected to exhibit hypoactivation during attention deployment, were significant in any of the models. This may suggest that difficulties in affect regulation in response to social threat is not a prominent underlying mechanism for the relationship between social anxiety and

LOC eating behaviors. Overall, the amygdala activation pattern during the attention deployment period, as opposed to the attention capture period, indicates that there was no "avoidance" per se as suggested in the vigilance-avoidance framework, and instead there may have been a sustained attentional deployment *toward* threat. Thus, current findings may suggest that hyperactivation in a prominent anxiety processing region, the amygdala, during sustained attention deployment toward socially threatening cues may contribute to maladaptive eating patterns.

Although these results should be interpreted with caution due to their exploratory nature and the sample size limitations of the current study, the findings are in line with the interpersonal theory of binge eating. Increased prolonged attendance toward socially distressing stimuli may contribute to heightened social distress, and subsequently maladaptive overeating patterns and LOC eating may serve as an attempt to cope with the uncomfortable resulting negative affective states (258). Adolescents (96), and girls in particular (209; 243), as well as individuals with obesity across the lifespan (4), experience exacerbated vulnerability to social stressors, which may make the composition of the current sample uniquely susceptible to this potential interpersonal mechanism for overeating. Taken together, in line with interpersonal theory and the attentional bias literature, the current findings indicate that a potential mechanism for maladaptive eating patterns among girls with overweight may be heightened activation in anxiety processing neural regions due to sustained attentional deployment toward socially threatening cues. A more rigorous exploration of this potential mechanism is warranted given the dearth of literature on the relationship between social anxiety and overeating behaviors. If this mechanistic pattern continues to be supported by future studies, these findings could potentially inform clinical approaches to reduce hyper-attendance to social threat that could contribute to overeating and excess weight gain among youth with symptoms of social anxiety.

AIM 3: LOC EATING MODERATION OF ATTENTION BIAS TO SOCIAL THREAT, NEURAL ACTIVITY, AND ENERGY INTAKE

Results from Aim 3 revealed that the main effect of LOC eating was marginally significantly related to total energy intake. However, in relation to the primary analysis of Aim 3, the interaction of LOC eating and attention bias to social threat was not significantly related to total energy intake, contrary to hypotheses. Similarly, there was no significant interaction between attention bias to threat and LOC eating on any of the macronutrient variables. These findings did not support the hypothesis that the presence of LOC eating would moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, attention bias to social threat would be more robustly related with energy intake. Additionally, the interaction of LOC eating and neural activation in regions of interest was not significant for total energy intake or any macronutrient variables. These findings did not support the hypothesis that the presence of LOC eating would moderate the relationship between increased activation of anxiety processing regions, and blunted engagement of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, increased activation of anxiety processing regions and blunted activation of affect regulation regions would be more robustly associated with energy intake.

Among this sample of adolescent girls with overweight or obesity, the main effect of LOC eating was marginally significant in relation to total energy intake. This finding is in line with a robust literature linking LOC eating with maladaptive food intake patterns. Compared to their counterparts without LOC eating, youth with LOC eating have been shown to consume more energy (120) and more highly-palatable foods (106; 252). Moreover, an independent but similar sample among only girls with overweight or obesity also found a significant relationship

between LOC eating and increased energy consumption at a laboratory test meal designed to elicit binge eating (252). If analyzed among a larger sample, the results from the current study could suggest a trend toward a more robustly significant relationship between LOC eating and greater total energy intake among adolescent girls with overweight or obesity. While fullsyndrome BED does not typically manifest until later adolescence or adulthood (235), LOC eating behaviors typically emerge during adolescence (247). At least half of youth who report LOC eating will persist in engaging in the behavior over time, identifying LOC eating as a key risk factor for later development of partial or full-syndrome BED (118; 254). Further, LOC eating has been prospectively associated with excessive weight gain (83; 230; 260) and greater risk for gains in adiposity (248) among youth. The early onset and persistent course of LOC eating suggest it may be a particularly salient target for early intervention in youth who are vulnerable for excess weight gain and associated adverse health comorbidities.

Neither attention bias to threat nor neural activation in regions of interest significantly interacted with LOC eating for total energy intake or any macronutrient variable. As discussed previously, results of Aim 1 suggested that youth with LOC eating did not, in fact, exhibit significantly greater attention bias to angry social threat cues compared to youth without LOC eating. Attention bias models have proposed that socially stressful situations trigger an increased attendance to potential socially threatening cues (13), particularly among those with LOC eating. As such, it was thought that attention bias to threat may be a potential mechanism for the relationship between social anxiety and overeating behaviors among youth with LOC eating in particular. Prior studies in adult samples have supported the link between attention bias to socially threatening stimuli and increased risk for disordered eating attitudes and behaviors (112; 113); however, these studies also utilized an emotional Stroop task to capture attentional bias,

which has several limitations as discussed previously. It is possible the relationship between attention bias to threat and LOC eating behaviors may not emerge until later in adulthood, which could account for the lack of findings in the current sample of adolescents. It is also possible that recruitment of a larger sample of adolescents with and without LOC eating may have resulted in different findings. Outcomes of the current study should be interpreted with caution, and future research should replicate this question among a larger, adequately powered sample.

Although beyond the scope of the current study, which focused on anxiety processing neural pathways, reward-related neural pathways may be a potential mechanism relevant to the relationship between intake and social anxiety among youth with LOC eating (24; 27; 91; 138). The theoretical framework that posits disturbances in reward processing may be implicated in the etiology of LOC eating behaviors is incentive sensitization theory (239; 289). This theory suggests that, among individuals with LOC eating, anticipatory neural reward for food increases over time, but neural reward responsivity to consumption of palatable foods decreases with repeated exposure (24). The incentive sensitization framework has been supported by past literature. For example, in an fMRI study it was found that among women with bulimia nervosa who were presented with various foods, neural regions implicated in reward-based learning and taste processing exhibited decreased activation (26), which may underlie compulsive overconsumption of food intake in order to experience the desired level of reward from eating. Moreover, individuals with obesity exhibit reduced dopamine receptors in the dorsal striatum (275; 280), which are involved in consummatory reward processing, and tend to have hypoactivation in the dorsal striatum in response to food intake that predicts gains in adiposity (236). Therefore, youth with LOC eating or excess weight may be chronically hypo-responsive to neural reward derived from consumption of food, potentially driving exponentially greater

amounts of food intake in order to reach similar levels of neural reward. While food intake generally activates neurological reward pathways that may reduce feelings of anxiety (3), a chronic hypo-responsivity to food reward may perpetuate overeating patterns as a maladaptive attempt to overcome a neurological reward deficit (36) that is exacerbated even further by heightened anxiety. Given results of the current study did not support the hypotheses that LOC eating would interact with neural activation patterns in line with attention bias to social threat to predict greater energy intake, alternate neural mechanisms, such as reward pathways, should be explored in relation to LOC eating in order to help better explain the link between social anxiety and LOC eating among vulnerable youth with excess weight.

EXPLORATORY AIM 4: STATE ANXIETY MEDIATION OF NEURAL ACTIVITY AND ENERGY INTAKE

Results of Exploratory Aim 4 revealed that state anxiety did not significantly mediate the relationship between neural activity and total energy intake for any of the regions of interest. These results did not support the exploratory hypothesis that state anxiety would partially mediate the relationship between increased activation of anxiety processing regions and blunted activation of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that increased activation of anxiety processing regions and decreased activation of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues would partially explain increases in state anxiety, which would partially explain increases energy intake. The limited sample size in the current study likely impacted the findings, as the mediation analysis was underpowered to detect small to medium effects.

Facets of state negative affect, such as anxiety and depressive symptoms, have been shown to play a critical role in overeating behaviors among youth. Results of one study among

girls found that state anxiety, but no other mood state including depression, anger, fatigue, or confusion, mediated the relationship between recent social stress and energy intake during a laboratory test meal (218). Another laboratory study among youth at high risk for obesity and with reported LOC eating found that premeal state negative affect was related to increased intake of energy-dense foods, including greater consumption of carbohydrates, dessert, and snack-type foods (201). With regard to neural activation, two studies found that state negative affect was associated with increased orbitofrontal cortex and reward system activation upon exposure to palatable, energy-dense food cues (27; 138), particularly among those reporting disinhibited eating (27). Another neuroimaging study showed that girls with LOC eating and overweight or obesity failed to engage prefrontal cortex regions implicated in emotion regulation, and subsequently engaged in increased food intake (125). Although there is consistent support for the role of state anxiety in eating within a laboratory setting, some pediatric studies utilizing more naturalistic approaches such as ecological momentary assessment have not found a direct relationship between state negative affect and LOC eating (105; 119; 200). These inconsistencies observed in the pediatric literature may be due to key differences in emotion regulation across the developmental spectrum (245). Results may have differed with a younger sample of youth as opposed to the current sample of adolescent girls. Alternately, it is possible that greater trait negative affect masks state anxiety, particularly among healthy youth who do not meet criteria for clinical levels of anxiety or depression. Among the sample in the current study, the average trait anxiety score was 34.6, which is above what some have suggested as a clinical cut-off of 32 for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children - Trait Subscale (232). Thus, youth in the current sample may experience consistent elevated trait negative affect, and as a result might be less likely to endorse increased levels of momentary state anxiety (43). Future research should

carefully distinguish between the role of state and trait anxiety on eating. Further, studies should examine the potential mediating role of state anxiety on neural engagement in regions implicated in emotion regulation and LOC eating behaviors among a larger sample of youth across the weight and developmental spectrum. However, in isolation, the results of Exploratory Aim 4 did not support the hypothesis that increased activation of anxiety processing regions and decreased activation of affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues would partially explain increases in state anxiety, which would explain increases energy intake.

STUDY STRENGTHS

The current study has several strengths. First, the sample consisted of a racially and ethnically diverse subset of adolescent girls with overweight or obesity, which improves the representativeness and generalizability of results. A well-validated semi-structured interview, the Eating Disorder Examination, was used to assess LOC eating, and is considered an optimal method for assessment of disordered eating in youth (35; 81; 261). Further, use of MEG, which has both excellent temporal and acceptable spatial resolution, was considered a strength for the current study given it is ideally suited for the temporal nature of attention bias to social threat and short-occurring activity in neural circuits involved in anxiety processing (66; 67; 111). Body composition covariates were objectively measured by trained staff using calibrated scales and stadiometers for height and weight, and DXA techniques for fat mass. Finally, the laboratory test meal is a well-validated and controlled paradigm designed to elicit a disinhibited eating episode (201; 252). This test meal design allowed for specific analysis of objective energy intake among youth with and without LOC eating in a highly controlled environment.

STUDY LIMITATIONS

This study has several notable limitations. First, due to the limitations of social distancing and stay-at-home orders during the COVID-19 pandemic, recruitment was truncated, resulting in less data collected than expected and an underpowered sample for most analyses. This recruitment barrier limits interpretation of the current findings, and thus all results were interpreted with caution. Further, there were a number of participants with missing or unusable data. An *a priori* power analysis estimated 35% attrition due to excessive movement during MRI/MEG, based on prior studies involving fMRI and MEG in youth (32; 205), which is consistent with the attrition rate due to missing data in the collected sample. Importantly, there were no differences between race, ethnicity, LOC status, age, BMI, or trait anxiety level for missing and non-missing task data; although the degree of missing data still warrants caution in interpretation of results. Additionally, the sample was restricted to only female adolescents with overweight and obesity, which limits the ability to generalize results to boys, younger children, adults, or children of healthy weight. Lack of a control group consisting of girls without overweight or obesity limits the ability to determine whether results may have differed among individuals with and without overweight and obesity, and whether the proposed mechanisms may be differentially associated in individuals with and without overweight and obesity. Additionally, given the attention bias task includes angry faces, but not other salient threat stimuli, and is specific to social threat, ability to determine associations between attention bias to other types of threats or phobias and food intake is limited. It is also possible the laboratory buffet test meal may have not accurately reflected eating in the natural environment, thus potentially limiting the ecological validity of the findings. Additional limitations include the use of cross-sectional data, which limits the ability to examine relationships between attention bias to
social threat and overeating behaviors over time, and as such, no causal conclusions can be drawn from any of the findings.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Should the current findings be supported within a larger sample, these results may have a range of potential implications for providers who treat adolescent girls with LOC eating, anxiety, or overweight. First, this study adds to the growing literature on the interpersonal theory of eating disorders, which supports the role of social distress as a driver of LOC eating behaviors and a contributor to the development of excess weight gain. According to interpersonal theory (164; 244), LOC eating may develop as a result of maladaptive coping with negative affective states, such as anxiety (218), that arise from socially distressing situations. Food consumption is then triggered as an attempt to escape from the uncomfortable affective state. This maladaptive coping strategy may be due, in part, to heightened sensitivity to incoming social cues and abnormalities in anxiety processing socio-emotional neural circuits (125; 190). Informed by the interpersonal theory framework, findings from the current study indicate that a potential mechanism for maladaptive eating patterns among girls with overweight or obesity may be heightened activation in anxiety processing neural regions due to sustained attentional deployment toward socially threatening cues. If this mechanistic pattern continues to be supported by future studies with larger samples, these findings could potentially inform clinical approaches to reduce hyper-attendance to social threat that could contribute to overeating and excess weight gain among youth with symptoms of social anxiety.

Interpersonal Psychotherapy

Interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT) is an evidence-based therapy founded in interpersonal theory that has demonstrated extensive empirical support for the treatment of eating disorders

involving bingeing behaviors. IPT is a time-limited treatment, conducted in either an individual or group format, that emphasizes the role of interpersonal factors in the onset and maintenance of binge eating behaviors. IPT operates under an assumption that interpersonal functioning is critical to psychological adjustment and social well-being (40). IPT has been adapted as a treatment for the prevention of excess weight gain for adolescents who report LOC eating (259). In this adaptation, IPT aims to link LOC eating to interpersonal concerns in order to target symptoms. Prospective three-year follow-up data for a randomized control trial of this IPT adaptation revealed that the greatest improvements in adiposity were seen among adolescent girls with high anxiety and social adjustment problems (256). Given IPT directly focuses on improving interpersonal relationships and negative mood states, assigning girls with these specific vulnerabilities to IPT for the prevention of excess weight gain may result in optimally beneficial outcomes. These important findings lend support to the relevance of social-anxiety models of LOC eating, as discussed throughout this dissertation, and thus IPT may be a highly pertinent treatment modality for the discussion of clinical implications for the current study.

IPT for the prevention of excess weight gain was specifically designed to target the needs of adolescent girls between the ages of 12 and 17 years old who are at high risk for adult obesity due to high BMI and reports of LOC eating. This target population exactly aligns with the characteristics recruited for the current sample. Moreover, given IPT centers on improving familial and peer relationships, it has been suggested that this treatment modality may be particularly salient among racial or ethnic minority groups (291). Indeed, a longitudinal randomized controlled trial comparing IPT to a general health education control found that girls belonging to ethnic and racial minority groups (primarily African-American) who were randomly assigned to IPT showed significantly greater reductions in LOC eating episodes one

year following treatment (257) compared to minority girls who were assigned to health education. These significant reductions in reported LOC eating among non-White girls persisted when girls were re-examined at three years following treatment (37). In a study in which IPT was adapted for the prevention of excess weight gain among African-American girls, it was found to be acceptable among this population (49), which is highly relevant to the current study sample which consisted of a large proportion of girls who identify as non-Hispanic Black. While IPT has shown to be particularly well-suited for populations aligned with the characteristics unique to the current sample of adolescent girls with overweight or obesity, it is also timeintensive and requires highly trained personnel, and thus may benefit from supplemental intervention approaches.

Attention Bias Modification Training Supplemental Approaches

Among individuals with binge eating behaviors, attention bias modification training, a method designed to reduced unwanted attention biases, has targeted attention bias to highly palatable foods, and has been shown to effectively reduce intake of chocolate (135; 285), or to increase biases for and intake of healthy foods (127). In practice, attention bias modification training involves a similar structure to the visual dot-probe task, with the exception of the probe replacing the neutral cue 100% of the time, as opposed to equally replacing the neutral and salient or threatening cue. Over time, this retraining should result in the individual learning how to attend away from social threat cues. As few as five attention retraining sessions have exhibited a lasting effect on reduction of attention bias to food (134). Another small study among adults with overweight or obesity and BED found that reduction in attentional bias to food was effective in reducing LOC eating episodes, eating disorder symptoms, and BMI at a follow-up three months following an attention retraining intervention (29). Notably, among youth with

overweight or obesity, decreased attention bias following just one session of attention retraining has been shown to be related to a reduction in food intake (28). In relation to anxiety disorders, and in line with the aims of current study, attention bias modification retraining has been widely utilized and has shown to be effective at reducing maladaptive attentional biases related to pediatric anxiety (75). Compared to controls, attention retraining away from threat has been shown to reduce stress reactivity (160), as well as anxiety symptoms among individuals with both social and generalized anxiety disorders (8; 9). Taken together, it is plausible that attention retraining to reduce bias to social threat could readily supplement established psychotherapies such as IPT for youth with overweight or obesity and LOC eating. As a supplemental neurocognitive intervention, attention retraining could be utilized in between weekly IPT sessions or following a 12-week IPT treatment program to bolster or prolong the positive effects of treatment and help youth continue to reduce LOC eating episodes and prevent excess weight gain. Alternately, treatment matching approaches, which involve the selection of specific therapeutic approaches that are most appropriate for a patient's needs and characteristics, may prove to be a clinically relevant alternative approach for use of attention bias modification retraining. Results from past literature are highly promising, in that just a single session of attention retraining could effectively reduce attentional bias among youth (28), making it a highly implementable and relatively undemanding supplement to more intensive clinical approaches. Additionally, attention retraining would conceivably require less time, personnel, and could offer increased accessibility compared to individual or group psychotherapeutic clinical approaches. Given the current study suggested that neural underpinnings implicated in prolonged attention bias to social threat may increase anxiety that contributes to maladaptive eating patterns, attention retraining approaches to reduce bias to social threat may be relevant to

the treatment of LOC eating and excess weight gain. Reducing attention bias to social threat may help some youth with overweight reduce their consumption of energy-dense, highly palatable foods. A better understanding of the neural underpinnings involved in the links between LOC eating and anxiety is needed in order to support these findings, and could aid in the development of more comprehensive intervention approaches for reducing excess intake that leads to obesity and related health comorbidities.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

First, as discussed previously, future studies on pediatric LOC eating and anxiety should continue to rigorously validate assessment methodology for LOC eating among minority samples of youth, particularly given the odds of obesity are higher among non-Hispanic Black children and adolescents compared to non-Hispanic White youth (177), indicating a particularly vulnerable population for adverse health outcomes that is in need of further study. Most notably, recruitment for the current study was truncated due to pandemic-related research limitations, resulting in less data collected than expected and an underpowered sample. As such, future research should replicate all models in the current study among a larger, more adequately powered sample of youth. It would also be pertinent for future research to examine several comparison groups that were not included in the current study in order to improve the generalizability, or specificity, of results. For example, future studies should include a comparison group of adolescent girls without overweight or obesity in order to determine whether findings may be unique to those who meet criteria for high weight, and whether the proposed mechanisms may be differentially associated among individuals without overweight and obesity. A comparison group of adolescent boys or younger, pre-pubertal children would

also be helpful in future studies for generalizability purposes, given the vast differences between boys and girls in nutritional needs across the various stages of the developmental spectrum (159).

More specifically to the primary aims of the current study, there are some concerns related to the test-retest reliability of dot-probe tasks (195; 213; 278), which was the task design utilized in the current study to capture attentional bias to social threat. Future research should reexamine the relationships between attention bias to threat and neural bottom-up and top-down attention activation patterns using alternate, optimally reliable methodologies in order to determine the underlying neurocognitive mechanism of attentional bias and how it may contribute to psychopathology. Eye-tracking techniques, which have shown convergent validity with dot-probe attention bias tasks (169), have outperformed dot-probe tasks in reliability indices (195; 278) and would be an optimal methodology for future related studies. Although the larger protocol for the current study did include eye-tracking methods, the technology was subject to excessive technical failures and as such was even further underpowered than the data included in the primary aims. Eye-tracking methodology is highly conducive to the unique advantages of MEG in terms of the temporally sensitive nature of the analyses, and would allow for continuous analysis of short-term neural activity as participants' eye gaze shifts toward or away from threatening cues.

The dot-probe attention bias task only included face cues as a social threat stimuli. However, it may provide further insights into the fear-based relationship between social anxiety and LOC eating for future research to explore relationships between attentional bias to other threat- or phobia-stimuli and food intake. It would be interesting to determine whether the amygdala, a pertinent fear-based and anxiety processing neural region, displays similar levels of hyperactivation that related to food intake in response to alternate threat stimuli. Finally, it is

possible that the laboratory buffet test meal utilized in the current study may have not accurately reflected girls' eating behaviors in the natural environment. Future research would benefit from harnessing more naturalistic eating assessment methodologies, such as ecological momentary assessment, in determining whether natural daily intake patterns differ in relation to neural facets of attention bias to social threat among youth with and without LOC eating. Examination of LOC eating behaviors in the natural environment may be particularly important given the toxic food environment (277), which could exacerbate LOC eating due to increased exposure to highly salient palatable food cues. Alternately, youths' natural *social* environments, which could be much richer in terms of highly salient social threat cues due to weight-based teasing and bullying (196; 197; 216), may provide further insights into the relationship between neural underpinnings of social anxiety and LOC eating behaviors among girls with overweight or obesity.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the current dissertation aimed to indicate whether LOC eating impacts the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural aspects of anxiety processing and subsequent eating behaviors. More specifically, the study was designed to closely examine the relationship between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activation implicated in social anxiety and subsequent energy intake at a laboratory test meal among girls with overweight, with and without LOC eating. Findings were largely non-significant and should be interpreted with caution. However, a significant exploratory relationship emerged suggesting that greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment related to a lower percentage of energy consumed from protein and greater percentage of energy consumed from carbohydrates. If these results are replicated in future hypothesis-driven, rather than exploratory, studies, these findings could indicate that a potential mechanism for maladaptive eating patterns may be

heightened activation in anxiety processing neural regions due to sustained attentional deployment toward socially threatening cues. Given the relatively limited literature on the neural underpinnings of anxiety and attention bias to social threat among youth with overweight, the largely null findings in the current study may still be informative for future studies if replicated within a larger sample. Future research is still needed for a better understanding of the neural underpinnings involved in the links between LOC eating and anxiety. Elucidating neurocognitive mechanisms to explain the link between LOC eating and anxiety could help to aid in the development of novel targets for reducing excess food intake that contributes to the development of pediatric disordered eating and obesity-related health outcomes.

Figure 1: Interpersonal Model of LOC Eating. The Interpersonal Model is a well-supported theory in the eating disorders literature that proposes LOC eating may develop as a result of maladaptive coping with negative affect that arises from psychosocial stress.



Figure 2: Model of Neural Underpinnings of Social Anxiety and LOC Eating. The current conceptual model proposes that exposure to social threat will elicit hyperactivation in anxiety processing neural regions during bottom-up attention capture, and blunted activation in affect regulation regions during top-down attention deployment; further, in line with the interpersonal model (Figure 1), youth will be driven to reduce anxiety through overeating behaviors. The presence of LOC eating is conceptualized as a moderator of these relationships to result in excess energy intake.



Note: Dotted boxes indicate constructs that were not formally tested in the current study; dotted lines with solid gray boxes indicate exploratory moderators or mediators.

Figure 3. Social Threat Visual Dot Probe Task. The Social Threat Visual Dot Probe Task includes two side by side picture pairs of angry, happy, or neutral faces projected on a computer screen. After 500ms, the face pairs disappear and a set of horizontal or vertical dots appears in one of the locations previously occupied by the faces, prompting a left or right button press response.



Figure 4. Laboratory Buffet Lunch Test Meal. Participants ate from a >10,000 kcal laboratory buffet lunch test meal consisting of a variety of macronutrients. All participants received tape recorded binge instructions before the meal to "Let yourself go and eat as much as you want".



Figure 5: Timeline of Study Procedures. Following a phone screen, individuals completed two study visits. During a screening visit they completed consent/assent procedures, a physical examination and DXA scan, a series of self-report questionnaires, and participated in semi-structured clinical interviews. If participants were determined to be eligible after the screening visit, they returned for a second laboratory visit where they completed an structural MRI scan, a series of questionnaires, a social threat task during a MEG session, and lastly a laboratory test meal.



Laboratory Visit



Figure 6. Aim 1a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and Neural Activation. Panel A = anxiety-processing regions (amygdala, insula, striatum); Panel B = affect regulating regions (anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex). Attention bias score to social threat was not significantly related to activation in areas involved in anxiety processing (ps > .56). Attention bias score to social threat was not significantly related to activation of affect regulation regions (ps > .62).

Note: The y-axis represents a ratio of relative region-of-interest (ROI) activation during attention capture vs. attention deployment; more positive numbers indicate greater activation in the ROI during the bottom-up attention capture time period, and more negative numbers indicate greater activation in the ROI during the attention deployment period.





Figure 7. Aim 1b Analysis of Covariance for Loss-of-Control Eating Presence and Attentional Bias. Compared to youth without LOC eating, youth with LOC eating did not display significantly greater attention bias score to angry social threat cues (p = .82). Similarly, youth with LOC eating did not differ in attention bias score to non-threatening happy cues compared to youth without LOC eating (p = .90).





Figure 8. Aim 2a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and Test Meal Intake. Attention bias score to social threat was not significantly related to greater total energy intake (p = .27), or to any percentage macronutrient variables (ps > .14).

Note: For percentage macronutrient variable graphs, the y-axis is arsin square root transformed for analyses.





Figure 9. Aim 2b Linear Regression Analyses for Neural Activity and Test Meal Intake. Intake in relation to neural activity in A) Amygdala; B) Insula; C) Striatum; D) Anterior Cingulate Cortex; E) Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex; F) Medial Prefrontal Cortex; G) Ventrolateral Prefrontal Cortex. Activation in areas involved in anxiety processing was not significantly related to total energy intake (ps > .30), or percentage of energy consumed from protein. Activation of affect regulation regions was not significantly related to total energy intake (ps > .12) or percentage of energy consumed from protein. Greater amygdala activation during topdown attention deployment was significantly associated with lower % energy consumed from protein (p = .01). Greater amygdala activation during top-down attention deployment was marginally significantly associated with great energy consumed from carbohydrates (p = .03).

Note: For all graphs, the x-axis represents a ratio of relative region-of-interest (ROI) activation during attention capture vs. attention deployment; more positive numbers indicate greater activation in the ROI during the bottom-up attention capture time period, and more negative numbers indicate greater activation in the ROI during the attention deployment period. For percentage macronutrient variable graphs, the y-axis is arsin square root transformed for analyses.









Β.



Greater activity during attentiondeployment

Greater activity during attentioncapture









Greater activity during attention-capture







Greater activity during attentiondeployment Greater activity during attentioncapture

Greater activity during attentiondeployment Greater activity during attentiondeployment





deployment

Greater activity during attentioncapture





E.



F.



deployment

Greater activity during attentioncapture





capture







Table 1. Binge-Eating Disorder DSM-5 Criteria

	DSM-5 Binge-Eating Disorder
1.	 Recurrent episodes of binge eating. An episode of binge eating is characterized by both of the following: a. Eating, in a discrete period of time (e.g., within any 2-hour period), an amount of food that is definitely larger than most people would eat in a similar period of time under similar circumstances b. The sense of lack of control over eating during the episode (e.g., a feeling that one cannot stop eating or control what or how much one is eating)
2.	 Binge-eating episodes are associated with three (or more) of the following: a. Eating much more rapidly than normal b. Eating until feeling uncomfortably full c. Eating large amounts of food when not feeling physically hungry d. Eating alone because of being embarrassed by how much one is eating e. Feeling disgusted with oneself, depressed, or very guilty after overeating
3.	Marked distress regarding binge eating is present
4.	The binge occurs, on average at least 1 day a week for 3 months

5. The binge eating is not associated with the regular use of inappropriate compensatory behavior (e.g., purging, fasting, excessive exercise) and does not occur exclusively during the course of anorexia nervosa or bulimia nervosa.

Table 2: Eligibility Criteria

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria
Age between 12 and 17 years	Obesity-related health comorbidity requiring medical treatment or other major illness
Female sex	Regular use of any medication known to affect body weight or eating behavior
BMI $\ge 85^{\text{th}}$ percentile for age and sex	Current pregnancy or a history of pregnancy
Right handedness	A significant reduction in weight during the past three months exceeding 5% of body weight
English-speaking	Presence of full-threshold psychiatric disorder
	Current and regular substance use
	A history of significant or recent brain injury
	Current involvement in a weight loss program
	A condition under which MEG is contradicted

Food Item	Kcal	Food Item	Item Kcal Food Item		Kcal
2% Milk	468.22	White Bread	512.57	Bananas	355.64
Water	0	Wheat Bread	631.63 Grapes		167.5
Apple Juice	425	Turkey	152.54	152.54 Carrots	
Lemonade	455.36	American Cheese	757.89	757.89 Ranch Dip	
Lettuce	7.5	Ham	221.05 BBQ Sauce		119.12
Tomato	36Vanilla Wafers210.26Orange Slices		Orange Slices	276.97	
M&M's 600 O		Oreos	580.26	Peanut Butter	675
Jelly Beans	428.57	Pretzels	535.71	Grape Jelly	300
Mustard	90	Tortilla Chips600Chicken Nuggets		629.05	
Mayonnaise	586.96	Salsa	117.19	Kaiser Rolls	529.68

Table 3. Contents Included in Laboratory Buffet Lunch Test Meal

	Total Sample	LOC +	No LOC
	(N = 55)	(N = 16)	(N = 39)
Age (years)	15.2 ± 1.7	15.6 ± 1.3	15.0 ± 1.8
Race (%)			
Non-Hispanic White	27.3	37.5	35.9
Non-Hispanic Black	47.3	62.5	43.6
Multiple Races	9.1	0.0	17.9
Ethnicity (%)			
Hispanic or Latino	9.1	0.0	14.3
Non-Hispanic or Latino	83.6	100.0	85.7
Not Reported	7.3	12.5	5.1
BMI-z	1.8 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.4	1.8 ± 0.5
Overweight (%)	40.0	43.8	38.5
Obesity (%)	60.0	56.3	61.5
Trait Anxiety	34.6 ± 6.2	33.4 ± 4.9	35.1 ± 6.6
State Anxiety	30.3 ± 4.5	31.4 ± 4.8	29.8 ± 4.3

Table 4. Participant Characteristics

Note: LOC = Loss-of-control eating; BMI-*z* = body mass index *z*-score

	Total Sample	LOC +	No LOC
	(N = 38)	(N = 14)	(<i>N</i> = 24)
Age (years)	15.4 ± 1.5	15.8 ± 1.2	15.2 ± 1.6
Race (%)			
Non-Hispanic White	35.1	42.9	37.5
Non-Hispanic Black	43.2	57.1	33.3
Multiple Races	10.8	0.0	25.0
Ethnicity (%)			
Hispanic or Latino	10.8	0.0	17.4
Non-Hispanic or Latino	89.2	100.0	82.6
BMI-z	1.7 ± 0.4	1.7 ± 0.5	1.7 ± 0.4
Overweight (%)	47.4	42.9	50.0
Obesity (%)	52.6	57.1	50.0
Trait Anxiety	33.7 ± 5.7	33.7 ± 4.5	33.7 ± 6.4
State Anxiety	30.3 ± 4.6	31.5 ± 5.0	29.6 ± 4.2

Table 5. Participant Characteristics with Usable MEG Data

Dependent Variable	Independent Variables	b	SE(b)	β	t	<i>p</i> -value
Amygdala	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.11	-0.59	0.56
	Age	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.34	0.74
	Race	0.00	0.15	-0.01	-0.03	0.98
	Height	0.00	0.01	0.03	0.14	0.89
	Fat mass	0.13	0.59	0.04	0.21	0.83
	State anxiety	0.00	0.02	-0.03	-0.17	0.87
Insula	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.30	0.77
	Age	-0.03	0.05	-0.14	-0.67	0.51
	Race	-0.22	0.14	-0.29	-1.53	0.14
	Height	0.01	0.01	0.16	0.87	0.39
	Fat mass	0.10	0.57	0.03	0.17	0.87
	State anxiety	0.00	0.02	-0.01	-0.03	0.98
Striatum	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.07	-0.40	0.69
	Age	-0.05	0.03	-0.31	-1.56	0.13
	Race	-0.12	0.08	-0.25	-1.42	0.17
	Height	0.01	0.01	0.37	2.07	0.05
	Fat mass	0.13	0.34	0.07	0.39	0.70
	State anxiety	0.00	0.01	-0.01	-0.05	0.96
ACC	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.09	-0.50	0.62
	Age	-0.02	0.06	-0.05	-0.26	0.79
	Race	0.03	0.17	0.04	0.19	0.85
	Height	0.01	0.01	0.10	0.52	0.60

Table 6. Summary of Aim 1a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and Neural Activation

	Fat mass	0.15	0.68	0.04	0.22	0.83
	State anxiety	0.03	0.02	0.26	1.42	0.17
dlPFC	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.33	0.74
	Age	-0.04	0.04	-0.21	-1.00	0.32
	Race	0.00	0.12	0.00	0.02	0.98
	Height	0.00	0.01	0.03	0.17	0.87
	Fat mass	0.31	0.48	0.13	0.65	0.52
	State anxiety	0.01	0.01	0.15	0.80	0.43
mPFC	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.08	-0.44	0.67
	Age	-0.04	0.05	-0.19	-0.89	0.38
	Race	0.04	0.13	0.05	0.28	0.79
	Height	0.01	0.01	0.13	0.69	0.50
	Fat mass	0.16	0.52	0.06	0.31	0.76
	State anxiety	0.01	0.01	0.18	0.95	0.35
vlPFC	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.03	-0.17	0.87
	Age	-0.01	0.03	-0.03	-0.16	0.88
	Race	-0.13	0.08	-0.30	-1.62	0.12
	Height	0.01	0.01	0.28	1.56	0.13
	Fat mass	-0.12	0.33	-0.07	-0.35	0.73
	State anxiety	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.64	0.53

Note: AB = attention bias; ACC = anterior cingulate cortex; dlPFC = dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; mPFC = medial prefrontal cortex; vlPFC = ventrolateral prefrontal cortex

Dependent Variable	Independent Variables	F	<i>p</i> -value	Partial eta squared
Angry AB	LOC Presence	0.05	0.82	0.00
	Age	2.86	0.10	0.09
	Race	0.08	0.78	0.00
	Height	0.17	0.68	0.01
	Fat mass	0.05	0.83	0.00
	State Anxiety	0.24	0.63	0.01
Нарру АВ	LOC Presence	0.02	0.90	0.00
	Age	0.16	0.69	0.01
	Race	0.02	0.90	0.00
	Height	0.00	0.96	0.00
	Fat mass	1.79	0.19	0.06
	State Anxiety	0.92	0.35	0.03

Table 7. Summary of Aim 1b Analysis of Covariance for Loss-of-Control Eating Presence and Attentional Bias

Note: AB = Attention bias; LOC = Loss-of-control eating

Dependent Variable	Independent Variables	b	SE(b)	β	t	<i>p</i> -value
Total energy (kcal)	AB to social threat	-2.02	1.79	-0.18	-1.13	0.27
	Age	-34.25	37.28	-0.18	-0.92	0.37
	Race	132.13	112.64	0.22	1.17	0.25
	Height	15.82	9.21	0.40	1.72	0.10
	% Fat Mass	1.84	9.52	0.04	0.19	0.85
	Lean mass	7.70	11.51	0.16	0.67	0.51
	Pubertal status	-189.35	92.70	-0.42	-2.04	0.05
% Protein	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.23	-1.28	0.21
	Age	0.00	0.01	-0.12	-0.55	0.59
	Race	-0.03	0.02	-0.38	-1.77	0.09
	Height	0.00	0.00	-0.01	-0.05	0.96
	% Fat Mass	0.00	0.00	-0.10	-0.48	0.64
	Lean mass	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.17	0.87
	Pubertal status	0.02	0.01	0.29	1.26	0.22
% Fats	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	-0.23	-1.29	0.21
	Age	-0.01	0.01	-0.23	-1.10	0.28
	Race	0.01	0.03	0.10	0.48	0.64
	Height	0.00	0.00	-0.04	-0.16	0.87
	% Fat Mass	0.00	0.00	0.11	0.54	0.59
	Lean mass	0.00	0.00	-0.13	-0.50	0.62
	Pubertal status	0.04	0.02	0.40	1.78	0.09
% Carbs	AB to social threat	0.00	0.00	0.27	1.51	0.14

Table 8. Summary of Aim 2a Linear Regression Analyses for Attention Bias to Social Threat and Test Meal Intake

Age	0.01	0.01	0.24	1.10	0.28
Race	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.26	0.80
Height	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.13	0.90
% Fat Mass	0.00	0.00	-0.05	-0.25	0.80
Lean mass	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.37	0.71
Pubertal status	-0.05	0.03	-0.42	-1.84	0.08

Note: AB = attentional bias

Dependent Variable	Neural Predictor	b	SE(b)	β	t	<i>p</i> -value
Total energy (kcal)	Amygdala	24.75	163.26	0.03	0.15	0.88
	Insula	160.83	161.19	0.18	1.00	0.33
	Striatum	241.72	226.76	0.19	1.07	0.30
	ACC	171.73	138.88	0.21	1.24	0.23
	dlPFC	165.59	205.38	0.14	0.81	0.43
	mPFC	272.88	168.95	0.27	1.62	0.12
	vlPFC	132.34	266.47	0.09	0.50	0.62
% Protein	Amygdala	0.06	0.02	0.51	2.79	0.01*
	Insula	-0.01	0.03	-0.10	-0.49	0.63
	Striatum	-0.02	0.04	-0.13	-0.62	0.54
	ACC	-0.03	0.02	-0.28	-1.47	0.15
	dlPFC	-0.03	0.03	-0.18	-0.88	0.39
	mPFC	-0.04	0.03	-0.31	-1.65	0.11
	vlPFC	-0.01	0.04	-0.02	-0.12	0.91

Table 9. Summary of Aim 2b Linear Regression Analyses for Neural Activity and Test Meal Intake
% Fats	Amygdala	0.07	0.04	0.33	1.70	0.10
	Insula	0.02	0.04	0.08	0.37	0.71
	Striatum	-0.04	0.06	-0.15	-0.76	0.45
	ACC	-0.04	0.04	-0.19	-1.02	0.32
	dlPFC	-0.05	0.05	-0.19	-0.96	0.35
	mPFC	-0.05	0.04	-0.24	-1.25	0.22
	vlPFC	0.00	0.07	-0.01	-0.05	0.96
% Carbs	Amygdala	-0.11	0.05	-0.44	-2.31	0.03†
	Insula	-0.01	0.05	-0.03	-0.12	0.90
	Striatum	0.06	0.07	0.17	0.81	0.43
	ACC	0.06	0.04	0.25	1.31	0.20
	dlPFC	0.07	0.06	0.21	1.04	0.31
	mPFC	0.08	0.05	0.30	1.56	0.13
	vlPFC	0.00	0.08	0.01	0.05	0.96

Note: ACC = anterior cingulate cortex; dlPFC = dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; mPFC = medial prefrontal cortex; vlPFC = ventrolateral prefrontal cortex

**p* < .01

 $^{\dagger}p < .05$

Dependent Variable	Independent Variables	F	<i>p</i> -value	Partial eta squared
Total energy (kcal)	LOC Presence	4.19	0.05	0.14
	AB to Social Threat	1.76	0.20	0.06
	LOC × Threat AB	0.62	0.44	0.02
	Age	2.06	0.16	0.07
	Race	0.83	0.37	0.03
	Height	2.71	0.11	0.09
	Pubertal Status	3.05	0.09	0.11
	% Fat Mass	0.13	0.73	0.01
	Lean Mass	0.27	0.61	0.01
% Protein	LOC Presence	0.81	0.38	0.03
	AB to Social Threat	1.61	0.22	0.06
	LOC × Threat AB	0.06	0.82	0.00
	Age	0.09	0.77	0.00
	Race	2.64	0.12	0.09
	Height	0.00	0.97	0.00
	Pubertal Status	0.87	0.36	0.03
	% Fat Mass	0.26	0.61	0.01
	Lean Mass	0.13	0.72	0.01
% Fats	LOC Presence	0.43	0.52	0.02
	AB to Social Threat	0.98	0.33	0.04

Table 10. Summary of Aim 3a General Linear Model Analysis for Interaction between Loss-of-Control Eating and Attention Bias to Social Threat on Energy Intake

LOC × Threat AB	2.43	0.13	0.09
Age	0.89	0.36	0.03
Race	0.46	0.50	0.02
Height	0.00	0.98	0.00
Pubertal Status	3.53	0.07	0.12
% Fat Mass	0.20	0.66	0.01
Lean Mass	0.56	0.46	0.02
LOC Presence	1.59	0.22	0.06
AB to Social Threat	1.34	0.26	0.05
LOC × Threat AB	0.76	0.39	0.03
Age	0.01	0.95	0.00
Race	0.00	0.98	0.00
Height	3.23	0.08	0.11
Pubertal Status	0.02	0.88	0.00
% Fat Mass	0.24	0.63	0.01
Lean Mass	1.59	0.22	0.06
	LOC × Threat AB Age Race Race Height Pubertal Status Vo Fat Mass Lean Mass LOC Presence AB to Social Threat LOC × Threat AB Age Race Height Pubertal Status Vo Fat Mass Lean Mass	LOC × Threat AB2.43Age0.89Race0.46Height0.00Pubertal Status3.53% Fat Mass0.20Lean Mass0.56LOC Presence1.59AB to Social Threat1.34LOC × Threat AB0.76Age0.01Race0.00Height3.23Pubertal Status0.02% Fat Mass0.24Lean Mass1.59	LOC × Threat AB 2.43 0.13 Age 0.89 0.36 Race 0.46 0.50 Height 0.00 0.98 Pubertal Status 3.53 0.07 % Fat Mass 0.20 0.66 Lean Mass 0.56 0.46 LOC Presence 1.59 0.22 AB to Social Threat 1.34 0.26 LOC × Threat AB 0.76 0.39 Age 0.01 0.95 Race 0.00 0.98 Height 3.23 0.08 Pubertal Status 0.02 0.88 % Fat Mass 0.24 0.63 Lean Mass 1.59 0.22

Note: AB = Attention bias; LOC = Loss-of-control eating

Dependent Variable	Neural Interaction Terms	F	<i>p</i> -value	Partial eta squared
Total energy (kcal)	LOC × Amygdala	0.09	0.77	0.00
	LOC × Insula	0.57	0.46	0.02
	LOC × Striatum	1.05	0.32	0.04
	$LOC \times ACC$	0.48	0.49	0.02
	$LOC \times dlPFC$	0.43	0.52	0.02
	LOC × mPFC	1.16	0.29	0.04
	$LOC \times vlPFC$	1.00	0.33	0.04
% Protein	LOC × Amygdala	2.42	0.13	0.09
	LOC × Insula	0.24	0.63	0.01
	LOC × Striatum	0.13	0.73	0.01
	$LOC \times ACC$	0.66	0.42	0.03
	$LOC \times dlPFC$	1.16	0.29	0.04
	LOC × mPFC	0.00	0.99	0.00
	$LOC \times vlPFC$	0.01	0.94	0.00
% Fats	LOC × Amygdala	1.47	0.24	0.06
	LOC × Insula	0.00	0.98	0.00
	LOC × Striatum	0.12	0.74	0.01
	$LOC \times ACC$	1.41	0.25	0.05
	$LOC \times dlPFC$	1.21	0.28	0.05
	LOC × mPFC	0.01	0.94	0.00
	$LOC \times vlPFC$	0.51	0.48	0.02
% Carbs	LOC × Amygdala	2.12	0.16	0.08
	LOC × Insula	0.03	0.86	0.00
	LOC × Striatum	0.15	0.70	0.01

Table 11. Summary of Aim 3b General Linear Model Analysis for Interaction between Loss-of-Control Eating and Neural Activity on Energy Intake

$LOC \times ACC$	1.60	0.22	0.06
$LOC \times dlPFC$	1.52	0.23	0.06
LOC × mPFC	0.01	0.92	0.00
$LOC \times vlPFC$	0.38	0.54	0.02

Note: LOC = Loss-of-control eating; ACC = anterior cingulate cortex; dlPFC = dorsolateral

 $prefrontal\ cortex;\ mPFC = medial\ prefrontal\ cortex;\ vlPFC = ventrolateral\ prefrontal\ cortex$

Independent Variable	a (SE)	b (SE)	c (SE)	c'(SE)	ab (SE)	95% CI (ab)
Amygdala	-1.30 (2.91)	-1.11 (11.37)	14.35 (162.27)	12.91 (166.24)	1.44 (48.45)	-70.32, 133.85
Insula	-2.55 (3.00)	1.08 (11.15)	203.32 (163.88)	206.07 (169.62)	-2.75 (61.20)	-166.00, 98.50
Striatum	-1.00 (4.08)	-0.55 (11.02)	266.26 (220.42)	265.71 (225.22)	0.55 (81.92)	-122.29, 222.86
ACC	2.23 (2.50)	-3.42 (11.21)	153.51 (137.32)	161.13 (142.09)	-7.62 (44.17)	-114.92, 67.91
dlPFC	0.89 (3.88)	-1.96 (10.80)	326.47 (205.34)	328.20 (209.65)	-1.74 (73.29)	-156.93, 145.53
mPFC	1.48 (3.15)	-2.98 (10.69)	297.17 (164.95)	301.57 (168.82)	-4.41 (48.27)	-117.42, 83.40
vlPFC	0.39 (4.73)	-1.25 (11.30)	97.58 (261.84)	98.06 (267.21)	-0.49 (63.42)	-88.19, 167.04

Table 12. Summary of Exploratory Aim 4 Mediation Analyses for the Mediating Role of State Anxiety between Neural Activity and Total Energy Intake

Note: SE = standard error; ACC = anterior cingulate cortex; dlPFC = dorsolateral prefrontal cortex; mPFC = medial prefrontal cortex; vlPFC = ventrolateral prefrontal cortex

APPENDIX 1: EATING DISORDER EXAMINATION (EDE)

EATING DISORDERS EXAMINATION CODING FORM

v.12 with edits from v. 14 and v. 15 DSM-5 BED and LOC Severity version Revised March 2017

Name:		Age:	
Date:		Sex:	
Interviewer: Time of Intervi	ew:		

Severity Ratings

- 0= absence of feature
- 1= feature almost, but not quite, absent
- 2=
- 3= severity midway between 0 6 4=
- 5= feature present to a degree not quite severe enough to justify a rating of a 6
- 6= feature present to an extreme degree

Frequency Ratings

0= absence of feature 1= 1-5 days 2= 6-12 days 3= 13-15 days 4= 16-22 days 5= 23-27 days 6= feature present every day

1. **PATTERN OF EATING...** (p. 7)

"I would like to ask about your pattern of eating. Over the past four weeks, which of these meals and snacks have you eaten on a regular basis?"

a. breakfast	
b. mid-morning snack	
c. lunch	
d. mid-afternoon snack	
e. evening meal	
f. evening snack	
g. nocturnal snack	

APPENDIX 2: KIDDIE SCHEDULE FOR AFFECTIVE DISORDERS AND SCHIZOPHRENIA FOR SCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN (KSADS)

MIR Study #:	_			Col	hort:			
MR#:				Inte	erval			
	-							
ŀ	K-SAD	S SUN	IMAI	RY S	HD	ЕТ		
Interviewer:								
Date: / /	_							
Disorder		C	urrent				Lifetime	
		(past	1 mon	th)	0	1	If yes	If yes
		NO	Y	s	NO	YES	age (y)?	past 6 mos?
1. Major Depression								
2. Mania								
3. Hypomania								
4. Psychosis								
5. Panic Disorder								
6. Separation Anxiety Disorder	r							
7. Avoidant Disorder/ Social P	hobia							
8. Agoraphobia/ Specific Phob	oia	\square			Ц			
9. Overanxious/ Generalized A	nxiety							
10. Obsessive Compulsive Disc	order				Ц.			
11. Anorexia Nervosa				-				
12. ADHD					\square			
13. Oppositional Defiant Disord	der			-	\square			
14. Conduct Disorder					\square			
15. Cigarette Use				-	-			
17. Substance Abuse					Η.			
17. Substance Abuse								
Psychiatric History	Cu (nast 1	month)				Lif	etime	
	0	1	0	1	1	f yes,		
	NO	YES	NO	YES	s	age (y)?	D	escribe
1						<i>w1</i> -		
1. Therapy								
2. Psychotropic Medication								

K-SADS Summary 1

APPENDIX 3: HUNGER AND FULLNESS RATING SCALES

FEELINGS QUESTIONNAIRE

Please rate the following statements according to your appetite and how you are feeling **<u>RIGHT NOW</u>**.

For each one, draw a vertical line on the scale at the spot that represents your answer.

For example: **<u>CORRECT</u>** marking: How hungry do you feel right now? (If slightly, but more than a little, hungry.)

not at	a little		very		-1
For example How hungry	e: <u>INCORR</u> y do you f	ECT_markings: eel right now?	(If slightl	y, but more	e than a little,
hungry.) r	not at all	a little	some	what very	extremely
not at	a little		very		-1
not at	a little	\bigcirc	very		-1
PLEASE PF 1. How hung	ROCEED T gry do you	O THE NEXT F I feel right now	PAGE. /?		
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ ∕
2. How full o	do you fee	I right now?			
⊢ not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ ∕

3. How muc	h food do	you think you	could ea	t right now?
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
4. I feel anxi	ous.			
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
5. I feel slee	ру.			
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
6. I feel sick				
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
7. I feel dizz	у.			
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
8. My tumm	y is rumb	ling.		
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
9. My tumm	y feels up	set.		
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely
10. My head	hurts. (I I	nave a headacl	ne.)	
not at all 11. I feel thi	a little rsty.	somewhat	very	extremely
⊢ not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely

12. How worried do you feel right now about what others think of

you? not a	t all	a little	somev	vhat very	extremely
13. How wor	ried are y	ou right now a	about wha	t others m	ight be saying about you?
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ y
14. How nerv you?	vous righ	t now about be	eing tease	d or other	people making fun of
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ y
15. How ner	vous are y	you feeling rig	ht now ab	out talking	to certain people?
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ ∕
16. How inte	nsely do	you desire (wa	ant) to eat	one or mo	re specific foods?
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ y
17. How muc	ch are you	u craving one	or more s	pecific foo	ds?
not at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ y
18. How grea	at is your	urge for one o	or more sp	ecific food	ls?
hot at all	a little	somewhat	very	extremely	⊣ y
19. How hard	d is it to s	top thinking a	bout one	or more sp	ecific foods right
now? not a	at all	a little	some	what very	extremely

SUPPLEMENT: COMMITTEE COVID MEMO



Date: November 11, 2020

To: Tracy Sbrocco, PhD Jack Yanovski, MD, PhD Andrew Waters, PhD Marian Tanofsky-Kraff, PhD

From: Meghan Byrne, M.S., Doctoral Candidate in Medical & Clinical Psychology, Uniformed Services University

Subject: Dissertation Recruitment Barriers due to COVID-19

Status of dissertation recruitment and roadblocks due to COVID-19

Due to COVID-19, recruitment for my dissertation project, "Neural Underpinnings of Anxiety in Relation to Eating Behaviors in Adolescence," which received approval from this committee on May 22, 2019, has been stalled since March 13, 2020. Recruitment was originally planned to be ongoing through 2020, however it is now uncertain whether any additional participants will be able to be accumulated due to the global pandemic-related stay-at-home and social distancing orders.

To provide an update on my enrollment to date, a total of 55 participants have completed the two required visits for my study, and 36 participants have usable MEG imaging data. For at least 80% power to detect small-to-medium effect sizes, I had originally planned for recruitment of 80 participants, and assumed 35% attrition in unusable MEG data, for a final sample of 52 participants to be included in my analyses. Thus, to date I have enrolled over two-thirds of my expected sample size, and the expected data attrition rate of 35% is in line with my currently enrolled sample. I have included an updated power analysis for each of my primary proposed Aims below:

Aim 1

To examine relationships between attention bias to social threat cues and neural activity in anxiety processing regions among youth, and differences between youth with and without LOC eating.

Hypothesis 1a: Youth with greater attention bias to social threat (i.e. shorter reaction times to angry faces than happy or neutral faces) will exhibit increased activation in "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture areas and areas involved in anxiety processing, and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues. I will use a multiple linear regression model with attention bias (i.e. angry bias or happy bias) as the IV, engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. greater activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. less activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the DV, and age, race, adiposity, height, and pretask anxiety as covariates. Depressive symptoms will be considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

 New power analysis: alpha = 0.05, power = 0.8; total sample size = 36; effect size f = 0.46 (large)



Hypothesis 1b: Youth with LOC eating will exhibit greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. greater angry bias), but not to non-threatening cues (i.e. happy bias), compared to youth without LOC eating. A one-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) will be used with LOC eating (presence/absence) as the independent variable (IV), attentional bias scores (i.e. angry bias, happy bias) as the continuous dependent variable (DV), and age, race, adiposity, height, and pre-task anxiety as covariates. Depressive symptoms will be considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

• New power analysis: alpha = 0.05, groups = 2, power = 0.8, total sample size = 55; effect size f = 0.39 (medium-to-large)

Aim 2

To examine if differences in attention bias to social threat and neural activation are related to energy intake at a laboratory meal.

Hypothesis 2a: Greater attention bias to social threat cues (i.e. greater angry bias), but not nonthreating cues (i.e. happy bias), will be associated with greater energy intake. I will use a multiple linear regression model with attentional bias scores (i.e. angry bias, happy bias) as the IV, energy intake as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms will be considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

• New power analysis: alpha = 0.05, power = 0.8; total sample size = 55; effect size f = 0.28 (medium-to-large)

Hypothesis 2b: Increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. insula, striatum, amygdala), and blunted activation of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) in response to social threat cues will be associated with greater energy intake. General linear models (GLM) with engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the IV, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates will be used. Depressive symptoms will be considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

• New power analysis: alpha = 0.05, power = 0.8; total sample size = 36; effect size f = 0.46 (large)

Exploratory Aim 3

To examine if LOC eating moderates the relationship between attention bias to social threat and neural activation of anxiety regions and differences in intake at a laboratory test meal.

Hypothesis 3a: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between attention bias to social threat (i.e. angry bias) and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, attention bias to social threat will more robustly related with energy intake. GLMs will be used with attentional bias scores as the IV, LOC eating (presence/absence) as the moderator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms will be considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

• New power analysis: alpha = 0.05, groups = 2, power = 0.8, total sample size = 55; effect size f = 0.38 (medium-to-large)



Hypothesis 3b: The presence of LOC eating will moderate the relationship between increased activation of "bottom-up" unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions, and blunted engagement of "top-down" attention deployment and affect regulation regions in response to social threat cues and energy intake, such that among youth with LOC eating, increased activation of "bottom-up" regions and blunted activation of "top-down" regions will be more robustly associated with energy intake. GLM will be conducted with engagement of unconscious attention capture and anxiety processing regions (i.e. activation in the insula, striatum, amygdala), and engagement of attention deployment and affect regulation regions (i.e. activation in the anterior cingulate cortex, dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex) as the IV, LOC eating (presence/absence) as the moderator, energy intake (kcal) as the DV, and age, race, pubertal status, height, fat mass percentage, and lean mass as covariates. Depressive symptoms will be considered as a covariate in a secondary analysis.

New power analysis: alpha = 0.05, groups = 2, power = 0.8, total sample size = 36; effect size f = 0.48 (large)

Unfortunately, all of my proposed aims will be affected by the recruitment halt. However, in light of the vast uncertainty around COVID-19, I would like to request to continue with data analysis and defense of my dissertation as planned, despite the smaller than expected sample. If approval by all members of my committee is obtained, I will plan to move forward with the data analysis and interpretation phase, and will subsequently schedule a defense date with the collected sample.

If committee members grant their approval for this proposed plan moving forward, please provide your signature and date below:



APPROVALS:



4. Additional members as required by Program and/or requested by student and advisor:

Jack A. Digitally signed by Jack A. Yanovski -S Jack Yanovski, MD, PhD Institution (if not USU): National Institute of Child Health and Human Development

Student:

Name: Meghan Byrne



REFERENCES

- Abend R, de Voogd L, Salemink E, Wiers RW, Pérez-Edgar K, et al. 2018. Association between attention bias to threat and anxiety symptoms in children and adolescents. *Depression and Anxiety* 35:229-38
- Ackard DM, Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Perry C. 2003. Overeating among adolescents: prevalence and associations with weight-related characteristics and psychological health. *Pediatrics* 111:67-74
- 3. Adam TC, Epel E. 2007. Stress, eating and the reward system. *Physiol Behav* 91:449-58
- 4. Albanoa G, Rowlands K, Baciadonnac L, Lo Cocob G, Cardia V. 2019. Interpersonal difficulties in obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis to inform a rejection sensitivity-based model. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*
- Allan N, Cooper D, Oglesby M, Short N, Saulnier K, Schmidt N. 2018. Lower-order anxiety sensitivity and intolerance of uncertainty dimensions operate as specific vulnerabilities for social anxiety and depression within a hierarchical model. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders* 53:91-9
- Allen KL, Byrne SM, Hii H, van Eekelen A, Mattes E, Foster JK. 2013. Neurocognitive functioning in adolescents with eating disorders: a population-based study. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry* 18:355-75
- American Psychiatric Association [APA]. 2013. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5®). American Psychiatric Pub
- Amir N, Beard C, Taylor CT, Klumpp H, Elias J, et al. 2009. Attention training in individuals with generalized social phobia: A randomized controlled trial. *J Consult Clin Psych* 77:961

- 9. Amir N, Najmi S, Morrison AS. 2009. Attenuation of attention bias in obsessivecompulsive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 47:153-7
- Anderson SE, Cohen P, Naumova EN, Jacques PF, Must A. 2007. Adolescent obesity and risk for subsequent major depressive disorder and anxiety disorder: prospective evidence. *Psychosom Med* 69:740-7
- 11. Anestis MD, Holm-Denoma JM, Gordon KH, Schmidt NB, Joiner TE. 2008. The role of anxiety sensitivity in eating pathology. *Cognitive Therapy and Research* 32:370-85
- Arnau R, Broman-Fulks J, Green B, Berman M. 2009. The Anxiety Sensitivity Index--Revised: confirmatory factor analyses, structural invariance in Caucasian and African American samples, and score reliability and validity. *Assessment* 16:165-80
- Aspen V, Darcy AM, Lock J. 2013. A review of attention biases in women with eating disorders. *Cognition & Emotion* 27:820-38
- Aspen V, Weisman H, Vannucci A, Nafiz N, Gredysa D, et al. 2014. Psychiatric comorbidity in women presenting across the continuum of disordered eating. *Eat Behav* 15:686-93
- Atay Z, Bereket A. 2016. Current status on obesity in childhood and adolescence:
 Prevalence, etiology, co-morbidities and management. *Obesity Medicine* 3:1-9
- Bar-Haim Y, Lamy D, Pergamin L, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Van Ijzendoorn MH.
 2007. Threat-related attentional bias in anxious and nonanxious individuals: a metaanalytic study. *Psychological Bulletin* 133:1-24
- Bardone-Cone AM, Boyd CA. 2007. Psychometric properties of eating disorder instruments in Black and White young women: Internal consistency, temporal stability, and validity. *Psychological Assessment* 19:356-62

- Beesdo-Baum K, Knappe S. 2012. Developmental epidemiology of anxiety disorders. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics* 21:457-78
- Berridge KC. 2009. 'Liking' and 'wanting' food rewards: brain substrates and roles in eating disorders. *Physiology & Behavior* 97:537-50
- 20. Berridge KC, Ho C-Y, Richard JM, DiFeliceantonio AG. 2010. The tempted brain eats: pleasure and desire circuits in obesity and eating disorders. *Brain Research* 1350:43-64
- 21. Berrington de Gonzalez A, Hartge P, Cerhan JR, Flint AJ, Hannan L, et al. 2010. Bodymass index and mortality among 1.46 million white adults. *New England Journal of Medicine* 363:2211-9
- 22. Beutel TF, Zwerenz R, Michal M. 2018. Psychosocial stress impairs health behavior in patients with mental disorders. *BMC Psychiatry* 18:375
- 23. Block JP, He Y, Zaslavsky AM, Ding L, Ayanian JZ. 2009. Psychosocial stress and change in weight among US adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 170:181-92
- 24. Bodell LP, Wildes JE, Goldschmidt AB, Lepage R, Keenan KE, et al. 2018. Associations Between Neural Reward Processing and Binge Eating Among Adolescent Girls. *Journal* of Adolescent Health 62:107-13
- 25. Boendermaker WJ, Prins PJ, Wiers RW. 2015. Cognitive Bias Modification for adolescents with substance use problems–Can serious games help? *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry* 49:13-20
- Bohon C, Stice E. 2011. Reward abnormalities among women with full and subthreshold bulimia nervosa: A functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Int J Eat Disorder* 44:585-95

- Bohon C, Stice E, Spoor S. 2009. Female emotional eaters show abnormalities in consummatory and anticipatory food reward: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Int J Eat Disorder* 42:210-21
- Boutelle KN, Kuckertz JM, Carlson J, Amir N. 2014. A pilot study evaluating a onesession attention modification training to decrease overeating in obese children. *Appetite* 76:180-5
- 29. Boutelle KN, Monreal T, Strong DR, Amir N. 2016. An open trial evaluating an attention bias modification program for overweight adults who binge eat. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry* 52:138-46
- 30. Bowlby J. 1982. Attachment and Loss. New York: Basic Books
- Bradley BP, Mogg K, Millar NH. 2000. Covert and overt orienting of attention to emotional faces in anxiety. *Cognition & Emotion* 14:789-808
- 32. Britton JC, Bar-Haim Y, Carver FW, Holroyd T, Norcross MA, et al. 2012. Isolating neural components of threat bias in pediatric anxiety. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 53:678-86
- 33. Britz B, Siegfried W, Ziegler A, Lamertz C, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, et al. 2000. Rates of psychiatric disorders in a clinical study group of adolescents with extreme obesity and in obese adolescents ascertained via a population based study. *Int J Obesity* 24:1707
- 34. Brooks SJ, O'Daly OG, Uher R, Friederich H-C, Giampietro V, et al. 2011. Differential Neural Responses to Food Images in Women with Bulimia versus Anorexia Nervosa. PLoS ONE 6:e22259
- 35. Bryant-Waugh RJ, Cooper PJ, Taylor CL, Lask BD. 1996. The use of the eating disorder examination with children: A pilot study. *Int J Eat Disorder* 19:391-7

- Burger KS, Stice E. 2011. Variability in reward responsivity and obesity: evidence from brain imaging studies. *Current Drug Abuse Review* 4:182-9
- 37. Burke NL, Shomaker LB, Brady S, Reynolds JC, Young JF, et al. 2017. Impact of age and race on outcomes of a program to prevent excess weight gain and disordered eating in adolescent girls. *Nutrients* 9:1-10
- Burke NL, Storch EA. 2015. A meta-analysis of weight status and anxiety in children and adolescents. *J Dev Behav Pediatr* 36:133-45
- 39. Byrne ME, Eichen DM, Fitzsimmons-Craft EE, Taylor CB, Wilfley DE. 2016.
 Perfectionism, emotion dysregulation, and affective disturbance in relation to clinical impairment in college-age women at high risk for or with eating disorders. *Eat Behav* 23:131-6
- Byrne ME, Eichen DM, Wilfley DE. 2017. Interpersonal Psychotherapy (IPT). In Encyclopedia of Feeding and Eating Disorders, ed. TD Wade, 9:457-63. Singapore: Springer. Number of 457-63 pp.
- 41. Byrne ME, LeMay-Russell S, Tanofsky-Kraff M. 2019. Loss-of-Control Eating and Obesity Among Children and Adolescents. *Current Obesity Reports* 8:33-42
- 42. Byrne ME, Shank LM, Altman DR, Swanson TN, Ramirez E, et al. 2020. Inhibitory control and negative affect in relation to food intake among youth. *Appetite* 156:1-8
- 43. Byrne ME, Shomaker LB, Brady SM, Kozlosky M, Yanovski JA, Tanofsky-Kraff M.
 2020. Associations between latent trait negative affect and patterns of food-intake among girls with loss-of-control eating. *Int J Eat Disorder* 53:618-24

- 44. Byrne ME, Tanofsky-Kraff M. 2018. Development of Loss of Control Eating. In *Pediatric Food Preferences and Eating Behaviors*, ed. JC Lumeng, JO Fisher:233-54. United Kingdom: Academic Press. Number of 233-54 pp.
- Byrne ME, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Jaramillo M, Shank LM, Lemay-Russell S, et al. 2019.
 Relationships of Trait Anxiety and Loss of Control Eating with Serum Leptin
 Concentrations among Youth. *Nutrients* 11:1-12
- Byrne ME, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Kelly NR, Grammer AC, Jaramillo M, et al. 2019.
 Pediatric Loss-of-Control Eating and Anxiety in Relation to Components of Metabolic
 Syndrome. J Pediatr Psychol 44:220-8
- 47. Byrne ME, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Lavender JM, Parker MN, Shank LM, et al. 2021.
 Bridging executive function and disinhibited eating among youth: A network analysis. *Int J Eat Disorder*:1-12
- 48. Cassidy OL, Matheson B, Osborn R, Vannucci A, Kozlosky M, et al. 2012. Loss of control eating in African-American and Caucasian youth. *Eat Behav* 13:174-8
- Cassidy OL, Sbrocco T, Vannucci A, Nelson B, Jackson-Bowen D, et al. 2013. Adapting interpersonal psychotherapy for the prevention of excessive weight gain in rural African American girls. *J Pediatr Psychol*:jst029
- 50. Castellanos EH, Charboneau E, Dietrich MS, Park S, Bradley BP, et al. 2009. Obese adults have visual attention bias for food cue images: evidence for altered reward system function. *Int J Obesity* 33:1063
- 51. Christie D, Watkins B, Lask B. 2000. *Anorexia nervosa and related eating disorders in childhood and adolescence*. pp 105-125. East Essex, UK: Psychology Press

- 52. Chrousos GP. 2000. The role of stress and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the pathogenesis of the metabolic syndrome: Neuro-endocrine and target tissue-related causes. *International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders* 24
- Chrousos GP. 2009. Stress and disorders of the stress system. *Nature Reviews* Endocrinology 5:374
- Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA. 2002. A developmental psychopathology perspective on adolescence. J Consult Clin Psych 70:6
- 55. Cisler JM, Koster EH. 2010. Mechanisms of attentional biases towards threat in anxiety disorders: An integrative review. *Clinical Psychology Review* 30:203-16
- Cohen J. 1988. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Hillsdale, NJ:
 Erlbaum
- 57. Corbetta M, Patel G, Shulman GL. 2008. The reorienting system of the human brain: from environment to theory of mind. *Neuron* 58:306-24
- Corbetta M, Shulman GL. 2002. Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 3:201
- 59. Cornwell BR, Carver FW, Coppola R, Johnson L, Alvarez R, Grillon C. 2008. Evoked amygdala responses to negative faces revealed by adaptive MEG beamformers. *Brain Research* 1244:103-12
- 60. Cox B, Parker J, Swinson R. 1996. Anxiety sensitivity: confirmatory evidence for a multidimensional construct. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 34:591-8
- 61. Cox RW. 1996. AFNI: software for analysis and visualization of functional magnetic resonance neuroimages. *Computers and Biomedical Research* 29:162-73

- 62. Culbert KM, Breedlove SM, Sisk CL, Burt SA, Klump KL. 2013. The emergence of sex differences in risk for disordered eating attitudes during puberty: a role for prenatal testosterone exposure. *J Abnorm Psychol* 122:420
- 63. Culbert KM, Burt SA, McGue M, Iacono WG, Klump KL. 2009. Puberty and the genetic diathesis of disordered eating attitudes and behaviors. *J Abnorm Psychol* 118:788
- 64. Czaja J, Hartmann AS, Rief W, Hilbert A. 2011. Mealtime family interactions in home environments of children with loss of control eating. *Appetite* 56:587-93
- 65. Dakanalis A, Carrà G, Calogero R, Fida R, Clerici M, et al. 2015. The developmental effects of media-ideal internalization and self-objectification processes on adolescents' negative body-feelings, dietary restraint, and binge eating. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 24:997-1010
- 66. Dale AM, Halgren E. 2001. Spatiotemporal mapping of brain activity by integration of multiple imaging modalities. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 11:202-8
- 67. Dale AM, Liu AK, Fischl BR, Buckner RL, Belliveau JW, et al. 2000. Dynamic statistical parametric mapping: combining fMRI and MEG for high-resolution imaging of cortical activity. *Neuron* 26:55-67
- Dallman MF. 2010. Stress-induced obesity and the emotional nervous system. *Trends in* Endocrinology & Metabolism 21:159-65
- Deacon B, Abramowitz J, Woods C, Tolin D. 2003. The Anxiety Sensitivity Index -Revised: psychometric properties and factor structure in two nonclinical samples. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 41:1427-49

- 70. Decaluwé V, Braet C. 2004. Assessment of eating disorder psychopathology in obese children and adolescents: interview versus self-report questionnaire. *Behaviour Research* and Therapy 42:799-811
- 71. Derryberry D, Reed MA. 2002. Anxiety-related attentional biases and their regulation by attentional control. *J Abnorm Psychol* 111:225
- 72. Dietz WH. 2017. Time to adopt new measures of severe obesity in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 140:1-2
- 73. Doyle AC, Le Grange D, Goldschmidt A, Wilfley DE. 2007. Psychosocial and physical impairment in overweight adolescents at high risk for eating disorders. *Obesity* 15:145-54
- Ebbeling CB, Pawlak DB, Ludwig DS. 2002. Childhood obesity: public-health crisis, common sense cure. *Lancet* 360:473-82
- 75. Eldar S, Apter A, Lotan D, Edgar KP, Naim R, et al. 2012. Attention Bias Modification Treatment for Pediatric Anxiety Disorders: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 169:213-30
- 76. Elks CE, Den Hoed M, Zhao JH, Sharp SJ, Wareham NJ, et al. 2012. Variability in the heritability of body mass index: a systematic review and meta-regression. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 3:29
- 77. Elliott CA, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Columbo KM, Wolkoff LE, et al. 2010. An examination of the interpersonal model of loss of control eating in children and adolescents. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 48:424-8
- 78. Ellison Z, Foong J, Howard R, Bullmore E, Williams S, Treasure J. 1998. Functional anatomy of calorie fear in anorexia nervosa. *The Lancet* 352:1192

- 79. English L, Masterson T, Fearnbach S, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Fisher J, et al. 2019. Increased brain and behavioural susceptibility to portion size in children with loss of control eating. *Pediatric Obesity* 14:1-14
- 80. Epstein LH, Robinson JL, Roemmich JN, Marusewski A. 2011. Slow rates of habituation predict greater zBMI gains over 12months in lean children. *Eat Behav* 12:214-8
- Fairburn CG, Cooper Z. 1993. The Eating Disorder Examination (12th edition). In *Binge eating: Nature, assessment, and treatment.*, ed. CG Fairburn, GT Wilson:317-60. New York, NY, US: Guilford Press. Number of 317-60 pp.
- 82. Fairweather-Schmidt AK, Wade TD. 2019. Common genetic architecture and environmental risk factors underpin the anxiety-disordered eating relationship: Findings from an adolescent twin cohort. *Int J Eat Disorder*
- Field AE, Austin S, Taylor C, Malspeis S, Rosner B, et al. 2003. Relation between dieting and weight change among preadolescents and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 112:900-6
- Field AE, Camargo CA, Ogino S. 2013. The merits of subtyping obesity: one size does not fit all. *JAMA* 310:2147-8
- 85. Field AE, Taylor CB, Celio A, Colditz GA. 2004. Comparison of self-report to interview assessment of bulimic behaviors among preadolescent and adolescent girls and boys. *Int J Eat Disorder* 35:86-92
- 86. Field M, Cox WM. 2008. Attentional bias in addictive behaviors: a review of its development, causes, and consequences. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence* 97:1-20
- 87. Finkelstein EA, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, Dietz W. 2009. Annual Medical SpendingAttributable To Obesity: Payer-And Service-Specific Estimates: Amid calls for health

reform, real cost savings are more likely to be achieved through reducing obesity and related risk factors. *Health Affairs* 28:w822-w31

- 88. Flegal KM, Kit BK, Orpana H, Graubard BI. 2013. Association of all-cause mortality with overweight and obesity using standard body mass index categories: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 309:71-82
- Flegal KM, Kruszon-Moran D, Carroll MD, Fryar CD, Ogden CL. 2016. Trends in obesity among adults in the United States, 2005 to 2014. *JAMA* 315:2284-91
- 90. Frank GK, Kaye WH. 2012. Current status of functional imaging in eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disorder* 45:723-36
- 91. Franken IH. 2003. Drug craving and addiction: integrating psychological and neuropsychopharmacological approaches. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 27:563-79
- 92. Freedman DS, Berenson GS. 2017. Tracking of BMI z scores for severe obesity.*Pediatrics* 140:e20171072
- 93. Freedman DS, Butte NF, Taveras EM, Goodman AB, Ogden CL, Blanck HM. 2017. The limitations of transforming very high body mass indexes into z-scores among 8.7 million
 2-to 4-year-old children. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 188:50-6. e1
- 94. Freedman DS, Butte NF, Taveras EM, Lundeen EA, Blanck HM, et al. 2017. BMI z-Scores are a poor indicator of adiposity among 2-to 19-year-olds with very high BMIs, NHANES 1999-2000 to 2013-2014. *Obesity* 25:739-46
- 95. Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. 2018. Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963–1965 through 2015–2016.

- 96. Furman W, Buhrmester D. 1992. Age and sex differences in perceptions of networks of personal relationships. *Child Development* 63:103-15
- 97. GBD Obesity Collaborators, Afshin A, Forouzanfar MH, Reitsma MB, Sur P, K E. 2017.
 Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. *New England Journal of Medicine* 377:13-27
- 98. Gearhardt AN, Yokum S, Orr PT, Stice E, Corbin WR, Brownell KD. 2011. Neural correlates of food addiction. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 68:808-16
- 99. Geserick M, Vogel M, Gausche R, Lipek T, Spielau U, et al. 2018. Acceleration of BMI in Early Childhood and Risk of Sustained Obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine* 379:1303-12
- 100. Glasofer DR, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Eddy KT, Yanovski SZ, Theim KR, et al. 2007. Binge eating in overweight treatment-seeking adolescents. *J Pediatr Psychol* 32:95-105
- 101. Godart NT, Flament MF, Curt F, Perdereau F, Lang F, et al. 2003. Anxiety disorders in subjects seeking treatment for eating disorders: a DSM-IV controlled study. *Psychiat Res* 117:245-58
- 102. Goldschmidt AB, Dickstein DP, MacNamara AE, Phan KL, O'Brien S, et al. 2018. A
 Pilot Study of Neural Correlates of Loss of Control Eating in Children With
 Overweight/Obesity: Probing Intermittent Access to Food as a Means of Eliciting
 Disinhibited Eating. J Pediatr Psychol 43:846-55
- 103. Goldschmidt AB, Hipwell AE, Stepp SD, McTigue KM, Keenan K. 2015. Weight gain, executive functioning, and eating behaviors among girls. *Pediatrics* 136:e856-e63

- 104. Goldschmidt AB, Jones M, Manwaring JL, Luce KH, Osborne MI, et al. 2008. The clinical significance of loss of control over eating in overweight adolescents. *Int J Eat Disorder* 41:153-8
- 105. Goldschmidt AB, Smith KE, Crosby RD, Boyd HK, Dougherty E, et al. 2018. Ecological momentary assessment of maladaptive eating in children and adolescents with overweight or obesity. *Int J Eat Disorder* 51:549-57
- 106. Goldschmidt AB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Wilfley DE. 2011. A laboratory-based study of mood and binge eating behavior in overweight children. *Eat Behav* 12:37-43
- 107. Goldschmidt AB, Wall MM, Zhang J, Loth KA, Neumark-Sztainer D. 2016. Overeating and binge eating in emerging adulthood: 10-year stability and risk factors. *Dev Psychol* 52:475-83
- 108. Goossens L, Braet C, Bosmans G, Decaluwé V. 2011. Loss of control over eating in preadolescent youth: The role of attachment and self-esteem. *Eat Behav* 12:289-95
- Goossens L, Braet C, Decaluwé V. 2007. Loss of control over eating in obese youngsters.
 Behaviour Research and Therapy 45:1-9
- Hamilton D, Dee A, Perry I. 2018. The lifetime costs of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews* 19:452-63
- 111. Hari R, Parkkonen L, Nangini C. 2010. The brain in time: insights from neuromagnetic recordings. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1191:89-109
- 112. Harrison A, Sullivan S, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. 2010. Emotional functioning in eating disorders: attentional bias, emotion recognition and emotion regulation. *Psychological Medicine* 40:1887-97

- 113. Harrison A, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. 2010. Attentional bias, emotion recognition, and emotion regulation in anorexia: state or trait? *Biological Psychiatry* 68:755-61
- 114. Hartmann AS, Czaja J, Rief W, Hilbert A. 2012. Psychosocial risk factors of loss of control eating in primary school children: A retrospective case-control study. *Int J Eat Disorder* 45:751-8
- 115. Hayes AF. 2012. PROCESS [Macro]. SPSS
- He J, Cai Z, Fan X. 2016. Prevalence of binge and loss of control eating among children and adolescents with overweight and obesity: An exploratory meta-analysis. *Int J Eat Disorder* 50:91-103
- Heerman WJ, JaKa MM, Berge JM, Trapl ES, Sommer EC, et al. 2017. The dose of behavioral interventions to prevent and treat childhood obesity: a systematic review and meta-regression. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 14:157
- Hilbert A, Hartmann AS, Czaja J, Schoebi D. 2013. Natural course of preadolescent loss of control eating. *J Abnorm Psychol* 122:684-93
- 119. Hilbert A, Rief W, Tuschen-Caffier B, de Zwaan M, Czaja J. 2009. Loss of control eating and psychological maintenance in children: An ecological momentary assessment study. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 47:26-33
- 120. Hilbert A, Tuschen-Caffier B, Czaja J. 2010. Eating behavior and familial interactions of children with loss of control eating: a laboratory test meal study. *Am J Clin Nutr* 91:510-8
- 121. Hintze J. 2011. PASS 11. Kaysville, Utah, USA: NCSS, LLC
- Holst JJ. 2007. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiological Reviews* 87:1409-39

- 123. Hruby A, Manson JE, Qi L, Malik VS, Rimm EB, et al. 2016. Determinants and consequences of obesity. *American Journal of Public Health* 106:1656-62
- Hudson JI, Hiripi E, Pope HG, Kessler RC. 2007. The prevalence and correlates of eating disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Biological Psychiatry* 61:348-58
- 125. Jarcho JM, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Nelson EE, Engel SG, Vannucci A, et al. 2015. Neural activation during anticipated peer evaluation and laboratory meal intake in overweight girls with and without loss of control eating. *NeuroImage* 108:343-53
- 126. Johnson WG, Rohan KJ, Kirk AA. 2002. Prevalence and correlates of binge eating in white and African American adolescents. *Eat Behav* 3:179-89
- 127. Kakoschke N, Kemps E, Tiggemann M. 2014. Attentional bias modification encourages healthy eating. *Eating behaviors* 15:120-4
- 128. Karam AM, Eichen DM, Fitzsimmons-Craft EE, Wilfley DE. 2019. An examination of the interpersonal model of binge eating over the course of treatment. *European Eating Disorders Review*
- 129. Kaufman J, Birmaher B, Brent D, Rao U, Flynn C, et al. 1997. Schedule for affective disorders and schizophrenia for school-age children-present and lifetime version (K-SADS-PL): initial reliability and validity data. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 36:980-8
- Kaur J. 2014. A comprehensive review on metabolic syndrome. *Cardiology research and practice* 2014

- 131. Kaye WH, Bulik CM, Thornton L, Barbarich N, Masters K, Group PFC. 2004.
 Comorbidity of anxiety disorders with anorexia and bulimia nervosa. *American Journal* of Psychiatry 161:2215-21
- Keel PK, Forney KJ. 2013. Psychosocial risk factors for eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disorder* 46:433-9
- 133. Kelly NR, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Vannucci A, Ranzenhofer LM, Altschul AM, et al. 2016. Emotion dysregulation and loss-of-control eating in children and adolescents. *Health Psychology* 35:1110-9
- 134. Kemps E, Tiggemann M, Hollitt S. 2015. Longevity of attentional bias modification effects for food cues in overweight and obese individuals. *Psychology & health*:1-28
- 135. Kemps E, Tiggemann M, Orr J, Grear J. 2014. Attentional retraining can reduce chocolate consumption. *Journal of experimental psychology. Applied* 20:94-102
- 136. Kenardy J, Arnow B, Agras WS. 1996. The aversiveness of specific emotional states associated with binge-eating in obese subjects. *Aust NZ J Psychiat* 30:839-44
- 137. Kessler RC, Berglund PA, Chiu WT, Deitz AC, Hudson JI, et al. 2013. The prevalence and correlates of binge eating disorder in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *Biological Psychiatry* 73:904-14
- Killgore WD, Yurgelun-Todd DA. 2006. Affect modulates appetite-related brain activity to images of food. *Int J Eat Disorder* 39:357-63
- 139. Klein RM. 2000. Inhibition of return. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 4:138-47
- 140. Klump KL. 2013. Puberty as a critical risk period for eating disorders: A review of human and animal studies. *Hormones and Behavior* 64:399-410

- 141. Klump KL, Culbert KM, Slane JD, Burt SA, Sisk CL, Nigg J. 2012. The effects of puberty on genetic risk for disordered eating: Evidence for a sex difference. *Psychological Medicine* 42:627-37
- Knight Z, Hannan K, Greenberg M, Friedman J. 2010. Hyperleptinemia is required for the development of leptin resistance. *PLoS One* 5:e11376
- 143. Knop C, Singer V, Uysal Y, Schaefer A, Wolters B, Reinehr T. 2015. Extremely obese children respond better than extremely obese adolescents to lifestyle interventions. *Pediatric Obesity* 10:7-14
- 144. Kobes A, Kretschmer T, Timmerman G, Schreuder P. 2018. Interventions aimed at preventing and reducing overweight/obesity among children and adolescents: a metasynthesis. *Obesity Reviews*
- 145. Kopelman PG. 2000. Obesity as a medical problem. *Nature* 404:635
- 146. Kovacs M. 1992. The Children's Depression Inventory (CDI) manual. Toronto, Canada
- 147. Kovacs M, Beck AT. 1977. An empirical-clinical approach toward a definition of childhood depression. In *Depression in Childhood: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Conceptual Models*, ed. JG Schulterbrandt, A Raskin:1-25. New York: Raven Press. Number of 1-25 pp.
- 148. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Guo SS, et al. 2000. CDC growth charts: United States. *Advance data*:1-27
- 149. Kumar S, Kelly AS. 2017. Review of Childhood Obesity: From Epidemiology, Etiology, and Comorbidities to Clinical Assessment and Treatment. *Mayo Clin Proc* 92:251-65

- 150. Lavender JM, Wonderlich SA, Engel SG, Gordon KH, Kaye WH, Mitchell JE. 2015.
 Dimensions of emotion dysregulation in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa: A conceptual review of the empirical literature. *Clinical Psychology Review* 40:111-22
- 151. Le Grange D, Lock J, Loeb K, Nicholls D. 2010. Academy for eating disorders position paper: The role of the family in eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disorder* 43:1-5
- Lee M, Shafran R. 2004. Information processing biases in eating disorders. *Clinical Psychology Review* 24:215-38
- Lim CS, Espil FM, Viana AG, Janicke DM. 2015. Associations Between Anxiety
 Symptoms and Child and Family Factors in Pediatric Obesity. *J Dev Behav Pediatr* 36:664-72
- 154. Lingswiler V, Crowther J, Stephens M. 1987. Emotional reactivity and eating in binge eating and obesity. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 10:287-99
- 155. Loeber S, Grosshans M, Korucuoglu O, Vollmert C, Vollstädt-Klein S, et al. 2012. Impairment of inhibitory control in response to food-associated cues and attentional bias of obese participants and normal-weight controls. *Int J Obesity* 36:1334
- Lonigan CJ, Vasey MW. 2009. Negative Affectivity, Effortful Control, and Attention to Threat-Relevant Stimuli. J Abnorm Child Psych 37:387-99
- 157. Luan D, Mezuk B, Bauer K. 2018. Remission of obesity among a nationally representative sample of US children. *Pediatric Obesity*
- 158. Lupien SJ, McEwen BS, Gunnar MR, Heim C. 2009. Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 10:434
- MacGuire S. 2011. Dietary Guidelines for Americans, 2010. ed. USDo Agriculture,
 USDoHaH Services. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office

- 160. MacLeod C, Rutherford E, Campbell L, Ebsworthy G, Holker L. 2002. Selective attention and emotional vulnerability: assessing the causal basis of their association through the experimental manipulation of attentional bias. *J Abnorm Psychol* 111:107
- 161. Marhe R, Waters AJ, van de Wetering BJ, Franken IH. 2013. Implicit and explicit drugrelated cognitions during detoxification treatment are associated with drug relapse: an ecological momentary assessment study. *J Consult Clin Psych* 81:1
- 162. Matthews G, Campbell SE, Falconer S, Joyner LA, Huggins J, et al. 2002. Fundamental dimensions of subjective state in performance settings: Task engagement, distress, and worry. *Emotion* 2:315-40
- 163. McNally RJ. 2002. Anxiety sensitivity and panic disorder. *Biological Psychiatry* 52:938-46
- 164. Meyer A. 1958. Psychobiology. A Science of Man. Springfield, Illinois
- 165. Micali N, Solmi F, Horton NJ, Crosby RD, Eddy KT, et al. 2015. Adolescent eating disorders predict psychiatric, high-risk behaviors and weight outcomes in young adulthood. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry* 54:652-9.
 e1
- 166. Miller R, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Field SE, Hannallah L, et al. 2014. Serum leptin and loss of control eating in children and adolescents. *Int J Obesity* 38:397-403
- 167. Min J, Chiu DT, Wang Y. 2013. Variation in the heritability of body mass index based on diverse twin studies: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews* 14:871-82
- Mirch MC, McDuffie JR, Yanovski SZ, Schollnberger M, Tanofsky-Kraff M, et al. 2006.
 Effects of binge eating on satiation, satiety, and energy intake of overweight children. *Am J Clin Nutr* 84:732-8

- 169. Mogg K, Garner M, Bradley BP. 2007. Anxiety and orienting of gaze to angry and fearful faces. *Biol Psychol* 76:163-9
- 170. Monk CS, McClure EB, Nelson EE, Zarahn E, Bilder RM, et al. 2003. Adolescent immaturity in attention-related brain engagement to emotional facial expressions. *NeuroImage* 20:420-8
- 171. Monk CS, Nelson EE, McClure EB, Mogg K, Bradley BP, et al. 2006. Ventrolateral prefrontal cortex activation and attentional bias in response to angry faces in adolescents with generalized anxiety disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 163:1091-7
- 172. Monk CS, Telzer EH, Mogg K, Bradley BP, Mai X, et al. 2008. Amygdala and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex activation to masked angry faces in children and adolescents with generalized anxiety disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 65:568-76
- 173. Morgan CM, Yanovski SZ, Nguyen TT, McDuffie J, Sebring NG, et al. 2002. Loss of control over eating, adiposity, and psychopathology in overweight children. *Int J Eat Disorder* 31:430-41
- 174. Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Haines J, Story M, Eisenberg ME. 2007. Why does dieting predict weight gain in adolescents? Findings from project EAT-II: a 5-year longitudinal study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 107:448-55
- 175. Nijs IM, Muris P, Euser AS, Franken IH. 2010. Differences in attention to food and food intake between overweight/obese and normal-weight females under conditions of hunger and satiety. *Appetite* 54:243-54
- Nijs IMT, Franken IHA. 2012. Attentional Processing of Food Cues in Overweight and Obese Individuals. *Current Obesity Reports* 1:106-13

- 177. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Lawman HG, Freyar CD, Kruszon-Moran D, et al. 2016. Trends in obesity prevalence among children and adolescents in the United States, 1988-1994 through 2013-2014. *JAMA* 315:2292-9
- Ogden CL, Flegal KM. 2010. Changes in terminology for childhood overweight and obesity. *National Health Status Report* 12:1-5
- 179. Ogden CL, Fryar CD, Martin CB, Freedman DS, Carroll MD, et al. 2020. Trends in obesity prevalence by race and hispanic origin—1999-2000 to 2017-2018. *JAMA* 324:1208-10
- 180. Ostrovsky NW, Swencionis C, Wylie-Rosett J, Isasi CR. 2013. Social anxiety and disordered overeating: an association among overweight and obese individuals. *Eat Behav* 14:145-8
- 181. Paddon-Jones D, Westman E, Mattes RD, Wolfe RR, Astrup A, Westerterp-Plantenga M.
 2008. Protein, weight management, and satiety. *Am J Clin Nutr* 87
- Pallister E, Waller G. 2008. Anxiety in the eating disorders: understanding the overlap. *Clinical Psychology Review* 28:366-86
- Palmer MK, Toth PP. 2019. Trends in Lipids, Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, and
 Diabetes Mellitus in the United States: An NHANES Analysis (2003-2004 to 2013-2014). *Obesity* 27:309-14
- 184. Papay JP, Hedl Jr JJ. 1978. Psychometric characteristics and norms for disadvantaged third and fourth grade children on the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children. J Abnorm Child Psych 6:115-20
- 185. Pearson CM, Miller J, Ackard DM, Loth KA, Wall MM, et al. 2017. Stability and change in patterns of eating disorder symptoms from adolescence to young adulthood. *Int J Eat Disorder* 50:748-57
- Pelchat ML, Johnson A, Chan R, Valdez J, Ragland JD. 2004. Images of desire: foodcraving activation during fMRI. *Neuroimage* 23:1486-93
- 187. Pergamin-Hight L, Pine DS, Fox NA, Bar-Haim Y. 2016. Attention bias modification for youth with social anxiety disorder. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 57:1317-25
- 188. Perlman WR, Webster MJ, Herman MM, Kleinman JE, Weickert CS. 2007. Age-related differences in glucocorticoid receptor mRNA levels in the human brain. *Neurobiology of Aging* 28:447-58
- 189. Pinaquy S, Chabrol H, Simon C, Louvet JP, Barbe P. 2003. Emotional eating,alexithymia, and binge-eating disorder in obese women. *Obesity Research* 11:195-201
- 190. Pine DS. 2007. Research review: a neuroscience framework for pediatric anxiety disorders. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 48:631-48
- 191. Porte DJ, Woods S. 1981. Regulation of food intake and body weight by insulin.*Diabetologia* 20:274-80
- 192. Posner MI, Petersen SE. 1990. The attention system of the human brain. *Annual Review* of Neuroscience 13:25-42
- 193. Pratt CA, Stevens J, Daniels S. 2008. Childhood obesity prevention and treatment:
 recommendations for future research. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 35:249-52

- 194. Prefit A-B, Cândea DM, Szentagotai-Tătar A. 2019. Emotion regulation across eating pathology: A meta-analysis. *Appetite*:104438
- 195. Price RB, Kuckertz JM, Siegle GJ, Ladouceur CD, Silk JS, et al. 2015. Empirical recommendations for improving the stability of the dot-probe task in clinical research. *Psychological Assessment* 27:365-76
- 196. Puhl RM, Luedicke J, Heuer C. 2011. Weight-based victimization toward overweight adolescents: observations and reactions of peers. *Journal of School Health* 81:696-703
- 197. Puhl RM, Peterson JL, Luedicke J. 2013. Weight-based victimization: Bullying experiences of weight loss treatment-seeking youth. *Pediatrics* 131:e1-e9
- 198. Radin RM, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Kelly NR, Pickworth CK, et al. 2015.
 Metabolic characteristics of youth with loss of control eating. *Eat Behav* 19:86-9
- 199. Ranzenhofer LM, Columbo KM, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Cassidy O, et al.
 2012. Binge eating and weight-related quality of life in obese adolescents. *Nutrients* 4:167-80
- 200. Ranzenhofer LM, Engel SG, Crosby RD, Anderson M, Vannucci A, et al. 2014. Using ecological momentary assessment to examine interpersonal and affective predictors of loss of control eating in adolescent girls. *Int J Eat Disorder* 47:748-57
- 201. Ranzenhofer LM, Hannallah L, Field SE, Shomaker LB, Stephens M, et al. 2013. Premeal affective state and laboratory test meal intake in adolescent girls with loss of control eating. *Appetite* 68:30-7
- 202. Reiss S, Peterson R, Gursky D, RJ M. 1986. Anxiety sensitivity, anxiety frequency and the prediction of fearfulness. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 24:1-8

- 203. Rhee KE, Kessl S, Manzano MA, Strong DR, Boutelle KN. 2019. Cluster randomized control trial promoting child self-regulation around energy-dense food. *Appetite* 133:156-65
- 204. Rich BA, Carver FW, Holroyd T, Rosen HR, Mendoza JK, et al. 2011. Different neural pathways to negative affect in youth with pediatric bipolar disorder and severe mood dysregulation. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 45:1283-94
- 205. Rich BA, Holroyd T, Carver FW, Onelio LM, Mendoza JK, et al. 2010. A preliminary study of the neural mechanisms of frustration in pediatric bipolar disorder using magnetoencephalography. *Depression and Anxiety* 27:276-86
- 206. Robinson TE, Berridge KC. 1993. The neural basis of drug craving: an incentivesensitization theory of addiction. *Brain Research Reviews* 18:247-91
- 207. Rofey DL, Kolko RP, Iosif A-M, Silk JS, Bost JE, et al. 2009. A longitudinal study of childhood depression and anxiety in relation to weight gain. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development* 40:517-26
- 208. Rothemund Y, Preuschhof C, Bohner G, Bauknecht H-C, Klingebiel R, et al. 2007.
 Differential activation of the dorsal striatum by high-calorie visual food stimuli in obese individuals. *Neuroimage* 37:410-21
- 209. Rudolph KD. 2002. Gender differences in emotional responses to interpersonal stress during adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 30:3-13
- Schag K, Teufel M, Junne F, Preissl H, Hautzinger M, et al. 2013. Impulsivity in Binge
 Eating Disorder: Food Cues Elicit Increased Reward Responses and Disinhibition. *PLoS* ONE 8:e76542

- 211. Schlüter N, Schmidt R, Kittel R, Tetzlaff A, Hilbert A. 2015. Loss of control eating in adolescents from the community. *Int J Eat Disorder* 49:413-20
- 212. Schmidt R, Lüthold P, Kittel R, Tetzlaff A, Hilbert A. 2016. Visual attentional bias for food in adolescents with binge-eating disorder. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 80:22-9
- 213. Schmukle SC. 2005. Unreliability of the dot probe task. *European Journal of Personality* 19:595-605
- 214. Schoeller DA, Buchholz AC. 2005. Energetics of obesity and weight control: does diet composition matter? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 105:24-8
- 215. Schrempft S, van Jaarsveld CH, Fisher A, Herle M, Smith AD, et al. 2018. Variation in the heritability of child body mass index by obesogenic home environment. *JAMA Pediatr* 172:1153-60
- 216. Schvey NA, Marwitz SE, Mi SJ, Galescu OA, Broadney MM, et al. 2019. Weight-based teasing is associated with gain in BMI and fat mass among children and adolescents atrisk for obesity: a longitudinal study. *Pediatric Obesity* 14:e12538
- 217. Seeger G, Braus DF, Ruf M, Goldberger U, Schmidt MH. 2002. Body image distortion reveals amygdala activation in patients with anorexia nervosa–a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neuroscience Letters* 326:25-8
- 218. Shank LM, Crosby RD, Grammer AC, Shomaker LB, Vannucci A, et al. 2017.
 Examination of the Interpersonal Model of Loss of Control Eating in the Laboratory.
 Compr Psychiat 76:36-44
- 219. Shank LM, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Nelson EE, Shomaker LB, Ranzenhofer LM, et al. 2015.Attentional bias to food cues in youth with loss of control eating. *Appetite* 87:68-75

- 220. Shaw H, Ramirez L, Trost A, Randall P, Stice E. 2004. Body image and eating disturbances across ethnic groups: More similarities than differences. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors* 18:12-8
- 221. Shearrer GE, Stice E, Burger KS. 2018. Adolescents at high risk of obesity show greater striatal response to increased sugar content in milkshakes. *Am J Clin Nutr* 107:859-66
- 222. Shechner T, Britton JC, Pérez-Edgar K, Bar-Haim Y, Ernst M, et al. 2012. Attention biases, anxiety, and development: toward or away from threats or rewards? *Depression and Anxiety* 29:282-94
- Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Elliott C, Wolkoff LE, Columbo KM, et al. 2010.
 Salience of loss of control for pediatric binge episodes: does size really matter? *Int J Eat Disorder* 43:707-16
- Shomaker LB, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski JA. 2011. Disinhibited eating and body weight in youth. In *Handbook of Behavior, Food and Nutrition*:2183-200. New York, NY: Springer. Number of 2183-200 pp.
- 225. Siegle GJ, Price RB, Jones NP, Ghinassi F, Painter T, Thase ME. 2014. You gotta work at it: Pupillary indices of task focus are prognostic for response to a neurocognitive intervention for rumination in depression. *Clinical Psychological Science* 2:455-71
- 226. Simmonds M, Llewellyn A, Owen C, Woolacott N. 2016. Predicting adult obesity from childhood obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews* 17:95-107
- 227. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JW, Van Mechelen W, Chinapaw MJ. 2008. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. *Obesity Reviews* 9:474-88

- 228. Sloan E, Hall K, Moulding R, Bryce S, Mildred H, Staiger PK. 2017. Emotion regulation as a transdiagnostic treatment construct across anxiety, depression, substance, eating and borderline personality disorders: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*
- 229. Sonneville KR, Calzo JP, Horton NJ, Haines J, Austin SB, Field AE. 2012. Body satisfaction, weight gain and binge eating among overweight adolescent girls. *Int J Obesity* 36:944-9
- 230. Sonneville KR, Horton NJ, Micali N, Crosby RD, Swanson SA, et al. 2013. Longitudinal associations between binge eating and overeating and adverse outcomes among adolescents and young adults: does loss of control matter? JAMA Pediatr 167:149-55
- 231. Sopher AB, Thornton JC, Wang J, Pierson RN, Heymsfield SB, Horlick M. 2004.
 Measurement of percentage of body fat in 411 children and adolescents: a comparison of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry with a four-compartment model. *Pediatrics* 113:1285-90
- 232. Spielberger CD. 1973. Manual for the State-trait Anxiety Inventory for Children. PaloAlto: Consulting Psychologists Press
- 233. Stein RI, Kenardy J, Wiseman CV, Dounchis JZ, Arnow BA, Wilfley DE. 2007. What's driving the binge in binge eating disorder?: A prospective examination of precursors and consequences. *Int J Eat Disord* 40:195-203
- 234. Steinberg E, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Cohen ML, Elberg J, Freedman RJ, et al. 2004.
 Comparison of the child and parent forms of the Questionnaire on Eating and Weight
 Patterns in the assessment of children's eating-disordered behaviors. *Int J Eat Disorder* 36:183-94

- 235. Stice E, Marti CN, Rohde P. 2013. Prevalence, incidence, impairment, and course of the proposed DSM-5 eating disorder diagnoses in an 8-year prospective community study of young women. J Abnorm Psychol 122:445
- 236. Stice E, Spoor S, Bohon C, Small D. 2008. Relation between obesity and blunted striatal response to food is moderated by TaqIA A1 allele. *Science* 322:449-52
- 237. Stice E, Spoor S, Bohon C, Veldhuizen MG, Small DM. 2008. Relation of reward from food intake and anticipated food intake to obesity: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *J Abnorm Psychol* 117:924
- 238. Stice E, Spoor S, Ng J, Zald DH. 2009. Relation of obesity to consummatory and anticipatory food reward. *Physiology & Behavior* 97:551-60
- 239. Stice E, Yokum S. 2016. Neural vulnerability factors that increase risk for future weight gain. *Psychological Bulletin* 142:447-71
- Stoeckel LE, Weller RE, Cook III EW, Twieg DB, Knowlton RC, Cox JE. 2008.
 Widespread reward-system activation in obese women in response to pictures of highcalorie foods. *Neuroimage* 41:636-47
- 241. Stojek M, Shank LM, Vannucci A, Bongiorno DM, Nelson EE, et al. 2018. A systematic review of attentional biases in disorders involving binge eating. *Appetite* 123:367-89
- 242. Stojek M, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Kelly NR, Thompson KA, et al. 2017. Associations of adolescent emotional and loss of control eating with 1-year changes in disordered eating, weight, and adiposity. *Int J Eat Disorder* 50:551-60
- 243. Stroud LR, Salovey P, Epel ES. 2002. Sex differences in stress responses: social rejection versus achievement stress. *Biological Psychiatry* 52:318-27

- 244. Sullivan HS. 1953. *The Interpersonal Theory of Psychiatry*. pp 3-385. Great Britain: Tavistock Publication Limited
- 245. Swanson SA, Horton NJ, Crosby RD, Micali N, Sonneville KR, et al. 2014. A latent class analysis to empirically describe eating disorders through developmental stages. *Int J Eat Disorder* 47:762-72
- 246. Swinbourne JM, Touyz SW. 2007. The co-morbidity of eating disorders and anxiety disorders: A review. *European Eating Disorders Review* 15:253-74
- 247. Tanofsky-Kraff M. 2008. Binge eating among children and adolescents. In *Handbook of childhood and adolescent obesity*, ed. E Jelalian, R Steele:43-59. New York: Springer. Number of 43-59 pp.
- 248. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Cohen ML, Yanovski SZ, Cox C, Theim KR, et al. 2006. A prospective study of psychological predictors of body fat gain among children at high risk for adult obesity. *Pediatrics* 117:1203-9
- 249. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Faden D, Yanovski SZ, Wilfley DE, Yanovski JA. 2005. The perceived onset of dieting and loss of control eating behaviors in overweight children. *Int J Eat Disorder* 38:112-22
- 250. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Goossens L, Eddy KT, Ringham R, Goldschmidt A, et al. 2007. A multisite investigation of binge eating behaviors in children and adolescents. *J Consult Clin Psych* 75:901-13
- 251. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Marcus MD, Yanovski SZ, Yanovski JA. 2008. Loss of control eating disorder in children age 12 years and younger: proposed research criteria. *Eat Behav* 9:360-5

- 252. Tanofsky-Kraff M, McDuffie JR, Yanovski SZ, Kozlosky M, Schvey NA, et al. 2009.
 Laboratory assessment of the food intake of children and adolescents with loss of control eating. *Am J Clin Nutr* 89:738-45
- 253. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Morgan CM, Yanovski SZ, Marmarosh C, Wilfley DE, Yanovski JA.
 2003. Comparison of assessments of children's eating-disordered behaviors by interview and questionnaire. *Int J Eat Disorder* 33:213-24
- 254. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Olsen C, Roza CA, Wolkoff LE, et al. 2011. A prospective study of pediatric loss of control eating and psychological outcomes. J Abnorm Psychol 120:108-18
- 255. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Stern EA, Miller R, Sebring N, et al. 2012. Children's binge eating and development of metabolic syndrome. *Int J Obesity* 36:956-62
- 256. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Wilfley DE, Young JF, Sbrocco T, et al. 2017. Excess weight gain prevention in adolescents: Three-year outcome following a randomized controlled trial. *J Consult Clin Psych* 85:218-27
- 257. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Shomaker LB, Wilfley DE, Young JF, Sbrocco T, et al. 2014.
 Targeted prevention of excess weight gain and eating disorders in high-risk adolescent girls: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr* 100:1010-8
- Tanofsky-Kraff M, Wilfley DE, Young JF, Mufson L, Yanovski SZ, et al. 2007.
 Preventing excessive weight gain in adolescents: interpersonal psychotherapy for binge eating. *Obesity* 15:1345-55
- 259. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Wilfley DE, Young JF, Mufson L, Yanovski SZ, et al. 2010. A pilot study of interpersonal psychotherapy for preventing excess weight gain in adolescent girls at-risk for obesity. *Int J Eat Disorder* 43:701-6

- 260. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski SZ, Schvey NA, Olsen CH, Gustafson J, Yanovski JA.
 2009. A prospective study of loss of control eating for body weight gain in children at high risk for adult obesity. *Int J Eat Disorder* 42:26-30
- 261. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski SZ, Wilfley DE, Marmarosh C, Morgan CM, Yanovski JA.
 2004. Eating-disordered behaviors, body fat, and psychopathology in overweight and normal-weight children. *J Consult Clin Psych* 72:53-61
- 262. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski SZ, Yanovski JA. 2005. Comparison of child interview and parent reports of children's eating disordered behaviors. *Eat Behav* 6:95-9
- 263. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Yanovski SZ, Yanovski JA. 2011. Loss of control over eating in children and adolescents. In *Developing an evidence-based classification of eating disorders: Scientific findings for DSM-5*, ed. R. H. Striegel-Moore, S. A. Wonderlich, B. T. Walsh, J. E. Mitchell:221-36. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Press. Number of 221-36 pp.
- 264. Tanofsky-Kraff M, Engel S, Yanovski JA, Pine DS, Nelson EE. 2013. Pediatric disinhibited eating: toward a research domain criteria framework. *Int J Eat Disorder* 46:451-5
- 265. Tetzlaff A, Hilbert A. 2014. The role of the family in childhood and adolescent binge eating. A systematic review. *Appetite* 76:208
- 266. Theilade S, Christensen MB, Vilsbøll T, Knop FK. 2021. An overview of obesity mechanisms in humans: Endocrine regulation of food intake, eating behaviour and common determinants of body weight. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 23:17-35

- 267. Theim KR, Tanofsky-Kraff M, Salaita CG, Haynos AF, Mirch MC, et al. 2007.
 Children's descriptions of the foods consumed during loss of control eating episodes. *Eat Behav* 8:258-65
- 268. Thoits PA. 2010. Stress and health: Major findings and policy implications. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 51:S41-S53
- 269. Touchette E, Henegar A, Godart NT, Pryor L, Falissard B, et al. 2011. Subclinical eating disorders and their comorbidity with mood and anxiety disorders in adolescent girls. *Psychiat Res* 185:185-92
- 270. Trace SE, Baker JH, Peñas-Lledó E, Bulik CM. 2013. The genetics of eating disorders. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology 9:589-620
- 271. Trogdon JG, Finkelstein EA, Feagan CW, Cohen JW. 2012. State-and payer-specific estimates of annual medical expenditures attributable to obesity. *Obesity* 20:214-20
- 272. van der Heijden L, Feskens E, Janse A. 2018. Maintenance interventions for overweight or obesity in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews* 19:798-809
- 273. Van Malderen E, Goossens L, Verbeken S, Kemps E. 2018. Unravelling the association between inhibitory control and loss of control over eating among adolescents. *Appetite* 125:401-9
- 274. Vannucci A, Nelson EE, Bongiorno DM, Pine DS, Yanovski JA, Tanofsky-Kraff M.
 2015. Behavioral and neurodevelopmental precursors to binge-type eating disorders:
 support for the role of negative valence systems. *Psychological Medicine* 45:2921-36

- 275. Volkow ND, Wang G-J, Telang F, Fowler JS, Thanos PK, et al. 2008. Low dopamine striatal D2 receptors are associated with prefrontal metabolism in obese subjects: possible contributing factors. *Neuroimage* 42:1537-43
- 276. Vrba J, Robinson SE. 2001. Signal processing in magnetoencephalography. *Methods* 25:249-71
- 277. Wadden TA, Brownell KD, Foster GD. 2002. Obesity: responding to the global epidemic. *J Consult Clin Psych* 70:510
- 278. Waechter S, Nelson AL, Wright C, Hyatt A, Oakman J. 2014. Measuring attentional bias to threat: Reliability of dot probe and eye movement indices. *Cognitive Therapy and Research* 38:313-33
- Walsh BT, Boudreau G. 2003. Laboratory studies of binge eating disorder. *Int J Eat Disorder* 34:S30-S8
- 280. Wang G-J, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, et al. 2001. Brain dopamine and obesity. *The Lancet* 357:354-7
- 281. Wardle J, Carnell S, Haworth CM, Plomin R. 2008. Evidence for a strong genetic influence on childhood adiposity despite the force of the obesogenic environment. Am J Clin Nutr 87:398-404
- 282. Waters AJ, Marhe R, Franken IHA. 2012. Attentional bias to drug cues is elevated before and during temptations to use heroin and cocaine. 219:909-21
- 283. Weinbach N, Sher H, Bohon C. 2018. Differences in Emotion Regulation Difficulties Across Types of Eating Disorders During Adolescence. J Abnorm Child Psych 46:1351-8
- 284. Weisz JR, Hawley KM. 2002. Developmental factors in the treatment on adolescents. J Consult Clin Psych 70:21

- 285. Werthmann J, Field M, Roefs A, Nederkoorn C, Jansen A. 2014. Attention bias for chocolate increases chocolate consumption--an attention bias modification study. *Journal of behavior therapy and experimental psychiatry* 45:136-43
- 286. Werthmann J, Roefs A, Nederkoorn C, Mogg K, Bradley BP, Jansen A. 2011. Can (not) take my eyes off it: attention bias for food in overweight participants. *Health Psychology* 30:561
- 287. Westerterp-Plantenga MS. 2003. The significance of protein in food intake and body weight regulation. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care* 6:635-8
- 288. Whitaker RC, Wright JA, Pepe MS, Seidel KD, Dietz WH. 1997. Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine* 337:869-73
- 289. Wierenga CE, Ely A, Bischoff-Grethe A, Bailer UF, Simmons AN, Kaye WH. 2014. Are extremes of consumption in eating disorders related to an altered balance between reward and inhibition? *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience* 8:1-11
- 290. Wilfley D, Frank M, Welch R, Spurrell E, Rounsaville B. 1998. Adapting interpersonal psychotherapy to a group format (IPT-G) for binge eating disorder: Toward a model for adapting empirically supported treatments. *Psychotherapy Research* 8:379-91
- 291. Wilson GT, Wilfley DE, Agras WS, Bryson SW. 2010. Psychological treatments of binge eating disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 67:94-101
- 292. Wolfe BE, Baker CW, Smith AT, Kelly-Weeder S. 2009. Validity and utility of the current definition of binge eating. *Int J Eat Disorder* 42:674-86
- 293. Wright C, Marryat L, McColl J, Harjunmaa U, Cole T. 2018. Pathways into and out of overweight and obesity from infancy to mid-childhood. *Pediatric Obesity*

- 294. Wu T, Gao X, Chen M, Van Dam R. 2009. Long-term effectiveness of diet-plus-exercise interventions vs. diet-only interventions for weight loss: a meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews* 10:313-23
- 295. Zhu H, Luo X, Cai T, He J, Lu Y, Wu S. 2016. Life event stress and binge eating among adolescents: the roles of early maladaptive schemas and impulsivity. *Stress and Health* 32:395-401
- Zimmet P, Alberti KGM, Kaufman F, Tajima N, Silink M, et al. 2007. The metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents–an IDF consensus report. *Pediatric Diabetes* 8:299-306